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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For transition period from to
Commission File Number 001-33622
VMWARE, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)
Delaware 94-3292913
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)
3401 Hillview Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94304
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(650) 427-5000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) d¢he Act:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Class A Common Stock, par value $0.01 New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) ¢iie Act:
None

Indicate by a check mark if the registrant is alvkebwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 4@BeoSecurities Act.  YedX] No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®ecl5(d) of the Act.  YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Sesti8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4.88ring the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that thesteamt was required to file such reports), anchg®) been subject to such filing requirements fergast 90 days. Ye&l

No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hisstted electronically and posted on its corpok&&b site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to be submitted ar
posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (B of this chapter) during the preceding 12 msifth for such shorter period that the registraas wequired to submit and
post such files). YesX] No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilerrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K ig oontained herein, and will not be contained hio lbest of registrant’s
knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statents incorporated by reference in Part Il of fhism 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-KI

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting compa&@se the definitions of
“large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” ateialler reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of thecBange Act.

Large accelerated filerx]
Accelerated filer O

Non-accelerated filerd (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)
Smaller reporting companyd

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgfe Act). YesO No

At June 30, 2011 , the aggregate market valueeofehistrant’s Class A common stock held by noiiiatiés of the registrant (based upon the closadg price of such shares
on the New York Stock Exchange on June 30, 2014s) approximately $6,952,611,111 . Shares of thistragt’s Class A common stock and Class B comntocksheld by each
executive officer and director and by each entitperson, other than investment companies, thaheaegistrant’s knowledge, owned 5% or more efrégistrant’s outstanding
Class A common stock as of June 30, 2011 have é&ednded in that such persons may be deemed téfil@es of the registrant. This determinationaffiliate status is not
necessarily a conclusive determination for otheppses.

As of February 17, 2012 , the number of share®ofroon stock, par value $0.01 per share, of thesnegit outstanding was 425,092,454, of which 125484 shares were
Class A common stock and 300,000,000 were ClassnBron stock.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Information required in response to Part 11l of /ot0-K (Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14) is hereby iipomated by reference to portions of the registsaPtoxy Statement for
the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held id20The Proxy Statement will be filed by the regist with the Securities and Exchange Commissiotates than 120 days
after the end of the registrant’s fiscal year enBedember 31, 2011 .
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardKimg statements, including, without limitationatgments regarding: the potential
role of our products in cloud computing and othefts in computing infrastructures and their poiaiibenefits to customers; expectations that
businesses will seek to operate their informatémihology (“IT”) systems in a cloud-like mannerpegtations of, and our plans for, achieving
future business growth and adding new channel eastifuture product offerings; plans for future @isgions; our view of the competitive
landscape and our plans for maintaining our ledndeysosition, funding expansion of our industry memt share and developing long-term
relationships with our customers; our expectationmanage prudently our resources while makingikegstments in support of long-term
growth objectives; our anticipation that we willtrdeclare any cash dividends; the availability wfable facilities for our future operations; «
plans and expectations for meeting product devedmtrobjectives and introducing new products; oueneie outlook and mix; our plans for
growing our business by broadening our productfplast customer demand for our products; trendsriterprise license agreement (“ELA”)
size and renewals and IT spending in general; gtiojes of, and expectations for, stock-based comsgugon expense; the delivery of
professional services to our customers; the sefiicy of our liquidity and capital reserves to fund operations and business strategy;
continuation of our stock repurchase program; facédfecting our tax position; our intention to @fichitely reinvest our non-U.S. earnings in
our foreign operations and our plans not to reptgrihem to fund our U.S. operations; expectationan increase in our 2012 tax rate;
expectations that we will continue to be included&MC Corporation's consolidated group for tax jggs; expectations that the amount of
cash received related to tax refunds will declm@012; expectations for capital spending on imprognts to our expanded Palo Alto campus;
expectations that software development costs irdwsubsequent to achievement of technologicalbgiagiwill be immaterial and software
development costs will generally be expensed agiiad, and that the subsequent amortization of sapftalized costs will decline; our
expectations with respect to interoperability amongfuture product offerings and for the incregsilevelopment of product suites and
solutions; expectations regarding the impact of aeaounting standards and our belief that the wisal of pending claims and legal
proceedings will not have a material adverse effeats.

These forward-looking statements involve risks andertainties and the cautionary statements sttt &nove and those contained in the
section of this report entitled “Risk Factors” idi§nimportant factors that could cause actual itssio differ materially from those predicted in
any such forward-looking statements. We assumebtigation to, and do not currently intend to, updtitese forward-looking statements.
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

VMware, Inc. is the leader in virtualization andtualization-based cloud infrastructure solutiotiBaed by businesses to help them
transform the way they build, deliver and consunfermation technology ("IT") resources in a mantiat is evolutionary and based on their
specific needs. Our virtualization solutions refla@ioneering approach to computing that sepaggipbcation software from the underlying
hardware to achieve significant improvements iicafhcy, agility, availability, flexibility and maageability. Our broad and proven suite of
virtualization solutions addresses a range of cempl problems that include cost and operationefficiencies, facilitating access to cloud
computing capacity, business continuity, softwifezycle management and corporate end-user congpdémice management. The benefits to
our customers include substantially lower IT costst-effective high availability across a widegarof applications and a more automated and
resilient systems infrastructure capable of respandynamically to variable business demands. @stamers' deployments range in size from
a single virtualized server for small businessahtaisands of virtual machines for our Fortune 1&0@rprise customers. Our solutions enable
organizations to aggregate multiple servers, swinafgastructure and networks together into sharals of capacity that can be allocated
dynamically, securely and reliably to applicati@ssneeded, increasing hardware utilization anddiedwspending. Once created, these internal
computing infrastructures, or “clouds,” can be dyizally linked by our customers to external compgtresources from third-party cloud
computing providers that run on a common VMwaréualization platform. This results in a “hybrid” mguting cloud of highly available
internal and external computing resources thatrorgéions can access on demand. In the twelve gi@ze we introduced our first
virtualization platform, we have expanded our piicafferings to address distributed and heteroges@drastructure challenges such as
planned and unplanned downtime management, systeswearability and reliability, backup and recovagsource provisioning and
management, capacity and performance managemeeandty.

We believe that as businesses look to operatelfhsystems in a more cloud-like manner, they sélek to spend less time and effort on
underlying infrastructure and devote more focusransforming their businesses. Our strategy ofatiafrastructure, application platform
capabilities for new and renewed applications, @diht management capabilities for the post-PQpenaides customers an extended suite of
software to address the integration, automatiomagament, and development capabilities they needs@utions are based upon our core
virtualization technology and are organized inteémain product groups:

¢ Cloud Infrastructure and Managem
« Cloud Application Platform; ar
» EndUser Computing

We work closely with more than 2,100 technologytiparrs, including leading server, microprocessaragfe, networking, software and
security vendors. We have shared the economic apgties surrounding virtualization with our panedy facilitating solution development
through open application programming interface ((#JPformats and protocols and providing accessupsource code and technology. The
endorsement and support of our partners furtheareees the awareness, reputation and adoption afitualization solutions.

We have developed a multi-channel distribution nhéglexpand our presence and reach various segrogtits market. We derive a
significant majority of our revenues from our laigdirect sales channel, which includes distribsitoesellers, system vendors and systems
integrators. We believe that our partners benediaitly from the sale of our solutions through addil services, software and hardware sales
opportunities. We have trained a large number dahpas and end users to deploy and leverage outicos.

We incorporated in Delaware in 1998, were acquine@&MC Corporation (“EMC”"Jn 2004 and conducted our initial public offeringour
Class A common stock in August 2007. EMC holds apipnately 80% of our outstanding common stock,udaitg 38 million shares of our
Class A common stock and all of our Class B comstonk, and we are considered a “controlled compamger the rules of the New York
Stock Exchange. Total revenues in 2011 increaseat8263,767.1 million . This included license rewes of $1,841.2 million and services
revenues of $1,925.9 million . In the years endeddinber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 , our licensentmgecame primarily from sales of our
Cloud Infrastructure and Management solutions. Bddance of our license revenues came from our aibiations, Cloud Application Platfor
and End-User Computing. Of our total services reresrin 2011 , 85% were software maintenance rewesue 15%were professional servic
revenues, including training. For additional finexhénformation on our business by product and gaphic area, see Note P to the consolid
financial statements included elsewhere in thisdil Our corporate headquarters are located at Blldiew Avenue, Palo Alto, California ar
we have 101 offices worldwide.
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Background

Virtualization was first introduced in the 1970setioable multiple business applications to sharefahdharness the centralized comput
capacity of mainframe systems. Virtualization wHeaively abandoned during the 1980s and 1990swdlient-server applications and
inexpensive x86 servers and personal computerblisstad the model of distributed computing. Ratihen sharing resources centrally in the
mainframe model, organizations used the low cosligifibuted systems to build up islands of compytapacity, providing some benefits but
also introducing new challenges. These challenggdade a gross underutilization of hardware resesjran inability to easily assure quality of
service to applications and unwieldy managementgeses made cumbersome by the tight coupling dicagipns to the underlying hardware.

Today, x86 hardware is becoming increasingly prefitwith multi-core processors, growing memoryaidfy and higher speed
interconnects shipping in standard servers. Theptmxity of applications continues to rise as melément, mixed operating system (“OS”)
applications become increasingly common, which reakdifficult to provide a uniform quality of seépe across all components. Virtualization
has become accepted as a standard way of computitaga centers that enables highly efficient zdilion of hardware.

VMware's infrastructure virtualization platform, \ilvhre vSphere, not only decouples the entire soévearironment from its underlying
hardware infrastructure, but also enables the aggien of multiple servers, storage infrastructuaed networks into shared pools of resources
that can be delivered dynamically, securely anidlof to applications as needed. This approachlesalyganizations to build a computing
infrastructure with high levels of utilization, aksbility, automation and flexibility using buildinblocks of inexpensive industry-standard
servers.

In addition, VMware vSphere is able to deliver &g to applications running inside virtual mackine an OS and application-agnostic
manner. This increases operational efficiency,esthese services are built-in and easily enabledi aiso allows mixed-element, multi-OS
applications to get standard service levels detigday the infrastructure, broadening customer depémt choices.

In effect, VMware's virtualization platform convefT infrastructure into a “computing cloud.” Apgditions running in virtual machines
can move across servers, storage and networkswhitligruption or downtime to dynamically match cartipg supply and demand while built-
in services ensure high levels of availability, .s#g and scalability.

To best leverage this cloud computing infrastrustMware’'s Cloud Management solutions are desigmsinplify and automate
management of dynamic cloud infrastructure. Ouragament solutions help customers reduce operatistg by increasing the efficiency and
availability of infrastructure resources, accel@gipplication development, managing applicatierfgrmance service levels and streamlining
IT processes. VMware's Cloud Management solutioe®ptimized for vSphere environments and enaldéoauers to expand virtualization to
critical applications and deploy cloud infrastruetu

Products and Technology

Cloud Infrastructure and Management Products and dienology

VMware vSphere is our flagship data center platfddsers deploy the VMware vSphere hypervisor wiey purchase VMware vSphe
A “hypervisor” is a layer of software that residestween the operating system and system hardwamatdle virtualization. Other components
of our various VMware vSphere offerings include kaypabilities such as:

« vSphere vMotion and Storage vMotionenables the live migration of actively running uat machines across servers or storage
locations without disruption or downtime.

« vSphere High Availability enables coseffective high availability for all applications aigst hardware and operating system faill
« vSphere Storage DR%utomatically manages the placement and balandiagiotual machine across storage resou
» vSphere vNetwork Distributed Switchenables centralized point of control for cludtarel networking

The VMware Cloud Infrastructure Suite ("CIS") catsiof five technologies optimized for the VMwai®phere platform. The CIS
technologies allow organizations to build intellige, automation and security into their virtuatastructures while enabling sedérvice acce:
to IT resources. The CIS-enabled virtual infradtices facilitates creation of secure private clotigg allow customers to deploy business-
critical applications, rapidly allocate IT resousand services, and access external cloud competioyirces more securely. The VMware CIS
of products includes the following:

* VMware vCenter Server provides the central management and control poimg$phere environmen

* VMware vCloud Director enables self-service access to logical pools ofpede) network and storage resources with policyealri
controls and service-level agreements.
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* VMware vCenter Site Recovery Managemprovides simplified, automated disaster recoverywfdualized environment
* VMware vCenter Operations provides performance, capacity and configurationag&@ment for virtual or physical infrastruct

« VMware vShield provides security for applications and the perimefevirtual datacenters, end-user computing anddatl
environments.

Our VMware vCloud Service Provider initiative, whics directed to hosting and cloud computing veadenables organizations to cho
more freely between running applications in virtoelchines on their own “private clouds” inside thdgta center or on “public clouds” hosted
by a service provider. With a common VMware vSplmatform available across the public and privd¢eids, internal and external IT
resources can be pooled into a hybrid cloud, aptigtions and data can be readily moved betweeitvtb based on economics and
organizational need. External cloud capacity candmessed on-demand without the need to customizeamge applications.

Cloud Application Platform

VMware Cloud Application Platform solutions helmanizations build, run and manage enterprise agipdics in public, private or hybrid
clouds optimized for vSphere. Our Cloud ApplicatRlatform provides open source application framéwoapplication run-time and data
management solutions and an open platform as &seor PaaS. Our solutions are designed to inerdageloper agility in responding to
business needs while maintaining application pditabWe seek to enhance the value of our prodacis services through the creation and
promotion of developer communities and vendor esesys.

Our SpringSource product group develops and supploet Spring application framework for enterprigealapplications and the Grails
framework for high productivity web applicationsitien in the Groovy programming language. Bothhefse frameworks are open source
software.

Our VMware Cloud Application Platform runtime andtd products enable developers to deploy and ma@ggieations and databases in
traditional server environments as well as on alined infrastructure based on vSphere. These ptsduclude:

« VMware vFabric tcServer provides an enterprise Tomcat application se

* VMware vFabric GemFire enables reafime data distribution, caching and managemenhigin performance and cloud applicatic
* VMware vFabric Data Director enables greatly simplified management and operatialatabases on vSphe

VMware offers bundled licensing for many of theseducts through the vFabric Standard and Advanicedding options.

The Cloud Application Platform also includes the@l Foundry project, which is designed as an om&&Ro allow application
developers to rapidly deploy, scale and manageapelcations. VMware makes the core technologyChmud Foundry available as an open
source project.

End-User Computing

Enterprises are increasingly challenged to pros@&ire access to a growing mobile workforce whieaging the diversity of data,
applications and devices to run their business. \éké&¢ End-User Computing solutions are designetiable a user-centric approach to
personal computing that ensures secure accesgplioans and data from a variety of devices awtions. Our End-User Computing
solutions are also designed to address the needsdrate IT departments by managing and conrgeetid-user assets delivering them as a
managed service.

We also offer End-User Computing solutions thatw/jfe the ability to manage software as a servi€adS"), Windows, Mobile or
enterprise applications. Additional VMware offeringre designed to enhance seamless communicaticcoflaboration between end users.

VMware's End-User Computing strategy addressesdbes of corporate IT by enabling IT organizatiindeliver an environment with
high-quality service, improved availability and kdde performance while leveraging both legacy elodd architectures. Key VMware End-
User Computing solutions include:

* VMware View, an enterprise desktop virtualization platform dasidjto optimize application and desktop managemuettenable
flexibility for end users. In 2011, VMware releaséilware View 5.0, which significantly enhanced us&perience by optimizing wit
area network ("WAN") performance while supportingfied communications, persona management and {tligtit support.

3
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VMware ThinApp, an application virtualization solution designedatwelerate application deployment and simplify egagpion
migration.

VMware Zimbra, an enterpriselass, calendar and collaboration platform basethempopular Zimbra open source proj
VMware Workstation, a solution that enables multiple operating systemrain at the same time on a single endpoint de

VMware Fusion, a solution for Apple users to seamlessly run Winslawd Windows applications on an Intel procegsavered Appl
OS X Macintosh computer.

We are also building a suite of cloud-based Sag8capions to augment our end-user computing affgsi These include Zimbra;
SlideRocket, an on line presentation platform; 8leeist, an enterprise collaboration platform; andWare Horizon, a SaaS application
manager. VMware also operates EMC's Mozy busireeskud-based online backup service.

Support and Services

We believe that a strong services organizationfeeglient customer touch points are critical tolg#hing loyal customers and to help
promote our technology across various industries.Have implemented a broad services strategyekhatdges the professional services
organizations of our partners. We have also estaddi our own services offerings to complement auiners' services offerings and to ensure
customer satisfaction, drive additional sales awtnpte renewals and upgrades. Our services offefimgude customized solutions and onsite
support that enable us and our channel parthgnotade a positive overall customer experience.

We have established our global customer suppodnizgtion to align with and support our expandingtemer base.

VMware Global Support Services.We offer a suite of support packages backed bysimgteading expertise. We offer four support
and subscription programs that allow customersatogpset amount over an annual or multi-year b8sisic, Production, Business
Critical and Mission Critical. Basic Support inceslVMware technical support along with access togi& updates, bug fixes and
enhancements to our products. Production Suppddsbon Basic Support and includes more aggressisonse targets and ongoing
support for high severity issues. Business Crit®gbport and Mission Critical Support provide custos personalized technical
support delivered by a team of experts familiahveitcustomer's specific system configuration, pagport experience and business
needs. Of our customers who purchase support, #jerity purchase Production Support. We sell andketsour support and service
agreements through the same network of channeigrarthat sell our products. We utilize a thirdtpaendor to sell renewals directly
to end-user customers and to complement our chaantrlers' efforts by providing quotation and sal@sport to our channel partners.

Our core support and subscription offerings provige phone support and access to an online prdchmtvledge database and various
other social media resources for help with troutibeging and operational questions. Our support segravide first response and manage the
resolution of customer issues. In addition, we hathorized certain systems vendors and indepeséevice providers to provide support for
our products on our behalf.

We also offer a range of professional services undeVMware Professional Services offering, whicbludes:

VMware Consulting Services.VMware Certified Professionals (“VCPs") and VMwaCertified Design Experts (“VCDXs") provide
on-site VMware product design, implementation armhagement assistance throughout the virtualizatitmption lifecycle to
accelerate the implementation of our virtualizatmtutions and cloud adoption lifecycles. VCPs ®¥@DXs conduct initial
assessments, workshops and prepare detailed imptiatios project plans. Once customers are readyKbware standardization
across their enterprise, VCPs and VCDXs help irtiegyMware products into their enterprise systents@ocesses. VCPs and
VCDXs include VMware employees, partners and custsnwho have completed training and have succésgiassed our VCP or
VCDX exams.

VMware Education Services.We have an extensive portfolio of instructor-led Whte courses that provide extensive hands-on labs,
case study examples and course materials. Custameksn teams of two on servers located offsitmgs variety of remote access
technologies. Customers can enroll in these coulisestly through VMware or though Value Added Tiag Partners as well as
having the courses delivered on-site. Additionalliylware Education Services has a broad library-lgfagning modules and
certifications.

VMware Technical Account Manager (“TAM”). TAM service provides our customers with a dedicAtdtivare expert, who enables
customers to accelerate standardization of VMwaoeyrcts by assessing their unique environment,giredy recommending solutio
and identifying unforeseen circumstances that naase delays in deployment.

4




Table of Contents

Technology Alliances

Consistent with our partner-centric strategy, weeh@ngaged a broad group of hardware, softwareland computing service vendors to
cooperatively advance virtualization technologyttgh joint marketing, product interoperability, ledloration and co-development. We create
opportunity for partners by enabling them to byitdducts that utilize our virtualization technologiyd create differentiated value through j¢
solutions.

We have more than 2,100 technology partners witbnwvtve bring joint offerings to the marketplace amore than 6,800 Service Provider
partners. We classify our partners as follows:

» Independent Hardware Vendors (“IHVs"). We have established strong relationships with lagggem vendors, including Cisco, D
Fujitsu, Fujitsu-Siemens, HP, IBM, Lenovo and NEC jbint certification and co-development. We algark closely with AMD, Intel
and other IHVs to provide input on product develeptrto enable them to deliver hardware advancentleatbenefit virtualization
users. We coordinate with the leading storage atatarking vendors to ensure joint interoperabidityd enable our software to access
their differentiated functionality.

* Independent Software Vendors (“ISVs”).We partner with leading systems management, imfresstre software and application
software vendors - including the top healthcadectam, finance and retail market leaders, to deMetue-added products that integrate
with our VMware products.

* VMware Service Providers.We have established partnerships with over 6,880cgeproviders including Bluelock, Colt, Sing Tel,
Terremark,Verizon and AT&T to enable them to hosd deliver enterprise-class hybrid clouds as a feagnterprises to extend their
datacenters to external clouds, while preserviegriy, compliance and quality of service.

The VMware Technology Alliance Partner program litates joint solution creation and coordinatedtgewnarket activities with our
partners. Over 3,500 of the most widely used appbtas from ISVs support the VMware vSphere plaitfor hese applications include busir
solutions for enterprise resource planning, hunegource management, electronic medical recordsgeament, financial processing and
middleware such as application servers and databAsean extension to this rapidly growing list, hgve expanded our VMware Ready
program to allow application software and desktolption providers to qualify for the VMware Readgb. The VMware Ready Desktop
Solutions program validates the reference architecnd desktop specialization of solution provddeat simplify VMware virtual desktop
environments.

Our ISVs and other alliance partners, developedsaaiditional VMware community members have distéldumore than 1,900 software
applications as virtual appliances. We invest sigaunt capital in testing and certification of iaftructure to rigorously ensure our software
works well with major hardware and software produi¥e have more than 7,700 servers, storage, ldQham-client devices that are VMware
Ready. We have successfully tested approximatedydpérating system versions for use with our sohgi We believe that the scale and scope
of this effort is a significant competitive advagea

Research and Development

We have made, and expect to continue to make fisigni investments in research and development PR&We have assembled an
experienced group of developers with system lesyetems management, desktop, mobile devices, se@pplication development,
collaborative applications and open source softeapertise. We also have strong ties to leadingexic institutions around the world, and
we invest in joint research with academia.

We prioritize our product development efforts ttghwa combination of engineering-driven innovatiod austomer and market-driven
feedback. Our R&D culture places high value on iraimn, quality and open collaboration with ourtpars. We currently participate in
numerous standards groups, and VMware employedsahadriety of standards organization leadershgitipns, including with the Distribute
Management Task Force, the Standard Performandadiican Corporation, the InterNational Committee licformation Technology Standai
("INCITS"), the Storage Networking Industry Assdaa and the OSGi Alliance.

Our R&D expenditures, including amounts capitalizetaled $861.5 million , $724.6 million and $5B8@nillion in 2011 , 2010 and 2009 ,
respectively.

Sales and Marketing

We sell and market our products largely througletavork of channel partners, which includes distigios, resellers, system vendors and
systems integrators, with over 85% of our saleX0ibl derived from this network. The remainder imgrily derived from direct sales.

We have established ongoing business relationsVithsour distributors. Our distributors purchasé&ware licenses and software support
from us for resale to end-user customers via rersell

A substantial majority of our resellers obtain aafte licenses and software support from our distats and market and
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sell them to our end-user customers. These reseaterpart of our VMware Partner Network (“VPN")hieh offers these resellers sales and
product training, pricing incentives, rebates aockas to the worldwide network of VMware distritnstand the VMware Partner Central Web
portal.

We offer several levels of membership in our VP)eataling on a reseller's interest and capabilityro¥iding demand generation,
fulfillment, service delivery and education to ausers and prospects. We also have certain reselleigell as systems integrators, who obtain
software licenses and software support directlyjnfkdMware. The VPN agreements signed by the resetlarry no obligation to purchase or
sell VMware products and can be terminated at Bng by either party.

We have a direct sales force that complements loamrel partners' efforts. Our sales force works wiir channel partners to introduce
them to end-user customer accounts and new sgbestapities.

In addition, our channel partner network includegain systems integrators and resellers trainddcartified to deliver consulting servic
and solutions leveraging VMware products.

We generally do not have long-term contracts orimmirm purchase commitments with our distributorseliers, system vendors and
systems integrators, and our contracts with thbaarel partners do not prohibit them from offenomgducts or services that compete with
ours.

We primarily sell our software under perpetualtises, and our sales contracts generally requireiseidcustomers to purchase
maintenance for the first year. Maintenance pertggdially range from one to five years. Softwaraimtenance and renewals are sold both
directly to enduser customers and via our network of channel pestThe majority of professional services are s@dur channel, with son
professional services sold directly. End usersat#ain licenses to our products through individiiatrete purchases to meet their immediate
needs or through the adoption of enterprise licagseements (“ELAS”). ELAs are comprehensive volditense offerings that provide for
multi-year maintenance and support at discounte@grELAs enable us to build long-term relatiopshaith our customers as they commit to
VMware's virtual infrastructure solutions in theta centers. Our sales cycle with end-user cussraages from less than 90 days to over a
year depending on several factors, including the ahd complexity of the customer's infrastruct

The competitive landscape in which we operate ohetunot only other software virtualization venddms, also traditional hardware
solutions. In establishing prices for our produets,take into account, among other factors, theevalir products and solutions deliver and the
cost of both alternative virtualization and hardevaolutions.

Our marketing efforts focus on communicating thedfiés of our solutions and educating our custorrdisdributors, resellers, system
vendors, systems integrators, the media and asaiysiut the advantages of our innovative virtuibratechnology.

We raise awareness of our company and brands, haskeroducts, and generate sales leads througwaf®and industry events, public
relations efforts, marketing materials, advertisidigect marketing, social media initiatives, fib@vnloads and our website. We have invested
in multiple online communities that enable custosreand partners to share and discuss sales andgmagit resources, best practices
implementation, and industry trends among otheiceour annual user conference, VMworld, whiche&d in both the U.S. and Europe, has
grown in attendance each year. We also offer managepresentations, seminars, and webinars onrodupts of virtualization and cloud
computing. We believe a combination of these effettengthens our brand and enhances our leadifghpmsition in our industry.

Our business is subject to seasonality in theafad@ir products and services. For example, ourtfoguarter revenues are affected by a
number of seasonal factors, including fiscal yeat-gpending trends. Such factors historically hawvsributed to stronger fourth quarter
revenues in any given year. We believe that sea$actars are common within our industry.

Customers

Our customer deployments range in size from a singtualized server for small businesses to thodsaf virtual machines for our larg
enterprise customers. In periodic third-party sysveommissioned by us, our customers indicate sagisfaction rates with our products and
many have indicated a strong preference for repa@hases.

During 2011 , three distributors, who purchasedivsake licenses and software support from us fales® end-user customers directly or
via resellers, each accounted for over 10% of canfdwide revenues. Arrow Electronics, Inc., Techtd@orporation and Ingram Micro, Inc.
accounted for 15% , 11% and 10% , respectivelpuofworldwide revenues in 2011 . Our distributigmesements are typically terminable at
will by either party upon 30 to 90 days' prior weit notice to the other party, and neither partydray obligation to purchase or sell any
products under the agreement. No other channeigraaccounted for more than 10% of our revenu@9id .

Competition

The cloud computing, end-user computing and viizatibn markets are inter-related and rapidly evmv\We
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experienced increased competition during 2011 apdd it to significantly intensify in the futuré/e compete with large and small vendors in
different segments of the cloud computing, end-asenputing and virtualization markets, and explkeat hew entrants will continue to enter
the market and develop technologies that, if consrakzed, may compete with our products.

We believe the key competitive factors in the cleochputing, end-user computing and virtualizaticerkets include:
« the level of reliability, interoperability and newnctionality of product offering
« the ability to provide comprehensive solutions)uding management capabiliti

+ the ability to offer products that support mpiki hardware platforms, operating systems, apjdieatand application development
frameworks;

+ the ability to deliver an intuitive end-user exignce for accessing data, applications and sfiom a wide variety of end-user
devices;

e aproven track record of formulating and deliverengbadmap of compelling software and service céipasb;
 pricing of products, individually and in bundl

« the ability to attract and preserve a large insthbase of custome

< the ability to attract and maintain a large numiifesipplication developers for a given cloud ecosye

« the ability to create and maintain partneringanunities with hardware vendors, infrastructwégare vendors and cloud service
providers;

+ the ability to develop robust indirect sales chasynanc
« the ability to attract and retain cloud, virtuatioa and systems experts as key emplo

The cloud computing market is in a high state ox fivith both established and new technology comgsawying for thought leadership a
market share. Currently, Amazon EC2, Microsoft Azand emerging open source efforts present alteesab VMware's hybrid cloud
computing vision.

Microsoft is also our primary competitor for datnter virtualization solutions. In 2011 , Microsoftntinued to release incremental
improvements to its Hyper-V virtualization offeriegd System Center suite of virtualization managegmeoducts and is expected to release
another major version of Hyper-V in 2012. Microsofifferings are positioned to compete with outuél infrastructure, virtualization
management and some of our free data center proéfecings.

We also compete with Citrix and its collaboratievith Microsoft for end-user computing solutions amith companies whose
virtualization products are based on emerging gquence technologies. In addition, we compete watimganies that take different approaches
to virtualization. Furthermore, our VMware vSphstétes compete with products that provide highlabdity clustering, workload
management and resource management.

We also expect to compete with new entrants taliied computing, end-user computing and virtuaiaramarkets, which may include
parties currently selling our products and/or aunrent technology partners. Existing and future petitors may introduce products in the st
markets we serve or intend to serve, and competioducts may have better performance, lower prizeter functionality and broader
acceptance than our products. Our competitors nsayaald features to their cloud computing, end-userputing and virtualization products
that are similar to features that presently diffiéigete our product offerings from theirs. Additidigasome of our competitors may make
acquisitions or enter into partnerships or othextsgic relationships with one another to offer emcomprehensive solutions than those they
individually had offered. Some competitors havéhia past, and may in the future, take advantagieedf existing relationships with our
business partners to engage in business practichsas distribution and license restrictions thakenour products less attractive to our cha
partners and end users.

Information technology companies are also incredgiseeking to deliver top-to-bottom IT solutiommsend users that combine enterprise-
level hardware and software solutions that carr @lternatives to our cloud computing, end-user poting and virtualization platform. In
addition, competitors who have existing relatiopshwith our current or prospective end users courate competitive capabilities into their
existing products and make them available withalgiittonal charge. Many of our current and potert@hpetitors have longer operating
histories, greater name recognition, a larger enstdase and significantly greater financial, téchinsales and marketing and other resources
than we do.

Overall however, we believe our market positiongéavirtualization customer base, strong networgartners and indirect sales, broad
innovative solutions suite, and platform-agnosgipraach position us to compete effectively.
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Intellectual Property

As of December 31, 201, Imore than 150 patents issued by the United SRdtent and Trademark Office have been grantedsigrzed tc
us. We also have been granted or assigned patentother countries. These patents cover variopsas of our server virtualization and of
technologies. The granted United States patentexpire beginning in 2017, with the last paterpieing in 2030. We also have numerous
pending United States provisional and non-provisigratent applications, and numerous pending faraigl international patent applications,
that cover other aspects of our virtualization atiter technologies.

We have federal trademark registrations in the é¢htates for “VMWARE,” “VMWORLD,” “VMWARE FUSION,"“VMWARE
VSPHERE,” “VMWARE VCLOUD,” “SPRINGSOURCE,” “HYPERIC “VMOTION,” “ZIMBRA,” “GEMSTONE" and numerous otfer
trademarks. We have also registered trademarksiiméer of foreign countries.

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, cigby and trade secret laws in the United Statesather jurisdictions, as well as
confidentiality procedures and contractual provisito protect our intellectual property rights and brand.

We enforce our intellectual property rights in theited States and a number of foreign countriespide our efforts, the steps we have
taken to protect our proprietary rights may noadequate to preclude misappropriation of our patary information or infringement of our
intellectual property rights, and our ability tolige such misappropriation or infringement is unaier, particularly in countries outside of the
United States. United States patent filings arendéed to provide the holder with a right to exclotlgers from making, using, offering to sell,
selling or importing into the United States producbvered by the claims of granted patents.

Our granted United States patents, and any futatengs (to the extent they are issued), may beested, circumvented or invalidated in
the future. Moreover, the rights granted underiaayed patents may not provide us with propriepaogection or competitive advantages, and
we may not be able to prevent third parties frofringing these patents. Therefore, the exact efiécur patents and the other steps we have
taken to protect our intellectual property canmn@pbedicted with certainty.

Employees

As of December 31, 201,we had over 11,000 employees in offices worldwiegs than 5% of which were contracted through EM@ne
of our employees are represented by labor uniotkye consider current employee relations to belgoo

We contract with EMC to utilize personnel who aeglidated to work for VMware on a full-time basif©ieBe individuals are located in
countries in which we do not currently have an apeg subsidiary and are predominantly dedicatemlitcsales and marketing efforts. We use
contractors from time to time for temporary assignis and in locations in which we do not currehtlye operating subsidiaries. In the event
that these contractor resources were not availal@elo not believe that this would have a matexitderse effect on our operations.

Available Information

Our website is located attp://www.vmware.conand our investor relations website is locatedtd://ir.vmware.com Our goal is to
maintain the Investor Relations website as a pthitalugh which investors can easily find or nawiget pertinent information about us, all of
which is made available free of charge, including:

< our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly repam Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, andamendments to those reports, as
soon as reasonably practicable after we electriyiiiie that material with or furnish it to the Berities and Exchange Commission
(“SECH);

» announcements and webcasts of investor confesespeeches and events at which our executikealialt our products, services and
competitive strategies. Archives of these evergsadgo available for a limited time;

» additional information on financial metrics, inding reconciliations of non-GAAP financial meassidiscussed in our presentations to
the nearest comparable GAAP measure;

* press releases on quarterly earnings, producteméts announcements, legal developments and atierral news

» corporate governance information including centificate of incorporation, bylaws, corporate gmance guidelines, board committee
charters, business conduct guidelines (which ctesi our code of business conduct and ethicsptred governance-related policies;

« other news, blogs and announcements that we mayrpostime to time that investors might find udedu interesting; an
« opportunities to sign up for email alerts and R&&IE to have information pushed in real t

The information found on our website is not partasfd is not incorporated by reference into, thiary other report we
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file with, or furnish to, the SEC.

Unless the context requires otherwise, we areniafeto VMware, Inc. when we use the terms “VMwatae “Company,” “we,” “our” or

us.”

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risk factors that appear below could materiaffect our business, financial condition and ressaf operations. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the onlysreskd uncertainties facing us. Our business issalbfect to general risks and uncertainties
affect many other companies.

Risks Related to Our Business

As the market for our computer virtualization prodts has matured, we have been increasingly develgpind marketing products an
services targeted toward the delivery, managemertt automation of information technology‘IT”) infrastructure, platforms and services
through cloud-based solutions. If businesses do fintl our cloud computing solutions compelling, ouevenue growth and operating
margins may decline.

Our products and services are based on computaehiation and related technologies that have arilmbeen used for virtualizing on-
premises data centers. As the market for data iceintealization has matured, we have increasirmitgcted our product development and
marketing toward products and services that enaldenesses to utilize virtualization as the infrasture for cloud-based computing,
management and automation of the delivery of I'Dueses and end-user computing. We are also inggstithe development of products and
services for the emerging platform as a servicéParS,” and software as a service, or “SaaS,” atarlOur success depends on organizations
and customers perceiving technological and operatibenefits and cost savings associated withnitreasing adoption of virtualization-based
infrastructure and management solutions for cloudputing, application development and end-user edimg. Although the use of
virtualization technologies on servers and in oeApises data centers has become broadly acceptedtéprise-level applications, the extent
to which adoption of virtualization for cloud comtmg and end-user computing remains uncertain. Adingly, as the market for our data
center virtualization products mature and the sollaur business increases, the rate of growthuimpooduct sales will likely be lower than
those we have experienced in earlier periods anexpect our annual revenue growth rate in 2012tdinke from the growth rate of 32%
experienced in 2011. In addition, to the extent tha newer cloud computing infrastructure managgraed automation, end-user computing,
PaaS and SaaS solutions are adopted more slowdgocomprehensively than we expect, our revenusthrrates may slow materially or our
revenue may decline substantially.

We expect to face increasing competition that cotdgdult in a loss of customers, reduced revenueslecreased operating margins.

The virtualization, cloud computing, and end-usenputing markets are inter-related and rapidly engl. We experienced increased
competition during 2011 and expect it to signifitamtensify in the future. For example, Microscfintinues to make incremental
improvements to its virtual infrastructure and wat management products. Microsoft recently pravidetails regarding an upcoming major
release of Windows Server, including a more advawegsion of its Hyper-V virtualization productathwill continue its push into the
virtualization market. Microsoft also has cloud-basomputing offerings. We also face competitiamfrother companies that have announced
a number of new product initiatives, alliances aodsolidation efforts. For example, Citrix Systegogstinues to enhance its end-user and
server virtualization offerings and now has a dligypervisor in the market. IBM, Google and Amat@ave existing cloud computing offerings
and announced new cloud computing initiatives. Ratlhas also released commercial versions of Ltihakhave virtualization capabilities as
part of the Linux kernel (“KVM”) and has also anmmed plans for cloud computing products. Other camigs have also indicated their
intention to expand offerings of virtual managemeamd cloud computing solutions.

We believe that the key competitive factors inwheualization and cloud computing markets include:
» the level of reliability, security and new functadity of product offerings
« the ability to provide comprehensive solutions)uding management capabiliti

« the ability to offer products that support mpikéi hardware platforms, operating systems, appicatand application development
frameworks;

« the ability to deliver an intuitive end-user exignce for accessing data, applications and ssnfrom a wide variety of end-user
devices;

« the proven track record of formulating and delingra roadmap of virtualization and cloud computiagabilities

» pricing of products, individually and in bundl




Table of Contents

the ability to attract and preserve a large insthbase of custome
« the ability to attract and preserve a large nunab@pplication developers to develop to a giverudlecosyster

< the ability to create and maintain partneringanunities with hardware vendors, infrastructuséivware vendors and cloud service
providers;

« the ability to develop robust indirect sales chasynenc
< the ability to attract and retain cloud, virtuatioa and systems experts as key emplo!

Existing and future competitors may introduce pridin the same markets we serve or intend to sangecompeting products may have
better performance, lower prices, better functitpand broader acceptance than our products. @upetitors may also add features to their
virtualization, end-user and cloud computing prdadwimilar to features that presently differentiate product offerings from theirs. Many of
our current or potential competitors also have &raperating histories, greater name recognitengdr customer bases and significantly
greater financial, technical, sales, marketing ether resources than we do. This competition coesdlt in increased pricing pressure and
and marketing expenses, thereby materially redusimgoperating margins, and could harm our abibtincrease, or cause us to lose, market
share. Increased competition also may preventous &ntering into or renewing service contractsesms similar to those that we currently
offer and may cause the length of our sales cyciedrease. Some of our competitors and potentiapetitors supply a wide variety of
products to, and have well-established relatiorsshijph, our current and prospective end usersekample, small to medium sized businesses
and companies in emerging markets that are evatuite adoption of virtualization-based technolegiad solutions may be inclined to
consider Microsoft solutions because of their éxgstise of Windows and Office products. Some o¢heompetitors have in the past and may
in the future take advantage of their existingtrefeships to engage in business practices that makproducts less attractive to our end users.
Other competitors have limited or denied supparttieir applications running in VMware virtualizati environments. These distribution,
licensing and support restrictions, as well as otlusiness practices that may be adopted in theelty our competitors, could materially
impact our prospects regardless of the merits opoeducts. In addition, competitors with existirgationships with our current or prospective
end users could in the future integrate competitygabilities into their existing products and mékam available without additional charge.
For example, Oracle provides free server virtuéiimasoftware intended to support Oracle and @uaele applications, and Microsoft offers
own server virtualization software packaged withWindows Server product and has announced plapféeiobuilt-in virtualization for future
releases of the client version of Windows. As alltegxisting VMware customers may elect to usedpats that are perceived to be “free” or
“very low cost” instead of purchasing VMware protiiand services for certain applications where thepot believe that more advanced and
robust capabilities are required. Competitors nmag keverage open source technologies to offer aetow cost products capable of putting
pricing pressure on our own product offerings. Bgaging in such business practices, our competimsdiminish competitive advantages we
may possess by incentivizing end users to choas#upts that lack some of the technical advantagesroown offerings.

We also face potential competition from our parsné&ior example, third parties currently selling products could build and market their
own competing products and services or market cangperoducts and services of third parties. Ifave unable to compete effectively, our
growth and our ability to sell products at profiamargins could be materially and adversely aéféct

The large majority of our revenues have come fromr @ata center virtualization products including aulagship VMware vSphere product
line. Decreases in demand for our data center vatization products could adversely affect our reubf operations and financial conditiol

In fiscal year 2011, approximately 90% of our lisemevenues were from our cloud infrastructureraadagement solutions with the
balance from our other solutions. Although we amtinuing to develop other applications for outwélization technology such as our cloud
computing and end-user computing products, we éxpatour data center virtualization products egldted enhancements and upgrades will
constitute a majority of our revenue for the foezside future. Declines and variability in demanddoar data center virtualization products
could occur as a result of:

» improved products or product versions being offésgdompetitors in our marke
« competitive pricing pressurt
« failure to release new or enhanced versions oflata center virtualization products on a timelyibagr at all

» technological change that we are unable to addviteour data center virtualization products orttblaanges the way enterprises util
our products; and

» general economic conditiol
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Also, as more and more businesses achieve theNazdtion of their data centers and other IT fupiesi, the market for our VMware
vSphere product line may become saturated. If Wéoféntroduce compelling new features in futupgguades to our VMware vSphere product
line, develop new applications for our virtualizatitechnology or provide product suites based erVidware vSphere platform that address
customer requirements for integration, automatioth @management of their IT systems, demand for VMw&phere may decline.

Additionally, in connection with the announcementluly 2011 of our latest update to VMware vSphereannounced a change to its
pricing structure. We expect that the new pricingded, which we began to implement with the genavailability of VMware vSphere 5 in tt
third quarter of 2011, better aligns with a clowdnputing approach, whereby customers can alignwitistactual use and value derived, rather
than purely with hardware configurations and cagatMware vSphere 5 will continue to be licensestpetually on a per processor basis.
However, two physical constraints, core and phy$t&eM, were eliminated and replaced with a singleualization-based entitlement of
virtual memory, or vVRAM, which can be shared acs$srge pool of servers. Although we believe thatnew pricing structure is better sui
to changing trends in enterprise utilization ofréBources as the industry shifts to a cloud comgutiodel, if our customers react adversely to
this pricing structure change, they may considepédg the products of our competitors or we magdhi further adjust our pricing model,
resulting in reduced demand for or revenue fromdaia center virtualization products. Moreovenuf modeling of the impact of this change
in pricing structure on payment streams from owt@omers proves to be inaccurate, our revenue agictipg margins could be negatively
affected.

Due to our product concentration, our businessiltesf operations, financial condition, and castwé would therefore be adversely
affected by a decline in demand for our data cevitaralization products.

Our new product and technology initiatives subjers to additional business, legal and competitiveks.

Over the last several years, we have introducedpreduct and technology initiatives that aim todeage our virtualization infrastructure
software products into the emerging areas of ctmrdputing and end-user computing as alternativéiset@rovisioning of physical computing
resources. In 2010, we introduced the first of\dDenter and vCloud products, which we combineddhl2with our vShield security product
create our new Cloud Infrastructure and Managert@ini) Suite offering. Our CIM technologies are dgsed to facilitate the creation of
secure private clouds. They also enable workloabilityowith vSphere-compatible public cloud resoesffered by our vCloud partners who
are infrastructure as a service (“laaS”) providers.

In connection with our 2009 acquisition of Spring8&®, we announced our intention to use Spring®oswtutions to extend VMware's
strategy to deliver solutions in the emerging Pae$ket and have since also acquired GemFire andiR&D as part of our overall PaaS
strategy. Additionally, SpringSource's current dffgs and their underlying open source technolaggitipn us in the enterprise and web
application development markets. In 2011, we anoedrCloudFoundry, a VMware-operated developer ckmrdice and a new open source
Paas project for the development of applicatiorssgaed to utilize cloud computing.

Our 2010 acquisition of Zimbra extended our foatpto cloud-based email and collaboration servicepart of VMware's strategy to
extend into the emerging SaaS market. In 2011, xpareed our SaaS offerings, as we acquired Sostaca SlideRocket, which provide
applications directed toward the collaborative depment and sharing of user-generated contentmvitié enterprise. In 2011, we also
acquired Digital Fuel which provides IT financialdabusiness management solutions and we acquiredrcassets related to our parent
company's Mozy cloud-based data storage and dat@e® and entered into an agreement with EMC &rate the services on EMC's behalf.
We have also continued to expand and enhance duugar computing offerings, such as VMware Viewg an2011 announced that our first
Horizon offerings, which include a mobile phone laggiion, are expected to become available in 2012.

The expansion of our offerings to include IT mamaget and automation, laaS, PaaS and Saa$S offenihjscts us to additional risks,
such as the following:

« These initiatives may present new and diffitetthnological challenges. Significant investmenitsbe required to acquire and develop
solutions to those challenges. End users may chuomis® adopt our new product or service offeringd we may be unable to recou,
realize a reasonable return on our investmentaddlition, some of our new initiatives are hostedHsd parties whom we do not
control but whose failure to prevent such disrupgidfailures or breaches may require us to issegitsror refunds or indemnify or
otherwise be liable to customers or third part@sdfamages that may occur. Any transition of ouvises from a third party hosting
service to our own data centers would also entadlkaof service disruption during a transition.

* We may be subject to claims if customers of ¢reervice offerings experience service disruptmmfgilures, security breaches, data
losses or other quality issues.

* The success of these new offerings depends upaotieration of hardware, software and cloud hgstamdors t
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ensure interoperability with our products and offempatible products and services to end usevee kire unable to obtain such
cooperation, it may be difficult and more costly @s to achieve functionality and service levelt tiould make our new products and
services attractive to end users.

*  We will need to develop and implement approprig-to-market strategies and train our sales fioroeder to effectively market
offerings in product categories in which we mayédess experience than our competitors. Accordjregig users could choose
competing products over ours, even if such offexiage less advanced than ours.

< Our increasing focus on developing and markefflnghanagement and automation, laaS, PaaS andddasifigs that enable customers
to transform their IT systems will require a gredteus on marketing and selling product suites mode holistic solutions, rather than
selling on a product-by-product basis. Consequenttywill need to develop new strategies for manigeand selling our offerings, our
customers' purchasing decisions may become morglegrand require additional levels of approval #melduration of sales cycles 1
our offerings may increase.

«  We will need to develop appropriate pricing &gaes for our new product initiatives. For examti&as frequently been challenging
for software companies to derive significant revestreams from open source projects, such asmeftaur PaaS offerings.
Additionally, in some cases our new product initi@s are predicated on converting free and triataigo paying customers of the
premium tiers of these services and therefore wet maintain a sufficient conversion ratio for sgehvices to be profitable. Also,
certain of our new product initiatives have a suipsion model. We may not be able to accuratelydjmtesubscription renewal rates or
their impact on results and because revenue ignéoed for our services over the term of the supson, downturns or upturns in sa
may not be immediately reflected in our results.

* Our new products and services may compete viihings from companies who are members of our ligpex and technology partner
ecosystem. Consequently, we may find it more diffito continue to work together productively ohet projects and the advantages
we derive from our ecosystem could diminish.

« The cloud computing and virtualized end-user potimng markets are in early stages of developn@titer companies seeking to enter
and develop competing standards for the cloud céimgpmarket, such as Microsoft, IBM, Oracle, Googel Amazon, and the end-
user computing market, such as Citrix and Micrgdudive introduced or are likely to introduce theim initiatives that may compete
with or not be compatible with our cloud and argkr computing initiatives which could limit thegilee to which other vendors deve
products and services around our offerings anduseds adopt our platforms.

Additionally, our operating margins in our neweitiatives may be lower than those we have achiévékde markets we currently serve,
and we may not be successful enough in these remtigities to recoup our investments in them. i afthese risks were to occur, it could
damage our reputation, limit our growth and negayiwaffect our operating results.

Ongoing uncertainty regarding global economic cotidhs and the stability of regional financial marke may reduce information
technology spending below current expectations ahdrefore adversely impact our revenues, impede-asdr adoption of new products al
product upgrades and adversely impact our compegitposition.

Our business depends on the overall demand fomation technology and on the economic health ofcowrent and prospective
customers. The purchase of our products is ofteerefionary and may involve a significant commitingfircapital and other resources. Weak
economic conditions or significant uncertainty netjag the stability of financial markets could ads&ly impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations in a numbexa@ys, including by lengthening sales cycles, aifecthe size of enterprise license agreerr
(“ELASs") that customers will commit to, loweringipes for our products and services, reducing waléss reducing the rate of adoption of our
products by new customers and the willingness afee customers to purchase upgrades to our egiptioducts. The ongoing sovereign debt
crisis in Europe threatens to suppress demand @ncustomers' access to credit in that region, iwli@an important market for our products
and services. Additionally, in response to susthieonomic uncertainty, many national and localegoments that are current or prospective
customers for our products and services have aggterror announced plans to make, spending cutlvauks could reduce the amount of
government spending on IT and the potential denfiandur products and services from the governmeatas.

Ongoing economic uncertainty has also resulteceiregal and ongoing tightening in the credit marketser levels of liquidity, increases
in the rates of default and bankruptcy and sigaiftovolatility in the credit, equity and fixed ino@ markets. As a result, current or potential
customers may be unable to fund software purchadesh could cause them to delay, decrease or tancehases of our products and
services. Even if customers are willing to purchaseproducts and services, if they do not meetcoedit requirements, we may not be able to
record accounts receivable or unearned revenuecognize revenues from these customers until wawepayment, which could adversely
affect the amount of revenues we are able to rézedn a particular period.
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In addition, although we plan to continue makingtggic investments in our business, many of ourpetitors have significantly greater
financial, technical and other resources than weadd if the economic recovery is anemic or notasned, they may be better positioned to
continue investment in competitive technologies.

Industry alliances or consolidation may result im¢reased competitior

Some of our competitors have made acquisitiongredtinto or extended partnerships or other stimtetationships to offer more
comprehensive virtualization and cloud computinlyons than they individually had offered. In 20itrix Systems continued to invest in
desktop virtualization marketing by continuingdtese collaboration with Microsoft and acquired #erglayers like Kaviza and Ringcube.
Moreover, information technology companies aregasingly seeking to deliver top-to-bottom IT saus to end users that combine
enterprise-level hardware and software solutior@éeide an alternative to our virtualization ptath. For example, in 2011, Oracle brought to
market integrated hardware and software solutibasttilized technologies from its 2010 acquisitafrSun Microsystems, and Microsoft and
Hewlett-Packard continued their collaboration based/icrosoft's cloud computing and virtualizatiplatforms. Hewlett-Packard and Cisco
also joined the OpensStack effort, an effort to depen open source solution for cloud computin20id 1, Citrix announced its acquisition of
Cloud.com, which offers an laaS cloud servicestgmiyand Red Hat continued to invest in the Opétusllization Alliance (OVA) to bolster
KVM as a direct competitor to VMware vSphere. Oe BaaS front, Salesforce.com acquired Heroku én2@10. We expect these trends to
continue as companies attempt to strengthen ortaiaitheir market positions in the evolving virtization infrastructure and enterprise IT
solutions industry. Many of the companies drivihig trend have significantly greater financial heical and other resources than we do and
may be better positioned to acquire and offer cemgintary products and technologies. The companialfiances resulting from these
possible combinations may create more compellinglyet offerings and be able to offer greater pgdiexibility than we can or may engage
in business practices that make it more difficattds to compete effectively, including on the badiprice, sales and marketing programs (
as providing greater incentives to our channelngastto sell a competitor's product), technologproduct functionality. This competition
could result in a substantial loss of customers @duction in our revenues.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantlyhich makes our future results difficult to predi@nd may result in our operating results
falling below expectations or our guidance, whiclowld cause the price of our Class A common stocklezline.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a waéfactors, many of which are outside of our cohtAs a result, comparing our
operating results on a period-to-period basis nwybe meaningful. Our past results should not bede@pon as an indication of our future
performance. In addition, a significant portionooir quarterly sales typically occurs during the fasnth of the quarter, which we believe
generally reflects customer buying patterns foegrise technology. As a result, our quarterly afieg results are difficult to predict even in
the near term. If our revenues or operating redaltdelow the expectations of investors or sa@sianalysts or below any guidance we may
provide to the market, the price of our Class A owm stock would likely decline substantially.

In addition, factors that may affect our operatiagults include, among others:

» general economic conditions in our domestic anerirdtional markets and the effect that these cimndithave on our customers' caf
budgets and the availability of funding for softegnurchases;

 fluctuations in demand, adoption rates, sales syatel pricing levels for our products and serv
« fluctuations in foreign currency exchange re
« changes in customers' budgets for information teldyy purchases and in the timing of their purchgslecision:

 the timing of recognizing revenues in any gigerrter, which, as a result of software revenuegrition policies, can be affected by a
number of factors, including product announcemesgta programs and product promotions that canecaay&enue recognition of
certain orders to be deferred until future prodtetehich customers are entitled become available;

« the sale of our products in the time frames wecgrdte, including the number and size of ordemsaich quarte

« our ability to develop, introduce and ship itimely manner new products and product enhancentieatsneet customer demand,
certification requirements and technical requiretsen

< the introduction of new pricing and packaging medet our product offering
 the timing of the announcement or release of ugggad new products by us or by our competi

< our ability to maintain scalable internal sysgefor reporting, order processing, license fulféint, product delivery, purchasing, billing
and general accounting, among other functions;
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our ability to control costs, including our opengfiexpense

« changes to our effective tax re

« the increasing scale of our business and its effiectur ability to maintain historical rates of gitb;

« our ability to attract and retain highly skilled ployees, particularly those with relevant experencsoftware development and sé
» our ability to conform to emerging industry starittaand to technological developments by our cortgystand custome!

« renewal rates for ELAs as original ELA terms exj

» the timing and amount of software developmeststhat are capitalized beginning when technotddeasibility has been established
and ending when the product is available for gdrretaase;

« unplanned events that could affect market peiwepf the quality or costffectiveness of our products and solutions;

« the recoverability of benefits from goodwill andangible assets and the potential impairment cfetfasset

We are dependent on our management and our key higraent personnel, and the loss of key personnelrpeaevent us from implementing
our business plan in a timely manner.

Our success depends largely upon the continueitssref our existing management. We are also sotisiigt dependent on the continued
service of our key development personnel for produwovation and timely development and deliveryp§rades and enhancements to our
existing products. The market for expert softwagealopers upon whom we rely has become increasguaghpetitive. We generally do not
have employment or notempete agreements with our existing managemedg\w@lopment personnel and, therefore, they coufditate thei
employment with us at any time without penalty andld pursue employment opportunities with any wf @ompetitors. Changes to
management and key employees can also lead taadditnplanned losses of key employees. The Ibkeyoemployees could seriously harm
our ability to release new products on a timelyidaad could significantly help our competitors.

Our current research and development efforts mayt pooduce significant revenues for several yeafsat all.

Developing our products is expensive. Our investireresearch and development may not result irketable products or may result in
products that take longer to generate revenueggmerate less revenues, than we anticipate. Oeanesand development expenses were over
20% of our total revenues in 2010 and 2011, regpgt Our future plans include significant investints in software research and developr
and related product opportunities. We believe weaimust continue to dedicate a significant amo@inésources to our research and
development efforts to maintain our competitiveippois. However, we may not receive significant newes from these investments for several
years, if at all

Because competition for our target employees i®imge, we may not be able to attract and retain tirgthly skilled employees we need
support our planned growth, and our compensatiorpexses may increas

To execute on our strategy, we must continue tacittind retain highly qualified personnel. Contpmtifor these personnel is intense,
especially for senior sales executives and engsneih high levels of experience in designing ardedoping software. We may not be
successful in attracting and retaining qualifiedspanel. We have from time to time in the past epeed, and we expect to continue to
experience in the future, difficulty in hiring anetaining highly skilled employees with approprigtelifications. Many of the companies with
which we compete for experienced personnel havatgreesources than we have. In addition, in makmgloyment decisions, particularly in
the high-technology industry, job candidates oftensider the value of the stock options, restristedk grants or other stock-based
compensation they are to receive in connection thigir employment. Declines in the value of oucktoould adversely affect our ability to
attract or retain key employees and result in iaseel employee compensation expenses. If we fattiact new personnel or fail to retain and
motivate our current personnel, our business anatdigrowth prospects could be severely harmed.

We may not be able to respond to rapid technologateanges with new solutions and services offeringsich could have a material
adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

The markets for our software solutions are chareeteé by rapid technological changes, changingoeust needs, frequent new software
product introductions and evolving industry stawadaiT he introduction of thirgarty solutions embodying new technologies andethergenci
of new industry standards could make our existimg) faiture software solutions obsolete and unmabitet&loud computing promises to be a
disruptive technology that will alter the way thaisinesses consume, manage and provide physicasdlirces, applications, data and IT
services. We may not be able to develop updatediugte that keep pace with technological developsantl emerging industry standards and
that address the
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increasingly sophisticated needs of our custometisat interoperate with new or updated operatiggesns and hardware devices or certify
products to work with these systems and devices Aesult, we may not be able to accurately prebetifecycle of our software solutions,
and they may become obsolete before we receivartoeint of revenues that we anticipate from thenerd@lis no assurance that any of our
new offerings would be accepted in the marketpl&ignificant reductions in server-related costtherrise of more efficient infrastructure
management software could also affect demand fosaftware solutions. As hardware and processarsrhe more powerful, we will have to
adapt our product and service offerings to takeaathge of the increased capabilities. For examyide the introduction of more powerful
servers presents an opportunity for us to provietéeb products for our customers, the migratioeesf/ers to quad-core and greater multi-core
microprocessor technology also allows an end ugravgiven number of licensed copies of our sofemMa more than double the number of
virtualization machines run per server socket withtaving to purchase additional licenses fromfuany of the foregoing events were to
occur, our ability to retain or increase marketrstend revenues in the virtualization software raadould be materially adversely affected.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peeducts and services, integrate acquired produatsl services and enhance our
existing products and services and develop apprajgribusiness and pricing models.

If we are unable to develop new products and sesyinitegrate acquired products and services, eelamd improve our products and
support services in a timely manner, or positiod/anprice our products and services to meet mat&etand, customers may not buy new
software licenses from us, update to new versidmsiosoftware or renew product support. In additimformation technology standards from
both consortia and formal standards-setting foramwell as de facto marketplace standards arelyagidlving. We cannot provide any
assurance that the standards on which we choas®a/edop new products will allow us to compete dffedy for business opportunities in
emerging areas such as cloud computing.

New product development and introduction involvessgaificant commitment of time and resources anslibject to a number of risks and
challenges including:

* managing the length of the development cyclenfw products and product enhancements, whichregedntly been longer than we
originally expected,;

* managing customers' transitions to new productgiwtan result in delays in their purchasing decis
« adapting to emerging and evolving industry stanslartt to technological developments by our congrstiind customel
¢ entering into new or unproven markets with whichhage limited experienc

« tailoring our business and pricing models appetely as we enter new markets and respond to ettive pressures and technological
changes;

* incorporating and integrating acquired products taetinologies; ar
« developing or expanding efficient sales chan

In addition, if we cannot adapt our business mottekeep pace with industry trends, our revenuedddoe negatively impacted. For
example, if we increase our adoption of subscripbased pricing models for our products, we malytdeset pricing at levels appropriate to
maintain our revenue streams or our customers tagse to deploy products from our competitors they believe are priced more favorably.
Additionally, we may fail to accurately predict Sgiption renewal rates or their impact on resaltg] because revenue from subscriptions is
recognized for our services over the term of thHesstiption, downturns or upturns in sales may moinbmediately reflected in our results. As
we offer more products that depend on convertirgausf free services to users of premium serviodsaa such services grow in size, our
ability to maintain or improve and to predict corsien rates will become more important.

Breaches of our cybersecurity systems could degradieability to conduct our business operations addliver products and services to o
customers, delay our ability to recognize revenoempromise the integrity of our software productssult in significant data losses and the
theft of our intellectual property, damage our refation, expose us to liability to third parties arrdquire us to incur significant additional
costs to maintain the security of our networks addta.

We increasingly depend upon our IT systems to condutually all of our business operations, rarggfrom our internal operations and
product development activities to our marketing aales efforts and communications with our custemaed business partners. Computer
programmers may attempt to penetrate our netwarlirgg, or that of our website, and misappropriate proprietary information or cause
interruptions of our service. Because the techriqused by such computer programmers to accesbatag@e networks change frequently and
may not be recognized until launched against &tavge may be unable to anticipate these technidguesldition, sophisticated hardware and
operating system software and applications thapreduce or procure from third parties may contaifedts in design or manufacture,
including "bugs" and other problems that could yreetedly interfere with the operation of the syst¥ve have also outsourced a number of
our
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business functions to third party contractors, amdbusiness operations also depend, in part,@subcess of our contractors' own
cybersecurity measures. Similarly, we rely uponritistors, resellers, system vendors and systetagriators to sell our products and our sales
operations depend, in part, on the reliabilityh#it cybersecurity measures. Additionally, we depbepon our employees to appropriately
handle confidential data and deploy our IT resoslinesafe and secure fashion that does not exposeetwvork systems to security breaches
and the loss of data. Accordingly, if our cyberségisystems and those of our contractors failrmtgxt against unauthorized access,
sophisticated cyberattacks and the mishandlingat# by our employees and contractors, our abgityonduct our business effectively coulc
damaged in a number of ways, including:

» sensitive data regarding our business, includitglectual property and other proprietary data,ld¢de stoler

e our electronic communications systems, includintail and other methods, could be disrupted, amdability to conduct our business
operations could be seriously damaged until sustesys can be restored,;

» our ability to process customer orders and sdeatally deliver products and services could bgrdded, and our distribution channels
could be disrupted, resulting in delays in reveragognition;

» defects and security vulnerabilities could bieaduced into our software products, thereby danmatiie reputation and perceived
reliability and security of our products and potelty making the data systems of our customersemalble to further data loss and
cyberincidents; and

« personally identifiable data of our customers, empés and business partners could be

Should any of the above events occur, we couldubgest to significant claims for liability from owustomers, regulatory actions from
governmental agencies, our ability to protect otellectual property rights could be compromised aur reputation and competitive position
could be significantly harmed. Also, the regulatand contractual actions, litigations, investigasiofines, penalties and liabilities relating to
data breaches that result in losses of persordgiytifiable or credit card information of usersooir services can be significant in terms of fines
and reputational impact and necessitate changas tousiness operations that may be disruptivest@dditionally, we could incur significant
costs in order to upgrade our cybersecurity systmsremediate damages. Consequently, our finaperédrmance and results of operations
could be adversely affected.

Our products are highly technical and may containrers, defects or security vulnerabilities which glal cause harm to our reputation and
adversely affect our business.

Our products are highly technical and complex aviten deployed, have contained and may containsrdefects or security
vulnerabilities. Some errors in our products maly tre discovered after a product has been installetlused by customers. Any errors, del
or security vulnerabilities discovered in our prottuafter commercial release could result in Idsgwenues or delay in revenue recognition,
loss of customers and increased service and wgrcast, any of which could adversely affect ouribess, financial condition and results of
operations. Undiscovered vulnerabilities in ourdarats could expose them to hackers or other unstoug third parties who develop and
deploy viruses, worms, and other malicious softwaograms that could attack our products. Actuglenceived security vulnerabilities in our
products could harm our reputation and lead sorstomers to return products, to reduce or delayéupurchases or use competitive products.
End users, who rely on our products and servicethiointeroperability of enterprise servers anpligptions that are critical to their
information systems, may have a greater sensitivityroduct errors and security vulnerabilitiesticastomers for software products generally.
Any security breaches could lead to interruptialedays and data loss and protection concerns.ditiaal, we could face claims for product
liability, tort or breach of warranty, includingadins relating to changes to our products made bylvannel partners. Our contracts with
customers contain provisions relating to warrariggldimers and liability limitations, which may ne¢ upheld and customers and channel
partners may seek indemnification from us for thesses and those of their customers. Defendimgvadit, regardless of its merit, is costly
time-consuming and may divert management's attemtiol adversely affect the market's perceptiorsand our products. In addition, if our
business liability insurance coverage proves inadegjor future coverage is unavailable on acceptains or at all; our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adlgrisnpacted.

Operating in foreign countries subjects us to addital risks that may harm our ability to increase maintain our international sales
operations and investments.

Revenues from customers outside the United Starapiised approximately 52% of our total revenuegdhl and 49% in 2010/ e have
sales, administrative, research and developmentesihical support personnel in numerous countvimédwide. We expect to continue to add
personnel in additional countries. Additionallyr @vestment portfolio includes investments in ndrs. financial instruments and holdings in
non-U.S. financial institutions, including Europdastitutions. Our international operations subjesto a variety of risks, including:

« the difficulty of managing and staffing interimatal offices and the increased travel, infrastutestand legal compliance costs associated
with multiple international locations;
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« increased exposure to foreign currency exchangerisk
« difficulties in enforcing contracts and collectingcounts receivable, and longer payment cyclegcésfy in emerging marke!
« difficulties in delivering support, training and domentation in certain foreign mark

- tariffs and trade barriers and other regulatargontractual limitations on our ability to setl @evelop our products in certain foreign
markets;

< economic or political instability and security cengs in countries that are important to our intéomel sales and operatio

* macroeconomic disruptions, such as monetaryceedit crises, that can threaten the stabilityoel and regional financial institutions
and decrease the value of our international invests)

« the overlap of different tax structures or chariggaternational tax law

« reduced protection for intellectual property righiteluding reduced protection from software pirécyome countrie
« difficulties in transferring funds from certain adtes; an

- difficulties in maintaining appropriate controldatng to revenue recognition practic

Additionally, as we continue to expand our busirgdebally, we will need to maintain compliance widgal and regulatory requirements
covering the foreign activities of U.S. corporaipsuch as export control requirements and theigiof@orrupt Practices Act, as well as with
local regulatory requirements in n&hS. jurisdictions. Our success will depend, igépart, on our ability to anticipate and effedijvemanage
these and other risks associated with our intesnatioperations. We expect a significant portioomwf growth to occur in foreign countries,
which can add to the difficulties in maintainingegdate management and compliance systems andahtemtrols over financial reporting and
increase challenges in managing an organizatioratipg in various countries.

Our failure to manage any of these risks succdgafalld negatively affect our reputation, harm operations and reduce our
international sales.

If operating system and hardware vendors do not perate with us or we are unable to obtain early ass to their new products, or acces:
certain information about their new products to em® that our solutions interoperate with those pnacts, our product development efforts
may be delayed or foreclosed.

Our products interoperate with Windows, Linux arlden operating systems and the hardware devicesmérous manufacturers.
Developing products that interoperate properly iegusubstantial partnering, capital investmenteamgloyee resources, as well as the
cooperation of the vendors or developers of theaijpg systems and hardware. Operating system arbiiare vendors may not provide us
with early access to their technology and prodwadsist us in these development efforts or shateavisell to us any application programming
interfaces, or APls, formats, or protocols we maga If they do not provide us with the necessarlyeccess, assistance or proprietary
technology on a timely basis, we may experienceyubdevelopment delays or be unable to expangmmaucts into other areas. To the ex
that software or hardware vendors develop prodhetscompete with ours or those of our controlktgckholder, EMC, they may have an
incentive to withhold their cooperation, declinestare access or sell to us their proprietary Aftlstocols or formats or engage in practices to
actively limit the functionality, or compatibilitygnd certification of our products. To the extdradttwe enter into collaborations or joint
development and marketing arrangements with cehaidware and software vendors, vendors who convg#tieour collaborative partners
may similarly choose to limit their cooperation lwits. In addition, hardware or operating systendeesnmay fail to certify or support or
continue to certify or support our products foritisystems. If any of the foregoing occurs, ourduct development efforts may be delayed or
foreclosed and our business and results of opesatitay be adversely affected.

We rely on distributors, resellers, system vendansl systems integrators to sell our products, and failure to effectively develop, manage
or prevent disruptions to our distribution channetnd the processes and procedures that support titeld cause a reduction in the
number of end users of our products.

Our future success is highly dependent upon maimtgiand increasing the number of our relationshijk distributors, resellers, system
vendors and systems integrators. Because we refystributors, resellers, system vendors and sysiatagrators, we may have little or no
contact with the ultimate users of our productsreby making it more difficult for us to establistand awareness, ensure proper delivery and
installation of our products, service ongoing cugo requirements, estimate end-user demand andnesp evolving customer needs.

Recruiting and retaining qualified channel partreard training them in the use of our technology jraiuct offerings

17




Table of Contents

requires significant time and resources. In ordetdvelop and expand our distribution channel, wetrmontinue to expand and improve our
processes and procedures that support our chanclekling our investment in systems and trainimgl those processes and procedures may
become increasingly complex and difficult to manaljee time and expense required for sales and niagkerganizations of our channel
partners to become familiar with our product offigs, including our new product developments, makenitamore difficult to introduce those
products to end users and delay end-user adoptionr @roduct offerings.

We generally do not have long-term contracts orimmirm purchase commitments with our distributorseliers, system vendors and
systems integrators, and our contracts with thbaarel partners do not prohibit them from offenqamgducts or services that compete with
ours. Our competitors may be effective in providingentives to existing and potential channel padrio favor products of our competitors or
to prevent or reduce sales of our products. Cesggtem vendors now offer competing virtualizatwaducts preinstalled on their server
products. Additionally, our competitors could aterto require key distributors to enter into exolitg arrangements with them or otherwise
apply their pricing or marketing leverage to disage distributors from offering our products. Aatiogly, our channel partners may choose
not to offer our products exclusively or at all.rGailure to maintain and increase the number lti@nships with channel partners would lik
lead to a loss of end users of our products whichlevresult in us receiving lower revenues from chignnel partners. Three of our distributors
each accounted for more than 10% of revenues dafdg , and we have experienced similar conceatratin prior periods. Our agreements
with distributors are typically terminable by eithgarty upon 30 to 90 days' prior written noticdfte other party, and neither party has any
obligation to purchase or sell any products underagreements. While we believe that we have iceplar would have in place by the date of
any such termination, agreements with replacemistrittlitors sufficient to maintain our revenuesiirdistribution, if we were to lose the
distribution services of a significant distributetich loss could have a negative impact on ouftsestioperations until such time as we arrange
to replace these distribution services with the@ises of existing or new distributors.

The concentration of our product sales among a lted number of distributors and the weakness in dtadarkets increases our potential
credit risk. Additionally, weakness in credit marsecould affect the ability of our distributors, sellers and customers to comply with the
terms of credit we provide in the ordinary coursehbusiness. Accordingly, if our distributors, redets and customers find it difficult to
obtain credit or comply with the terms of their ati¢ obligations, it could cause significant fluctueons or declines in our product revenues.

Three of our distributors each accounted for mbaa t10% of revenues during 2011 , and we have exqued similar concentrations in
prior periods. We anticipate that sales of our potsito a limited number of distributors will camtie to account for a significant portion of our
total product revenues for the foreseeable fufline. concentration of product sales among certaitmibutors increases our potential credit
risks. For example, approximately 47% of our taiatounts receivable as of December 31, 2011 wasthicee distributors. Some of our
distributors may experience financial difficultieghich could adversely impact our collection of @auts receivable. One or more of these
distributors could delay payments or default orditrextended to them. Our exposure to credit ridksur distributors may increase if our
distributors and their customers are adverselyctdteby global or regional economic conditions. Wddally, we provide credit to distributor
resellers, and certain end-user customers in thealaourse of business. Credit is generally exadrtd new customers based upon a credit
evaluation. Credit is extended to existing custansed on ongoing credit evaluations, prior payristory, and demonstrated financial
stability. We often allow distributors and custom#r purchase and receive shipments of produesdass of their established credit limit. We
are unable to recognize revenue from such shipmaeniisthe collection of those amounts becomesaealsly assured. Any significant delay or
default in the collection of significant accountseivable could result in an increased need fdo wbtain working capital from other sources,
possibly on worse terms than we could have neguatiitwe had established such working capital resssiprior to such delays or defaults.
Any significant default could result in a negatiwgact on our results of operations and delay bilityto recognize revenue.

Our revenues, collection of accounts receivable dimancial results may be adversely impacted bycfluation of foreign currency exchange
rates. Although foreign currency hedges can offseime of the risk related to foreign currency flucitions, we will continue to experience
foreign currency gains and losses in certain instaas where it is not possible or cost effective éalgpe our foreign currency exposure

Our revenues and our collection of accounts rebdidvianay be adversely impacted as a result of fatatns in the exchange rates between
the U.S. Dollar and foreign currencies. For examwke have distributors in foreign countries thayrirecur higher costs in periods when the
value of the U.S. Dollar strengthens against foreigrrencies. One or more of these distributorddcdalay payments or default on credit
extended to them as a result. Any significant delaglefault in the collection of significant accesimeceivable could result in an increased |
for us to obtain working capital from other sourdésve determine that the amount of accounts kex#e to be uncollectible is greater than
estimates, we would recognize an increase in batled@ense, which would have a negative impactwnesults of operations. In addition, in
periods when the value of the U.S. Dollar strengsh&e may need to offer additional discounts, cedurices or offer other incentives to
mitigate the negative effect on demand.
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Since the second quarter of 2009, we have invacedcollected in certain non-U.S. Dollar denomidaterrencies, thereby conducting a
portion of our revenue transactions in currencibgiothan the U.S. Dollar. Although this programymalieviate credit risk from our distributc
during periods when the U.S. Dollar strengthenshitts the risk of currency fluctuations to us anady negatively impact our revenues,
anticipated cash flows and financial results duuctuations in foreign currency exchange ratestipularly the Euro, the British Pound, the
Japanese Yen and the Australian Dollar relativ¢oJ.S. Dollar. While variability in operating ngam may be reduced due to invoicing in
certain of the local currencies in which we alstognize expenses, increased exposure to foreigarayr fluctuations will introduce additional
risk for variability in revenue-related componeatur consolidated financial statements.

Since July 2009, we have entered into foreign eumydorward contracts to hedge a portion of ourcmgstanding monetary assets and
liabilities against movements in certain foreigrleange rates. Although we expect the gains anddams our foreign currency forward
contracts to generally offset the majority of tteéng and losses associated with the underlyindggioreurrency denominated assets and
liabilities that we hedge, our hedging transactioray not yield the results we expect. Additionallye expect to continue to experience foreign
currency gains and losses in certain instancesenh@r not possible or cost effective to hedgefoueign currency exposures.

We may become involved in litigation and regulatanguiries and proceedings that could negativelyfedt us.

From time to time, we are involved in various legaministrative and regulatory proceedings, claiesmands and investigations relating
to our business, which may include claims with ez$po patent, commercial, product liability, empteent, class action, whistleblower and
other matters. From time to time, we receive ingsifrom government entities regarding the comgkaof our contracting and sales practices
with applicable regulations. Such matters can ipeitonsuming, divert management's attention arwlrees and cause us to incur significant
expenses. While no formal legal proceedings thaltchave a material impact on our results of openator financial condition have been
taken, there can be no assurance that actionsatilbe taken in the future. Furthermore, becatiggtion and the outcome of regulatory
proceedings are inherently unpredictable, it issfimds that our business, results of operationgnamntial condition could be negatively affected
by an unfavorable resolution of one or more of suateedings, claims, demands or investigations.

Our business is subject to a variety of U.S. antkimational laws and regulations regarding data peetion.

Our business is subject to federal, state andriat&mal laws and regulations regarding privacy jaradection of personal data. We collect
contact and other personal or identifying inforraatfrom our customers. Additionally, in connectigith some of our new product initiatives,
our customers may use our services to store armgs@ersonal information and other user data. & pn our website, our privacy policies
and practices concerning our treatment of persdat@. Any failure by us to comply with our postetvacy policies or other federal, state or
international privacy-related or data protectiomdaand regulations could result in proceedingsresjais by governmental entities or others
which could have a material adverse effect on asiress, results of operations and financial camditn addition, the increased attention
focused upon liability issues as a result of latgsand legislative proposals could harm our rejariair otherwise impact the growth of our
business.

It is possible that these laws may be interpretetiggplied in a manner that is inconsistent withdata practices. If so, in addition to the
possibility of fines and penalties, a governmeatder requiring that we change our data practiogddcresult, which in turn could have a
material adverse effect on our business. Compliaritesuch an order may involve significant costsegjuire changes in business practices
that result in reduced revenue. Noncompliance coagdlt in penalties being imposed on us or wedtbel ordered to cease conducting the
noncompliant activity.

In addition to government regulation, privacy adsogcand industry groups or other third parties mapose new and different self-
regulatory standards that either legally or contralty apply to us or our customers. Any inabilityadequately address privacy concerns, even
if unfounded, or comply with applicable privacydata protection laws, regulations and policies)adoesult in additional cost and liability to
us, damage our reputation, inhibit sales and hambuosiness.

Additionally, our virtualization technology is useg cloud computing vendors, and we have expandeihgolvement in the delivery and
provision of cloud computing through business aliies with various providers of cloud computing &8s and software and expect to conti
to do so in the future. For example, in April 20t/ entered into an agreement with EMC to acquéreain assets relating to EMC's Mozy
cloud-based data storage and data services, ingudirtain data center assets and a license tircartellectual property. We also entered into
an operational support agreement with EMC pursteanthich we will take over responsibility for opérg the Mozy service on behalf of
EMC. The application of U.S. and international dai&acy laws to cloud computing vendors is undartand our existing contractual
provisions may prove to be inadequate to protedtam claims for data loss or regulatory noncomptia made against cloud computing
providers who we may partner with. Accordingly, fagure to comply with data protection laws andukations by our customers and business
partners who provide cloud computing services chalde a material adverse effect on our business.
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If we fail to comply with our customer contracts government contracting regulations, our businessutd be adversely affecte

Our contracts with our customers may include unige specialized performance requirements. Inqaati, our contracts with federal,
state, and local and non-U.S. governmental custoamed our arrangements with distributors and reselvho may sell directly to
governmental customers are subject to various peacents regulations, contract provisions and atbguirements relating to their formation,
administration and performance. Any failure by asomply with provisions in our customer contramt@&ny violation of government
contracting regulations could result in the impositof various civil and criminal penalties, whiotay include termination of contracts,
forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments @ndhe case of our government contracts, finessasgpension from future government
contracting. Further, any negative publicity retbte our customer contracts or any proceeding®sading them, regardless of its accuracy,
may damage our business and affect our abilityptopete for new contracts. From time to time, weeeinquiries from government entities
regarding the compliance of our contracting andssaractices with applicable regulations. Whildaronal legal proceedings that could have a
material impact on our results of operations oafficial condition have been taken, there can bessorance that actions will not be taken in
future. If our customer contracts are terminatedig are suspended from government work or finesttoer government sanctions are imposed,
or if our ability to compete for new contracts dvarsely affected, we could suffer an adverse effacour business, operating results or
financial condition.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual propgrrights, our competitive position could be harmedwe could be required to inct
significant expenses to enforce our right

We depend on our ability to protect our propriet@ghnology. We rely on trade secret, patent, dghyand trademark laws and
confidentiality agreements with employees and tpadies, all of which offer only limited protectioAs such, despite our efforts, the steps we
have taken to protect our proprietary rights matyb®adequate to preclude misappropriation of ooprietary information or infringement of
our intellectual property rights, and our abilitygolice such misappropriation or infringementrnigertain, particularly in countries outside of
the United States. Further, with respect to paights, we do not know whether any of our pendiatept applications will result in the
issuance of patents or whether the examinationggowill require us to narrow our claims. To theeakthat additional patents are issued from
our patent applications, which are not certainy timayy be contested, circumvented or invalidatetthénfuture. Moreover, the rights granted
under any issued patents may not provide us waprn@tary protection or competitive advantages, asdvith any technology, competitors
may be able to develop similar or superior techgiel® to our own now or in the future. In additiere rely on confidentiality or license
agreements with third parties in connection withittuse of our products and technology. There iguarantee that such parties will abide by
the terms of such agreements or that we will be sbhdequately enforce our rights, in part becateseely on “click-wrap” and “shrink-wrap”
licenses in some instances.

Detecting and protecting against the unauthorizedaf our products, technology and proprietarytsgb expensive, difficult and, in some
cases, impossible. Litigation may be necessaryerfuture to enforce or defend our intellectualpgmy rights, to protect our trade secrets or to
determine the validity and scope of the proprietagits of others. Such litigation could resulsubstantial costs and diversion of management
resources, either of which could harm our busin@sancial condition and results of operations, #mete is no guarantee that we would be
successful. Furthermore, many of our current andriial competitors have the ability to dedicatbstantially greater resources to protecting
their technology or intellectual property rightatiwe do. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we maybe able to prevent third parties from
infringing upon or misappropriating our intelleckpaoperty, which could result in a substantiaklae$ our market share.

We provide access to our hypervisor and other sel@ésource code to partners, which creates addiiarsk that our competitors could
develop products that are similar or better thanrsu

Our success and ability to compete depend subalignipon our internally developed technology, whig incorporated in the source code
for our products. We seek to protect the source cdesign code, documentation and other informa#gtating to our software, under trade
secret and copyright laws. However, we have chas@novide access to our hypervisor and other tedesource code to more than 50 of our
partners for co-development, as well as for opets Aflermats and protocols. Though we generally md@tccess to our source code and other
intellectual property, and enter into confidentiabir license agreements with such partners, alsagetith our employees and consultants, this
combination of procedural and contractual safeguardy be insufficient to protect our trade secaets other rights to our technology. Our
protective measures may be inadequate, especeduse we may not be able to prevent our parteengloyees or consultants from violating
any agreements or licenses we may have in plaabuming their access granted to our source cogeoper disclosure or use of our source
code could help competitors develop products simdlar better than ours.

We are, and may in the future be, subject to claimsothers that we infringe their proprietary tecbfogy which could force us to pay
damages or prevent us from using certain technolagyur products.

Companies in the software and technology industies large numbers of patents, copyrights, tradksyand trade
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secrets and frequently enter into litigation basedllegations of infringement or other violatiasfdntellectual property rights. This risk may
increase as the number of products and competitansr market increases and overlaps occur. Int@aagias a well-known information
technology company, we face a higher risk of béfregsubject of intellectual property infringemeldims. Any claim of infringement by a

third party, even one without merit, could causeéausicur substantial costs defending against tien¢ and could distract our management
from our business. Furthermore, a party making suclaim, if successful, could secure a judgmesit tbquires us to pay substantial damages.
A judgment could also include an injunction or atbeurt order that could prevent us from offering products. In addition, we might be
required to seek a license for the use of suciésteal property, which may not be available omaeercially reasonable terms or at all.
Alternatively, we may be required to develop nofringing technology, which could require signifi¢affort and expense and may ultimately
not be successful. Any of these events could sslgidwarm our business, operating results and filmhoondition. Third parties may also assert
infringement claims against our customers and chigmartners. Any of these claims could requireauisitiate or defend potentially protracted
and costly litigation on their behalf, regardle$she merits of these claims, because we gendralgmnify our customers and channel part
from claims of infringement of proprietary rightkthird parties in connection with the use of omducts. If any of these claims succeed, we
may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our ouste or channel partners, which could negativelgcabur results of operations.

Our use of “open source’software in our products could negatively affectroability to sell our products and subject us togsible litigation.

A significant portion of the products, technologgsservices acquired, licensed, developed or effféry us may incorporate so-called
“open source” software, and we may incorporate aquemce software into other products in the fut@uech open source software is generally
licensed by its authors or other third parties urogen source licenses, including, for example GN&J General Public License, the GNU
Lesser General Public License, “Apache-style” |zxg) “BSD-style” licenses and other open sour@enfies. We monitor our use of open
source software in an effort to avoid subjecting moducts to conditions we do not intend. Althowgt believe that we have complied with
our obligations under the various applicable lieanfor open source software that we use, theitlésdr no legal precedent governing the
interpretation of many of the terms of certainladde licenses, and therefore the potential imgatiese terms on our business is somewhat
unknown and may result in unanticipated obligatimgarding our products and technologies. For examye may be subjected to certain
conditions, including requirements that we offer products that use the open source software fawosg that we make available source code
for modifications or derivative works we create dxhsipon incorporating, using or distributing thewgource software and/or that we license
such modifications or derivative works under thent of the particular open source license. Anyheke obligations could have an adverse
impact on our intellectual property rights and aebility to derive revenue from products incorpangtthe open source software.

If an author or other third party that distribusesh open source software were to allege that wenbacomplied with the conditions of
one or more of these licenses, we could be reqtiré@ttur significant legal expenses defending agtasuch allegations. Although we have
received inquiries regarding open source licenseptiance for software used in our products, no farproceedings that would have a mate
impact on our results of operations or financiaidition have been taken. However, there can bessarance that actions will not be taken in
the future. If our defenses were not successfulcowdd be subject to significant damages, enjoinach the distribution of our products that
contained the open source software and requiredrply with the foregoing conditions, which couldrdipt the distribution and sale of some
of our products. In addition, if we combine our jprietary software with open source software in rdade manner, under some open source
licenses we could be required to release the samade of our proprietary software, which could dabsally help our competitors develop
products that are similar to or better than ours.

In addition to risks related to license requirersgnsage of open source software can lead to gmésite than use of third-party
commercial software, as open source licensors géyelo not provide warranties or assurance df titl controls on origin of the software. In
addition, many of the risks associated with usdggpen source such as the lack of warranties arasses of title, cannot be eliminated, and
could, if not properly addressed, negatively affaat business. We have established processespa@leliate these risks, including a review
process for screening requests from our developorgainizations for the use of open source and adimdpappropriate due diligence of the
use of open source in the products developed byaaias we acquire, but we cannot be sure thapalh source software is submitted for
approval prior to use in our products or is disecededuring due diligence.

We offer a number of products, including our Spriggurce, Zimbra and Cloud Foundry products under apsource licenses that subject
to additional risks and challenges, which could dsin increased development expenses, delays srugitions to the release or distribution
of those software solutions, and increased comjpatit

In September 2009, we completed our acquisitioBmfngSource and, in February 2010, we completecgoquisition of Zimbra. In April
2011, we launched our Cloud Foundry PaaS offekivig.offer each of the product offerings under open
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source licenses. Software solutions that are sotislig or mostly based on open source softwargestilus to a number of risks and challen

« If open source software programmers, most ofwhe do not employ, do not continue to develop emtance open source
technologies, our development expenses could lvedsed and our product release and upgrade schextulkl be delayed.

» One of the characteristics of open source soéwsthat anyone can modify the existing softwardevelop new software that
competes with existing open source software. Assalt, competition can develop without the degrfeeverhead and lead time requi
by traditional proprietary software companiesslaiso possible for new competitors with greateoueces than ours to develop their
own open source solutions, potentially reducingdémand for, and putting price pressure on, owtsols.

« |tis possible that a court could hold that libenses under which our open source products anices are developed and licensed are
not enforceable or that someone could assert i dtai proprietary rights in a program developed distributed under them. Any
ruling by a court that these licenses are not eefaile, or that open source components of our ptadservices offerings may not be
liberally copied, modified or distributed, may hahe effect of preventing us from distributing @veloping all or a portion of our
products or services. In addition, licensors ofropeurce software employed in our offerings maymfitime to time, modify the terms
of their license agreements in such a manner tiogetlicense terms may no longer be compatible etiter open source licenses in our
offerings or our end-user license agreement orgerhservice, and thus could, among other consegseprevent us from continuing
to distribute the software code subject to the fiedlilicense or terms of service.

« Actions to protect and maintain ownership andticd over our intellectual property could adveysaffect our standing in the open
source community, which in turn could limit our ktlgito continue to rely on this community, uponialhwe are dependent, as a
resource to help develop and improve our open sgumeducts and services.

If we are unable to successfully address the angde of integrating offerings based upon open sotgrchnology into our business, our
ability to realize revenues from such offeringslwé negatively affected and our development costg increase.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, sales efforts require considerable time and expeasd timing of sales is subject to
changing purchasing behaviors of our customers. &sesult, our sales are difficult to predict and maary substantially from quarter to
quarter, which may cause our operating results tadtuate significantly.

The timing of our revenues is difficult to predi€tur sales efforts involve educating our custonadicut the use and benefit of our
products, including their technical capabilitiestgntial cost savings to an organization and adged compared to lowepst products offere
by our competitors. Customers typically undertalségaificant evaluation process that has in the gmilted in a lengthy sales cycle which
typically lasts several months, and may last a pedonger. We spend substantial time, effort arhey on our sales efforts without any
assurance that our efforts will produce any sdteaddition, product purchases are frequently sttliebudget constraints, multiple approvals,
and unplanned administrative, processing and atélerys. Moreover, the greater number of competaiternatives, as well as announcements
by our competitors that they intend to introducepetitive alternatives at some point in the futwas lengthen customer procurement cycles,
cause us to spend additional time and resourceducate end users on the advantages of our proffadhgs and delay product sales.
Economic downturns and uncertainty can also causmmers to add layers to their internal purchggeaval processes, adding further time to
a sales cycle. These factors can have a particafsct on the timing and length of our ELA salesley.

Additionally, our quarterly sales have historicalgflected an uneven pattern in which a dispropogte percentage of a quarter's total :
occur in the last month, weeks and days of eachtgu&imilarly, our yearly sales have historicakyflected a disproportionate percentage of
the year's sales in the fourth fiscal quarter. €hmstterns make prediction of revenues, earnindsvamking capital for each financial period
especially difficult and uncertain and increasertbke of unanticipated variations in financial céi@h and results of operations. We believe
uneven sales pattern is a result of many factatading the following:

« the tendency of customers to wait until late iruanter to commit to a purchase in the hope of abtgimore favorable pricin

« the fourth quarter influence of customers spegdieir remaining capital budget authorizatioroptdo new budget constraints in the
first nine months of the following year; and

« seasonal influences, such as holiday or vacaticogs

If sales expected from a specific customer forréi@dar quarter are not realized in that quarteatoall, our results could
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fall short of public expectations and our businéisgncial condition and results of operations colod materially adversely affected.

Acquisitions could disrupt our business, cause ditin to our stockholders and harm our business, dimcial condition and results o
operations.

We have acquired in the past and plan to acquitledriuture other businesses, products or techresdogor example, 2011 we complete
number of acquisitions, including acquisitions ofifal Fuel, Neo Accel, Packet Motion, Shavlik,d&Rocket, Socialcast and WaveMaker.
also acquired certain assets from EMC's Mozy cloaskd data storage and data services and entevexhingreement with EMC to operate
the services on EMC's behalf. We may not be ablmtbsuitable acquisition candidates, and we matybe able to complete acquisitions on
favorable terms, if at all. If we do complete asitibns, we may not ultimately strengthen our cotitipe position or achieve our goals, or they
may be viewed negatively by customers, financialkeis or investors.

Acquisitions may disrupt our ongoing operationsedi management from day-to-day responsibilitisstéase our expenses and adversely
impact our business, financial condition and ressoftoperations. An acquired business may not eetive expected results. For example, an
acquisition may not further our strategies or ressinl expected benefits, which may include beneélating to enhanced revenues, technology,
human resources, cost savings, operating effickésrennd other synergies. Acquisitions may reduceasin available for operations and other
uses and could result in an increase in amortizatigpense related to identifiable intangible asaetgiired, potentially dilutive issuances of
equity securities or the incurrence of debt.

Additionally, we have limited historical experienaith the integration of acquired companies. Tree be no assurance that we will be
able to manage the integration of acquired bus@sesHectively or be able to retain and motivatg frersonnel from these businesses. Any
difficulties we encounter in the integration progesuld divert management from day-to-day respdliiss, increase our expenses and have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarmzatlition and results of operations. We may alse féifficulties due to the lack of experience
in new markets, products or technologies or thialrdependence on unfamiliar supply or distribntgartners. Other risks related to
acquisitions include the assumption of the lialeiitof the acquired business, including litigatiefated liabilities.

In addition, we review our amortizable intangibssets annually for impairment, or more frequentligen events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may eatgoverable, and we are required to test gooftwilmpairment at least annually. We may
be required to record a significant charge to egsin our financial statements during the period/iich any impairment of our goodwill or
amortizable intangible assets resulting from arussitipn or otherwise is determined, resulting imaalverse impact on our results of operati
In addition to the risks commonly encountered m dlequisition of a business as described abovepayealso experience risks relating to the
challenges and costs of closing a transactionhEurthe risks described above may be exacerbatadesult of managing multiple acquisitir
at the same time. We also seek to invest in busésethat offer complementary products, servicegsamologies. These investments are
accompanied by risks similar to those encounterezhiacquisition of a business.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal controls, we may not be able to accurately retpmur financial results or prevent fraud
As a result, our stockholders could lose confidenneur financial reporting, which could harm our bsiness and the trading price of ot
Class A common stock.

We have complied with Section 404 of the SarbandsyOAct of 2002 by assessing and testing our sysitinternal controls. Even
though we concluded our system of internal contn@s effective as of December 31, 2011 , we needmntinue to maintain our processes and
systems and adapt them to changes as our busimeesges and we rearrange management responsitalitteseorganize our business
accordingly. We may seek to automate certain ps@Ese improve efficiencies and better ensure aggodmpliance but such automation may
itself disrupt existing internal controls and irdtee unintended vulnerability to error or fraudisTtontinuous process of maintaining and
adapting our internal controls and complying witgtttion 404 is expensive and time-consuming, andires| significant management attention.
We cannot be certain that our internal control rmesswill continue to provide adequate control awmer financial processes and reporting and
ensure compliance with Section 404. Furthermoreuasusiness changes and as we expand througisiicms of other companies, our
internal controls may become more complex and Weredquire significantly more resources to ensweiaternal controls overall remain
effective. Failure to implement required new or mned controls, or difficulties encountered in thigiplementation, could harm our operating
results or cause us to fail to meet our reportipiggations. If we or our independent registeredljpudiccounting firm identify material
weaknesses, the disclosure of that fact, evenickuremedied, could reduce the market's configeincour financial statements and harm our
stock price. In addition, if we are unable to con# to comply with Section 404, our non-compliacceld subject us to a variety of
administrative sanctions, including the suspensiodelisting of our Class A common stock from thewNYork Stock Exchange and the
inability of registered broker-dealers to make aketin our Class A common stock, which could resloar stock price.
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Problems with our information systems could interéewith our business that could adversely impact @perations.

We rely on our information systems and those afitparties for processing customer orders, delieégroducts, providing services and
support to our customers, billing and tracking customers, fulfilling contractual obligations, asitherwise running our business. Any
disruption in our information systems and thoséhefthird parties upon whom we rely could havegaificant impact on our business. In
addition, we continuously work to enhance our infation systems. The implementation of these typeslvancements is frequently disrupt
to the underlying business of an enterprise, whiely especially be the case for us due to the sideeamplexity of our business. Any
disruptions relating to our systems enhancemeatsicplarly any disruptions impacting our operasiaturing the implementation period, could
adversely affect our business in a number of réspewen if we do not encounter these adversetsffée implementation of these
enhancements may be much more costly than we atiiel. If we are unable to successfully implemeatinformation systems enhancements
as planned, our financial position, results of agiens, and cash flows could be negatively impacted

Our financial results may be adversely impactedhigher than expected tax rates, and we may haveosxpe to additional tax liabilities.

As a multinational corporation, we are subjectimoime taxes as well as non-income based taxesthirthe United States and various
foreign jurisdictions. Our domestic and internasibtax liabilities are subject to the allocationrefenues and expenses in different jurisdict
and the timing of recognizing revenues and expersgditionally, the amount of income taxes paidusject to our interpretation of applical
tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we file andanges to tax laws. Significant judgment is regglin determining our worldwide provision
for income taxes and other tax liabilities. Fromdito time, we are subject to income tax auditsil&\We believe we have complied with all
applicable income tax laws, there can be no aseartimat a governing tax authority will not haveiffedent interpretation of the law and assess
us with additional taxes. Should we be assessddaaltlitional taxes, there could be a material aveffect on our financial condition or
results of operations.

Our future effective tax rate may be affected bghsiactors as changes in tax laws, regulationatesr changing interpretation of existing
laws or regulations, the impact of accounting tock-based compensation, the impact of accountngdsiness combinations, changes in our
international organization, and changes in ovéeattls of income before tax.

For example, the U.S. federal R&D tax credit, whichvided a significant reduction in our effectie rate, has expired and is therefore
not available to us for our tax years beginningraltecember 31, 2011. If the R&D tax credit is restewed, our effective tax rate will incree

In addition, in the ordinary course of our globakimess, there are many intercompany transactiwhsalculations where the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Although we believe thar tax estimates are reasonable, we cannotetizatthe final determination of tax audits
or tax disputes will not be different from whatéslected in our historical income tax provisiomglaccruals.

We are also subject to non-income taxes, suchyaslpasales, use, value-added, net worth, propany goods and services taxes, in both
the United States and various foreign jurisdictioi® are under audit from time to time by tax attfes with respect to these non-income
taxes and may have exposure to additional non-iedam liabilities.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, floods and other natural catastrophic evansuch as pandemics, and to interruption
by manmade problems, such as computer viruses, unantitgpladisruptions in local infrastructure or terrori®, which could result in delay
or cancellations of customer orders or the deploymef our products.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the SarciSco Bay Area, a region known for seismic diytiVA significant natural disaster,
such as an earthquake, fire, flood or other a@ad, could have a material adverse impact on osinkess, financial condition and results of
operations. As we continue to grow internationatygreasing amounts of our business will be locatddreign countries that may be more
subject to political or social instability that dduwlisrupt operations. Furthermore, some of our pevduct initiatives and business functions are
hosted and carried out by third parties that mayudeerable to disruptions of these sorts, mamylith may be beyond our control. In
addition, our servers are vulnerable to computerseis, break-ins and similar disruptions from uhatized tampering with our computer
systems. Unanticipated disruptions in services igea/through localized physical infrastructure,tsas utility or telecommunication outages,
can curtail the functioning of local offices as e critical components of our information systeand adversely affect our ability to process
orders, provide services, respond to customer stg@ad maintain local and global business corttinMiatural disasters that affect the
manufacture of IT products, such as the 2011 flogdh Thailand, can also delay customer spendingusrsoftware, which is often coupled
with customer purchases of new servers and IT systEBurthermore, acts of terrorism or war couldseadisruptions in our or our customers'
business or the economy as a whole and diseasempaticould temporarily sideline a substantial padur or our customers' workforce at
any particular time. To the extent that such disons result in delays or cancellations of custooreers, or the deployment or availability of
our products and services, our revenues would beraely affected.
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Changes in accounting principles and guidance, defr interpretation, could result in unfavorable @ounting charges or effects, including
changes to our previously-filed financial statemenivhich could cause our stock price to decline.

We prepare our consolidated financial statemenég&aordance with accounting principles generaltyeated in the United States of
America. These principles are subject to interpiateby the SEC and various bodies formed to imrand create appropriate accounting
principles and guidance. A change in these priesipl guidance, or in their interpretations, mayeha significant effect on our reported res
and retroactively affect previously reported result

Risks Related to Our Relationship with EMC

As long as EMC controls us, other holders of oura8k A common stock will have limited ability to inénce matters requiring stockholde
approval.

As of December 31, 2011 , EMC owned 37,642,000eshaf our Class A common stock and all 300,000€0@0es of our Class B
common stock, representing 79.7% of the total antiing shares of common stock or 97.@Pthe voting power of outstanding common stc
The holders of our Class A common stock and ous<CBacommon stock have identical rights, prefergracel privileges except with respec
voting and conversion rights, the election of dioes, certain actions that require the consenbtidrs of Class B common stock and other
protective provisions as set forth in our certifecaf incorporation. Holders of our Class B commstock are entitled to 10 votes per share of
Class B common stock on all matters except foethetion of our Group Il directors, in which cabkeyt are entitled to one vote per share, and
the holders of our Class A common stock are edtitbeone vote per share of Class A common stoc&.hididers of Class B common stock,
voting separately as a class, are entitled to 8@%i of the total number of directors on our baafrdirectors that we would have if there were
no vacancies on our board of directors at the tithese are our Group | directors. Subject to aglytsi of any series of preferred stock to elect
directors, the holders of Class A common stocktarcdholders of Class B common stock, voting togedisea single class, are entitled to elect
our remaining directors, which at no time will les$ than one director-our Group Il director(s). ddingly, the holders of our Class B
common stock currently are entitled to elect 7 wf ® directors.

If EMC transfers shares of our Class B common stoany party other than a successor-in-intereatsrbsidiary of EMC prior to a
distribution to its stockholders under Section 85%he Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amend&bgadistribution”), those shares will
automatically convert into Class A common stockdidnally, if, prior to a 355 distribution, EMCtavnership falls below 20% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock, all outktgnshares of Class B common stock will automdyicanvert to Class A common stock.
Following a 355 distribution, shares of Class B owon stock may convert to Class A common stockéhstonversion is approved by
VMware stockholders after the 355 distribution. Bolong as EMC or its successor-in-interest beray owns shares of our common stock
representing at least a majority of the votes lewtito be cast by the holders of outstanding vositagk, EMC will be able to elect all of the
members of our board of directors.

In addition, until such time as EMC or its succedreinterest beneficially owns shares of our comnstock representing less than a
majority of the votes entitled to be cast by thidbos of outstanding voting stock, EMC will have tbility to take stockholder action without
the vote of any other stockholder and without hgvimcall a stockholder meeting, and holders of@ass A common stock will not be able to
affect the outcome of any stockholder vote durhig period. As a result, EMC will have the abilitycontrol all matters affecting us, includi

» the composition of our board of directors amtotigh our board of directors, any determinatiothwespect to our business plans and
policies;

« any determinations with respect to mergers, adipis and other business combinati

e our acquisition or disposition of ass

< our financing activitie:

« certain changes to our certificate of incorporg

« changes to the agreements we entered into in ctianedith our transition to becoming a public comp;
e corporate opportunities that may be suitable foang EMC

« determinations with respect to enforcement gifits we may have against third parties, includiit wespect to intellectual property
rights;

« the payment of dividends on our common stock:
» the number of shares available for issuance unatestock plans for our prospective and existing leyges

Our certificate of incorporation and the mastensiction agreement entered into between us and iBM@nhnection with our initial public
offering (“IPQ”) also contain provisions that reqgithat as long as EMC beneficially owns at le@86 2r
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more of the outstanding shares of our common stbekprior affirmative vote or written consent d¥lE (or its successor-in-interest) as the
holder of the Class B common stock is requiredjésibin each case to certain exceptions) in ordauthorize us to:

« consolidate or merge with any other en

« acquire the stock or assets of another entity aegx of $100 milliot

* issue any stock or securities except to our suds@i or pursuant to our employee benefit p
« establish the aggregate annual amount of sharesayassue in equity awart

« dissolve, liquidate or wind us t

» declare dividends on our sto

< enter into any exclusive or exclusionary arranget with a third party involving, in whole or img, products or services that are
similar to EMC's; and

« amend, terminate or adopt any provision inconsistath certain provisions of our certificate of orporation or bylaw:

If EMC does not provide any requisite consent aillgwus to conduct such activities when requestedywill not be able to conduct such
activities and, as a result, our business and perating results may be harmed. EMC's voting cdaind its additional rights described above
may discourage transactions involving a changenfrol of us, including transactions in which hatglef our Class A common stock might
otherwise receive a premium for their shares dveithheneurrent market price. EMC is not prohibited frontling a controlling interest in us
a third party and may do so without the approvahefholders of our Class A common stock and withppaviding for a purchase of any sha
of Class A common stock held by persons other BEMIEC. Accordingly, shares of Class A common stoclky i@ worth less than they would
if EMC did not maintain voting control over us rfeave the additional rights described above.

In the event EMC is acquired or otherwise undergoeBange of control, any acquirer or successdhwientitled to exercise the voting
control and contractual rights of EMC, and may darsa manner that could vary significantly from EM historic practice.

By becoming a stockholder in our company, holdésuo Class A common stock are deemed to haveaofiand have consented to the
provisions of our certificate of incorporation a@ master transaction agreement with respectttirttitations that are described above.

Our business and that of EMC overlap, and EMC magnepete with us, which could reduce our market share

EMC and we are both IT infrastructure companiewigiing products related to storage management,-bpcklisaster recovery, security,
system management and automation, provisioningesalirce management. There can be no assuran&MRatvill not engage in increased
competition with us in the future. In addition, tinéellectual property agreement that we have edtérto with EMC provides EMC the ability
to use our source code and intellectual properychy subject to limitations, it may use to prodeeetain products that compete with ours.
EMC's rights in this regard extend to its majotyned subsidiaries, which could include joint veatuwhere EMC holds a majority position
and one or more of our competitors hold minoritgifons.

EMC could assert control over us in a manner whimlld impede our growth or our ability to enter nmarkets or otherwise adversely
affect our business. Further, EMC could utilizecititrol over us to cause us to take or refraimftaking certain actions, including entering
into relationships with channel, technology andeotimarketing partners, enforcing our intellectualperty rights or pursuing corporate
opportunities or product development initiativeattbould adversely affect our competitive positimejuding our competitive position relative
to that of EMC in markets where we compete withrth&n addition, EMC maintains significant partnépshwith certain of our competitors,
including Microsoft.

EMC's competition in certain markets may affect oability to build and maintain partnerships

Our existing and potential partner relationshipy ina affected by our relationship with EMC. We partwith a number of companies that
compete with EMC in certain markets in which EMGQtjépates. EMC's majority ownership in us mighfieat our ability to effectively partner
with these companies. These companies may favocaupetitors because of our relationship with EMC.

EMC competes with certain of our significant chadntechnology and other marketing partners, incigdBM and Hewlett-Packard.
Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation andeotagreements that we have with EMC, EMC may tiasability to impact our relationship
with those of our partners that compete with EM@ijol could have a material adverse effect on osulte of operations or our ability to
pursue opportunities which may otherwise be avhilédbus.
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In order to preserve the ability for EMC to distnilte its shares of our Class B common stock on s-free basis, we may be prevented from
pursuing opportunities to raise capital, to effectte acquisitions or to provide equity incentivesaior employees, which could hurt ot
ability to grow.

Beneficial ownership of at least 80% of the totating power is required in order for EMC to affactax-free spin-off of VMware or
certain other tax-free transactions. We have agitestdfor so long as EMC or its successor-in-irgeo@ntinues to own greater than 50% of the
voting control of our outstanding common stock, witk not knowingly take or fail to take any actidiat could reasonably be expected to
preclude EMC's or its successor-in-interest's ighiiti undertake a tax-free spin-off. Additionallynder our certificate of incorporation and the
master transaction agreement we entered into Wit Eiwe must obtain the consent of EMC or its susoe-interest, as the holder of our
Class B common stock, to issue stock or other VMvegrcurities, excluding pursuant to employee bepkfins (provided that we obtain Class
B common stockholder approval of the aggregate anmumber of shares to be granted under such plahgh could cause us to forgo cap
raising or acquisition opportunities that wouldethise be available to us. As a result, we mayrbelpded from pursuing certain growth
initiatives.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible fiabilities of EMC, which could result in a decrease our income.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible MCEs liabilities. Under our master transaction agnent with EMC, EMC will indemnif
us for claims and losses' relating to liabilitietated to EMC's business and not related to ouinbss. However, if those liabilities are
significant and we are ultimately held liable fbem, we cannot be certain that we will be ableetmver the full amount of our losses from
EMC.

Although we have entered into a tax sharing agreemwith EMC under which our tax liabilities effectiely will be determined as if we we
not part of any consolidated, combined or unitagxtgroup of EMC Corporation and/or its subsidiariea/e nonetheless could be held liable
for the tax liabilities of other members of theseogips.

We have historically been included in EMC's cordatiéd group for U.S. federal income tax purposesyell as in certain consolidated,
combined or unitary groups that include EMC Corgioraand/or certain of its subsidiaries for statd écal income tax purposes. Pursuant to
our tax sharing agreement with EMC, we and EMC gadhyewill make payments to each other such théit) wespect to tax returns for any
taxable period in which we or any of our subsidiarare included in EMC's consolidated group for. fe8eral income tax purposes or any
other consolidated, combined or unitary group of&E®orporation and/or its subsidiaries, the amofitdixes to be paid by us will be
determined, subject to certain adjustments, agifimd each of our subsidiaries included in suclsaatated, combined or unitary group filed
our own consolidated, combined or unitary tax metur

We have been included in the EMC consolidated gfoup).S. federal income tax purposes since ouuaiipn by EMC, and expect to
continue to be included in such consolidated grfoueriods in which EMC owns at least 80% of th&k voting power and value of our
outstanding stock. Each member of a consolidatedmduring any part of a consolidated return ysgmintly and severally liable for tax on-
consolidated return of such year and for any sulissity determined deficiency thereon. Similarlysome jurisdictions, each member of a
consolidated, combined or unitary group for sthteal or foreign income tax purposes is jointly @ayerally liable for the state, local or
foreign income tax liability of each other membéthe consolidated, combined or unitary group. Adawgly, for any period in which we are
included in the EMC consolidated group for U.S ied income tax purposes or any other consolidatabined or unitary group of EMC
Corporation and/or its subsidiaries, we could bblé in the event that any income tax liability viraurred, but not discharged, by any other
member of any such group.

Any inability to resolve favorably any disputes tharise between us and EMC with respect to our pasti ongoing relationships may rest
in a significant reduction of our revenues and edngs.

Disputes may arise between EMC and us in a nunftemeas relating to our ongoing relationships,udaig:
« labor, tax, employee benefit, indemnification ariteo matters arising from our separation from E

« employee retention and recruiti

¢ business combinations involving

< our ability to engage in activities with certainacimel, technology or other marketing partr

» sales or dispositions by EMC of all or any portadrits ownership interest in t

« the nature, quality and pricing of services EMC ageed to provide L

« arrangements with third parties that are exclusipt@aEMC;

* Dbusiness opportunities that may be attractive th B&C and us; ar
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< product or technology development or marketingvéteds or customer agreements which may requiretimsent of EMC

We may not be able to resolve any potential casfliand even if we do, the resolution may be lassrfable than if we were dealing with
an unaffiliated party.

The agreements we enter into with EMC may be antengen agreement between the parties. While wearkolled by EMC, we may
not have the leverage to negotiate amendmentese thgreements if required on terms as favorahle &s those we would negotiate with an
unaffiliated third party.

Some of our directors own EMC common stock, redeit shares of EMC common stock or equity awardsitguire EMC common stoc
and hold management positions with EMC, which coudduse conflicts of interests that result in our hacting on opportunities we
otherwise may have.

Some of our directors own EMC common stock or goantards to purchase EMC common stock. In addisome of our directors are
executive officers or directors of EMC, and EMC fas sole holder of our Class B common stock, titled to elect 7 of our 8 directors.
Ownership of EMC common stock, restricted shardsSMEC common stock and equity awards to purchase EM@mon stock by our directc
and the presence of executive officers or direadEEMC on our board of directors could createappear to create, conflicts of interest with
respect to matters involving both us and EMC tloatidt have different implications for EMC than they for us. Provisions of our certificate
incorporation and the master transaction agreetretateen EMC and us address corporate opportuttigésre presented to our directors or
officers that are also directors or officers of EM@®ere can be no assurance that the provisioogrigertificate of incorporation or the master
transaction agreement will adequately address pat@onflicts of interest or that potential conf of interest will be resolved in our favor or
that we will be able to take advantage of corpoogigortunities presented to individuals who arécef or directors of both us and EMC. As a
result, we may be precluded from pursuing certaimth initiatives.

EMC's ability to control our board of directors mamake it difficult for us to recruit independent déctors.

So long as EMC beneficially owns shares of our comistock representing at least a majority of thiev@ntitled to be cast by the holders
of outstanding voting stock, EMC can effectivelyntrol and direct our board of directors. Furthbg interests of EMC and our other
stockholders may diverge. Under these circumstapersons who might otherwise accept our invitatmjoin our board of directors may
decline.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning t¢lie New York Stock Exchange rules and, as a resate relying on exemptions from
certain corporate governance requirements that pides protection to stockholders of companies thatarot “controlled companies.”

EMC owns more than 50% of the total voting poweowf common shares and, as a result, we are artdient company” under the New
York Stock Exchange corporate governance standasia.controlled company, we are exempt under v Mork Stock Exchange standards
from the obligation to comply with certain New Yd8tock Exchange corporate governance requiremiectading the requirements:

« that a majority of our board of directors consatindependent directol

« that we have a corporate governance and nomgmatmmittee that is composed entirely of indepahd&ectors with a written charter
addressing the committee's purpose and respotisiyili

« that we have a compensation committee thatrigposed entirely of independent directors with atemi charter addressing the
committee's purpose and responsibilities; and

« for an annual performance evaluation of the nonrgadind governance committee and compensation ctiea

While we have voluntarily caused our Compensatimh @orporate Governance Committee to currentlydmeposed entirely of
independent directors in compliance with the rezmignts of the New York Stock Exchange, we are eguired to maintain the independent
composition of the committee. As a result of oug aéthe “controlled company” exemptions, holdersur Class A common stock will not
have the same protection afforded to stockholdecempanies that are subject to all of the New Y®8tlick Exchange corporate governance
requirements.

Our historical financial information as a businessegment of EMC may not be representative of ourulesas an independent public
company.

The historical financial information covering therjpds prior to our IPO in August 2007 includedur Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 does meissarily reflect what our financial position, eswf operations or cash flows would have
been had we been an independent entity during thisterical periods. The historical costs and esgsireflected in our consolidated financial
statements prior to 2008 include an allocationcftain corporate
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functions historically provided by EMC, includingx, accounting, treasury, legal and human resow®esces. Although we have transitioned
most of these corporate functions to VMware persgrin certain geographic regions where we do mothan established legal entity, we
contract with EMC subsidiaries for support serviaad EMC employees who are managed by VMware peedohhe costs incurred by EMC
on VMware's behalf related to these employees dechumark-up intended to approximate costs thatduMwave been charged had we
contracted for such services with an unrelateditparty. These costs have been charged by EMCraridduded as expenses in our
consolidated statements of income. Our historicalrfcial information is not necessarily indicatfewhat our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows will be in the futureridavhen we contract at arm's length with indepentterd parties for the services we have
received and currently receive from EMC. For additil information, see “Management's Discussionfamalysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and our historical consaéddinancial statements and notes thereto.

Risks Related to Owning Our Class A Common Stock

The price of our Class A common stock has fluctudtsubstantially in recent years and may fluctuatgbstantially in the future.

The trading price of our Class A common stock hactd@iated significantly since our IPO in August Z0Bor example, between January 1,
2011 and January 31, 2012, the closing tradingepmfour Class A common stock was very volatilegiag between $74.81 and $107.75 per
share. Our trading price could fluctuate substéptia the future due to the factors discussechis Risk Factors section and elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Substantial amounts of Class A common stock ar inebur employees, EMC and Cisco, and all of tieres of our Class B common
stock, which may be converted to Class A commockstpon request of the holder, are held by EMCr&haf Class A common stock held
EMC (including shares of Class A common stock thight be issued upon the conversion of Class B comstock) are eligible for sale
subject to the volume, manner of sale and othériceens of Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1923 amended (the “Securities Act”), which
allows the holder to sell up to the greater of 6w outstanding Class A common stock or our faeek average weekly trading volume
during any threenonth period and following the expiration of theamtractual restrictions. Additionally, EMC posseEssegistration rights wi
respect to the shares of our common stock thatdtsh If EMC chooses to exercise such rights,dte sf the shares that are registered would
not be subject to the Rule 144 limitations. If gnsficant amount of the shares that become eliditmeesale enter the public trading markets in
a short period of time, the market price of oursSlA common stock may decline.

Additionally, broad market and industry factors nieecrease the market price of our Class A commmokstegardless of our actual
operating performance. The stock market in gerardltechnology companies in particular, also hdtenexperienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations. In addition, in the past, eling periods of volatility in the overall marketidithe market price of a company's securities,
securities class action litigation has often bewstituted, including against us, and, if not resdigwiftly, can result in substantial costs and a
diversion of management's attention and resources.

If securities or industry analysts change their mmmendations regarding our stock adversely, ourcitprice and trading volume coul
decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock gl influenced by the research and reports ththtstry or securities analysts may
publish about us, our business, our market or ompetitors. If any of the analysts who may covech&nge their recommendation regarding
our stock adversely, or provide more favorabletisdarecommendations about our competitors, owkspoice would likely decline.

Delaware law and our certificate of incorporationna bylaws contain an-takeover provisions that could delay or discouragé&eover
attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws will have the effect of delaying or preventia change of control or changes in our
management. These provisions include the following:

+ the division of our board of directors into tarelasses, with each class serving for a stagdbred-year term, which would prevent
stockholders from electing an entirely new boardicéctors at any annual meeting;

 the right of the board of directors to elect a clioe to fill a vacancy created by the expansiothefboard of director

» following a 355 distribution of Class B common $tdxy EMC to its stockholders, the restriction thdieneficial owner of 10% or mc
of our Class B common stock may not vote in angtaa of directors unless such person or group a¥ges at least an equivalent
percentage of Class A common stock or obtains ajppad our board of directors prior to acquiringieéicial ownership of at least 5%
of Class B common stock;

 the prohibition of cumulative voting in the electiof directors or any other matters, which wouldestvise allow less than a majority
stockholders to elect director candidates;

29




Table of Contents

< the requirement for advance notice for nomirregtifor election to the board of directors or foogwsing matters that can be acted upon
at a stockholders' meeting;

« the ability of the board of directors to isswithout stockholder approval, up to 100,000,000 ssaf preferred stock with terms set by
the board of directors, which rights could be setaahose of common stock; and

« in the event that EMC or its successoiriterest no longer owns shares of our common stegiesenting at least a majority of the v
entitled to be cast in the election of directoteckholders may not act by written consent and matycall special meetings of the
stockholders.

Until such time as EMC or its successor-in-intecestses to beneficially own 20% or more of thetant$ing shares of our common stock,
the affirmative vote or written consent of the herlelof a majority of the outstanding shares ofGless B common stock will be required to:

« amend certain provisions of our bylaws or certificaf incorporatior

* make certain acquisitions or dispositic

» declare dividends, or undertake a recapitalizatioiquidation

< adopt any stockholder rights plan, “poison pili’other similar arrangeme

e approve any transactions that would involve agee consolidation, restructuring, sale of subtdy all of our assets or any of our
subsidiaries or otherwise result in any persomtityeobtaining control of us or any of our subsidés; or

« undertake certain other actic

In addition, we have elected to apply the provisiohSection 203 of the Delaware General Corpandtimw. These provisions may
prohibit large stockholders, in particular thosenovg 15% or more of our outstanding voting stockn merging or combining with us. These
provisions in our certificate of incorporation aoglaws and under Delaware law could discourageniaieakeover attempts and could reduce
the price that investors might be willing to pay $fnares of our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of December 31, 2011 , we owned or leased ttikties described below:

Approximate

Location Sq. Ft.® Principal Use(s)
Palo Alto, CA owned: 1,422,001 (2 Executive and administrative offices, sales and
leased 243.00( marketing, R&D and data center

North and Latin American region (excluding leased 561,000 () Administrative offices, sales and marketing,

Palo Alto, CA) R&D and data center

Asia Pacific region leased 451,00( Administrative offices, sales and marketing,
R&D and data center

Europe, Middle East and Africa region leased 294,00( Administrative offices, sales and marketing,

R&D and data center

(1) Of the total square feet owned or leased,@pprately 793,000 square feet were under constmets of December 31, 2011

(2) Represents all of the right, title and intépasrchased in a ground lease covering the progerdyimprovements located at VMware’s Palo
Alto, California campus.

(3) Includes leased space for a Washington data ctuiéity, for which VMware is considered to be tbener for accounting purpos

In 2011, VMware purchased all of the right, titldanterest in a ground lease covering the propntyimprovements located adjacent to
VMware’s existing Palo Alto, California campus #225.0 million . Concurrent with the closing of tihansaction, VMware entered into an
amended and restated ground lease for the newntyapith the Board of Trustees of the Leland Stadféunior University (“Stanford”), the
lessor of both the new property and VMwarekisting campus. VMware will possess the titltheinterest and buildings during the duratio
the lease and has the right to develop additicahi®e footage on the new parcel. Upon terminatfdhelease, all title will revert to Stanford.
The term of the amended and restated
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ground lease will expire in 2046. As of December&111 , 730,000 square feet remained under cantigtnuat this campus. See Note G to the
consolidated financial statements for further infation.

We believe that our current facilities, includifg$e under construction at our expanded headqsiaater suitable for our current emplo
headcount and will sustain us through 2012, buintend to add new facilities or expand existinglfaes as we add employees and expanc
operations. We believe that suitable additionaudrstitute space will be available as needed toragtodate expansion of our operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note L to the consolidated financial statemiexctaded in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report Form 10-K for a description of legal
proceedings. See also the risk factor entitled Wy become involved in litigation that could negaly affect us” in Part I, Item 1A of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of ptitd risks to our results of operations and finahcondition that may arise from legal
proceedings.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The names of executive officers and their aged &eloruary 17, 2012, are as follows:

Name Age Position(s)

Paul A. Maritz 56 Chief Executive Officer and Director

Carl M. Eschenbach 45 Co-President, Customer Operations

T. Tod Nielsen 46 Co-President, Application Platform

Mark S. Peek 54  Chief Financial Officer and Co-President, Busin@g&rations

S. Dawn Smith 48 Senior Vice President, General Counsel, Chief C@anpé
Officer and Secretary

Betsy B. Sutter 51 Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Paul A. Maritz has been Chief Executive Officer and Director of Wate since July 2008. Mr. Maritz also served as \édviis President
from July 2008 to January 2011. Prior to joining Whte, he served as President, Cloud InfrastruetndeServices Division of EMC,
VMware's parent company and controlling stockholdér. Maritz joined EMC in February 2008 when EMEnaired Pi Corporation (“Pi”),
which he had founded in 2003 and where he serv&E&s Pi was a software company focused on buildiagd-based solutions. Prior to
founding Pi, he spent 14 years working at Micro§itporation, where he served as a member of Yieepierson Executive Committee that
managed the overall company prior to his retirenme@000. He also serves as Chairman of the BofatldeodGrameen Foundation, which
supports microfinance around the world.

Carl M. Eschenbachwas appointed Co-President, Customer Operatiofd/hfare in January 2011. Mr. Eschenbach served asvaid’s
Executive Vice President of Worldwide Field Opevati from May 2005 to January 2011. Prior to joinifigware in 2002, he was Vice
President of North America Sales at Inktomi fron®@@®@o 2002. He also held various sales managenositigns with 3Com Corporation,
Lucent Technologies Inc. and EMC.

T. Tod Nielsenwas appointed Co-President, Application Platfornvbfware in January 2011. Mr. Nielsen served as VikeiaChief
Operating Officer from January 2009 to January 2@%ibr to joining VMware, he served as Presidemt @hief Executive Officer of Borland
Software Corporation, an enterprise software compam November 2005 to December 2008. From J@#520 November 2005,

Mr. Nielsen served as Senior Vice President, Mamgeaind Global Sales Support for Oracle Corporatioom August 2001 to August 2004,
served in various positions at BEA Systems, Imzluding Chief Marketing Officer and Executive ViBeesident, Engineering. Mr. Nielsen
also spent 12 years with Microsoft in various rplasluding General Manager of Database and Deeel®pols, Vice President of Developer
Tools, and at the time of his departure, Vice Riersi of Microsoft’s platform group.

Mark S. Peekwas appointed Chief Financial Officer and Co-PresidBusiness Operations of VMware in January 208r1 Peek served
as VMware’s Chief Financial Officer from April 2003 January 2011. Prior to joining VMware, he sdras Senior Vice President and Chief
Accounting Officer of Amazon.com, Inc. from July@Dto April 2007. Prior to joining Amazon.com in @000, Mr. Peek spent 19 years at
Deloitte & Touche, the last ten years as a parierPeek serves as a director of Trimble Navigatidd., a maker of positioning product
solutions.

S. Dawn Smithhas been the Senior Vice President, General Coansebecretary at VMware since September 2009 aief C
Compliance Officer since August 2010. Prior to jpgnVMware, she was a partner at Morrison & FoerktdéP, a law firm, since January 2008
and served as an attorney since 2005. Prior tingikorrison & Foerster LLP, she was an attorneWison Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati P.C.

Betsy B. Sutterwas appointed VMware’s Senior Vice President, HulRasources in July 2009. Ms. Sutter previously egias
VMware’s Vice President, Human Resources from Jan@01 through July 2009. Prior to joining VMwaMs. Sutter was Vice President,
Human Resources at Silicon Gaming from 1997 thrd®@/0 and served in human resources managemeidgit! Equipment Corporation
from 1989 to 1997.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
Our Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per slia@es on the New York Stock Exchange underyheésl VMW.

The following table sets forth the range of higld &mw sales prices of our Class A common stockhenNew York Stock Exchange for the
past two years during the fiscal periods shown. Class B common stock is not publicly traded.

Market Prices

High Low
Year ended December 31, 2011
First Quarter $ 97.61 $ 74.0¢
Second Quarter 102.7¢ 77.7¢€
Third Quarter 111.4: 76.7(
Fourth Quarter 104.3¢ 74.6¢
Year ended December 31, 2010
First Quarter $ 54.9¢ $ 41.0¢
Second Quarter 73.1(C 51.2:%
Third Quarter 89.1¢ 61.1%
Fourth Quarter 91.9¢ 71.0¢
Holders

We had 83 holders of record of our Class A commoaoks and one holder of record, EMC CorporationM®&’), of our Class B common
stock as of February 17, 2012.

Dividends

Subsequent to our initial public offering in Aug2§t07, we have not declared or paid cash dividendsur common stock. We currently
do not anticipate declaring any cash dividendfienforeseeable future. Any future determinatioddolare cash dividends will be made at the
discretion of our board of directors, subject te tionsent of the holders of our Class B commorkgtacsuant to our certificate of
incorporation. Holders of our Class A common staokl our Class B common stock will share equally @er share basis in any dividend
declared on our common stock by our board of dirsct

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Issuer purchases of Class A common stock duringtlaeter ended December 31, 2011:

Total Number of Approximate Dollar Value
Shares Purchased of Shares That May Yet Be
Total Number as Part of Publicly Purchased Under the Publicly
of Shares Average Price Announced Plans or Announced Plans or Programs
Purchased Y® Paid Per Share V@ Programs @ 2)(3)4)
October 1 — October 31, 2011 656,88! $ 82.8¢ 415,55 $ 85,374,64
November 1 — November 30, 2011 143,20( 92.8¢ — 85,374,64
December 1 — December 31, 2011 279,80( 90.4% = 85,374,64
1,079,88! 86.1¢ 415,55:

(1) Includes 664,333 shares purchased by EMC ém aparket transactions. In the three months endedivM31, 2010, EMC announced a
stock purchase program of VMwaseClass A common stock to maintain its approxinhatel of ownership in VMware over the long tel
Inclusion of EMC's purchases in the above tablesdua indicate that EMC is deemed to be an “aféliepurchaser” with respect to the
VMware stock repurchase program discussed in th@afimg footnote. Shares purchased by EMC remanés and outstanding.
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(2) In February 2011, a committee of our Boar®wectors authorized the repurchase of up to $560lidon of VMware's Class A common
stock through the end of 2012 (the “VMware 2011 Repase Authorization”). Stock has, and may infthiere be, purchased pursuant to
the VMware 2011 Repurchase Authorization, from timéme, in the open market or through privat@sections, subject to market
conditions. In the three months ended Decembe?@®11, we repurchased in open market transactioshsedimed 415,552 shares of our
Class A common stock at a weighted-average pri&84f90 per share for an aggregate purchase grik&@5a3 million. We are not
obligated to purchase any shares under our stgekekase program. Subject to applicable laws, myases under our stock repurchase
program may be made at such times and in such amasmwe deem appropriate. Purchases under olrrgjmaerchase program can be
discontinued at any time that we feel additionatchases are not warranted.

(3) Represents the amount remaining in the VMware Réyase Program as of the end of each m
(4) Amounts do not include potential purchases by E

Use of Proceeds

None.
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Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total $toicler return on our Class A common stock withdbmulative total return on the
S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500 Systems Softwarexifalethe period beginning on August 14, 2007 @aée our Class A common stock
commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchangeugh December 31, 2011, assuming an initial imrest of $100. While the IPO pri
of our common stock was $29.00 per share, the graphimes the initial value of our common stock agust 14, 2007 was the closing sales
price of $51.00 per share. Subsequent to our limtiblic offering in August 2007, we have not deethor paid cash dividends on our common
stock, while the data for the S&P 500 Index and3B# 500 Systems Software Index assume reinvestofelividends.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return
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* // “~~;ﬂ’
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/ N\ S
P " = A
$100 w— " S e
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8/14/07 12/31/07  12/31/08  12/31/09  12/31/10  12/31/11
+VVMware, Inc.
=S&P 500 Index
«S&P 500 Systems Software Index

period

8/14/07 12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2010 12/31/2011
VMware, Inc. $ 100.0C $ 166.6¢ $ 46.4¢ $ 83.1C $ 1743: 3 163.1:
S&P 500 Index 100.0( 103.8: 65.4: 82.7: 95.1¢ 97.2(
S&P 500 Systems Software Index 100.0( 121.8% 76.12 114.9¢ 120.5! 108.5:

Note: The stock price performance shown on thelgedqove is not necessarily indicative of future@iperformance. This graph shall not
be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of Exehange Act or otherwise subject to the lialgititof that section nor shall it be deemed
incorporated by reference in any filing under tlee@Bities Act or the Exchange Act, regardless gfgeneral incorporation language in such
filing.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIVE-YEAR SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Summary of Operations:
Revenues:
License $ 184116 $ 1,40142. $ 1,02944. $ 117814 $ 905,36¢
Services 1,925,92 1,455,91! 994,49! 702,88! 420,44
Total revenues $ 3,767,090 $ 2,857,34. $ 2,02393 $ 1,881,027 $ 1,325,81
Operating income $ 735,17 $ 427,990 $ 219,29¢ % 312,52 $ 235,34:
Net income 723,93t 357,43¢ 197,09¢ 290,13: 218,13
Net income per weighted average share, b
for Class A and Class B $ 172 $ 087 $ 05C % 0.7t % 0.62
Net income per weighted average share,
diluted, for Class A and Class B $ 166 $ 0.8/ $ 0.4¢ % 0.7z % 0.61
Weighted average shares, basic, for Class A
and Class B 421,18¢ 409,80¢ 394,26¢ 385,06¢ 350,49:
Weighted average shares, diluted, for Clas
and Class B 431,75( 423,44¢ 399,77t 397,18! 359,18
December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

@) 4512200 $ 3,323,641 $ 251382 $ 1,840,811 1,231,16!
Working capital®) 3,276,26! 2,508,50: 1,888,43 1,510,33: 935,16:
Total asset§’ 8,680,80: 6,797,31! 5,066,98. 3,839,20! 2,695,701
Long-term obligation&’ 450,00( 450,00( 450,00( 450,00( 450,00(
Stockholders’ equit{?® 4,770,28; 3,808,44. 2,742,95 2,070,06 1,340,61
Cash Flow Data:

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 202563 $ 117438 $ 985,61t $ 800,13: $ 552,43t
Free cash flow® 1,946,04 1,202,00: 839,84« 603,41 235,74.

(1) In August 2007, we completed our IPO in whigh sold 37,950,000 shares (including 4,950,000eshpursuant to the underwriters’ full
exercise of their over-allotment option) of our €& common stock at a price to the public of $2%6r share. The net proceeds to us
were $1,035.2 million. Subsequent to receivinggfeceeds, we purchased our new headquartersitsciiiom EMC for $132.6 million,
which is equal to the cost expended by EMC thrahghdate of purchase. We also repaid $350.0 mitiigorincipal on the note payable to
EMC. Also in August 2007, we sold 9,500,000 shafesur Class A common stock to Intel Capital at $23per share. The net proceed
us from that transaction were $218.3 million. Réfeltem 8 in Part Il of our Annual Report on Foi®+K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007 for additional information.

(2) In April 2007, we declared an $800.0 millionidend to EMC paid in the form of a note. Subsedue receiving the proceeds from the
IPO in August 2007, we repaid $350.0 million ofnmipal on the note.

(3) Free cash flows, a non-GAAP financial measisréefined as net cash provided by operating iietsvplus the excess tax benefits from
stockbased compensation, less capital expendituresapithtized software development costs. Each adigétem is separately presen
on our consolidated statements of cash flows. ®ee T of Part Il, “Management’s Discussion and Asml of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial Measufes’further information.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fitedr@ondition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”)@lid be read in conjunction
with our annual consolidated financial statements @otes thereto which appear elsewhere in thisiAhReport on Form 10-K.

All dollar amounts expressed as numbers in this MO(&xcept share and per share amounts) are iromslli

Overview

Our primary source of revenues is the licensingifialization and virtualization-based cloud irdraicture solutions and related support
and services for use by businesses and organigatfaall sizes and across humerous industriesein ihformation technology (“IT”)
infrastructure.

We have developed a multi-channel distribution nhéalexpand our global presence and to reach vaisegments of the industry. In
2011, we derived over 85% of our sales from ounakpartners, which include distributors, ressllsystem vendors and systems integrators.
Sales to our channel partners often involve thisxs tf distribution: a distributor, a reseller aamdend-user customer. Our sales force works
collaboratively with our channel partners to intiod them to customers and new sales opportuniteesie expand geographically, we expect
to continue to add additional channel partners.

Although we believe we are currently the leadingvier of virtualization infrastructure softwaresions, we face competitive threats to
our leadership position from a number of comparseme of which have significantly greater resoutbes we do, which could result in
increased pressure to reduce prices on our offerifvg a result, we believe it is important to coné to invest in strategic initiatives related to
product research and development, market expaasidrmssociated support functions to expand ousinglieadership. We believe that we
will be able to continue to meet our product depetent objectives through continued investment inexisting infrastructure, supplemented
with strategic hires and acquisitions, funded tiglothe operating cash flows generated from thecfaber products and services. We believe
this is the appropriate priority for the long-teh@alth and growth of our business.

We expect to grow our business by broadening atwalization infrastructure software solutions teslogy and product portfolio,
increasing product awareness, promoting the adopfiwirtualization and building long-term relat&hrips with our customers through the
adoption of enterprise license agreements (“ELASI)ce the introduction of VMware vSphere in 2088, have introduced more products that
build on the vSphere foundation, including VMwaf&phere 5 and a comprehensive suite of cloud iméretstre technologies, as well as
VMware View 5. We plan to continue to introduce giddal products in the future. We have made, axpket to continue to make, acquisitit
designed to strengthen our product offerings oemkiour strategy to deliver solutions that can dmtdd at customer data centers or at service
providers.

Our current financial focus is on long-term reveguewth to generate free cash flows to fund ouraesion of industry segment share and
to evolve our virtualization-based products forade¢nters, desktop computers and cloud computiogigin a combination of internal
development and acquisitions. See “Non-GAAP Firgrdieasures” for further information on free cakiwf. In evaluating our results, we
also focus on operating margin excluding certaipesses which are included in our total operatireeses calculated in accordance with
GAAP. The expenses excluded are stbaked compensation, the net effect of the amaddizaind capitalization of software development g
and certain other expenses consisting of emplogsrofl taxes on employee stock transactions, amatitin of intangible assets and
acquisition-related items. We believe this measeflects our ongoing business in a manner thawallmeaningful period-to-period
comparisons. We are not currently focused on dleont-operating margin expansion, but rather onsting at appropriate rates to support our
growth and future product offerings in what mayabsubstantially more competitive environment.

Although our customers continue to adopt our proglatform as a strategic investment that impraeféisiency and flexibility for their
business and enables substantial cost savinggmam cautious about the macroeconomic environniémt.volatility we are observing in bc
the world economy and individual sovereign natioreg/ impact IT spending and demand for our prodatsservices in 2012. We expect to
continue to manage our resources prudently, whilking key investments in support of our long-temovgh objectives.

Income Statement Presentation

As we operate our business in one operating segmentevenues and operating expenses are presamdatiscussed at the consolidated
level.

As a consequence of the timing differences in goegnition of license revenues and software maamtea revenues, variability in
operating margin can result from differences betwehen we quote and contract for our services dmehvthe cost is incurred. Variability in
operating margin can also result when we recogmieeiously unearned foreign denominated
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software maintenance and license revenues in fpienieds. Due to our use of the U.S. Dollar asfooctional currency, unearned revenue
remains at its historical rate when recognized ieieenue while our operating expenses in futuregsrare based upon the foreign exchange
rates at that time.

Sources of Revenue
License revenues

Our license revenues consist of revenues earnettfre licensing of our software products. Theselpets are generally licensed on a
perpetual basis. License revenues are recognized thie elements of revenue recognition for thenBee software are complete, generally
upon electronic shipment of the software. The reesrallocated to the software license includeduitipie-element contracts represent the
residual amount of the contract after the fair eadfithe other elements has been determined. Wbitee of our products are licensed on a
subscription basis, subscription license revenuesiat a material part of our business.

Pricing models have generally been based uponhysiqal infrastructure, such as the number of ptajsdesktop computers or server
processors, on which our software runs. We haventgcbegun to base pricing for some of our progloct virtual, rather than purely physical,
entitlements, while continuing to license such picid on a perpetual basis. We believe that thisprésing model better aligns with the shifi
virtual and cloud-based IT environments by enabtingtomers to align cost with actual use and vdereased, rather than purely with hardware
configurations and capacity. Effective in the thguarter of 2010, we began pricing certain of oanagement solutions on a per-virtual-
machine basis. In the third quarter of 2011, wésexV/the pricing model for VMware vSphere 5 effeetith its general availability. VMware
vSphere 5 will continue to be licensed perpetualiya per-processor basis. The two physical coms$ratore and physical RAM, have been
eliminated, however, and replaced with a singlaualization-based entitlement of virtual memoryy®AM, which can be shared across a
large pool of servers.

Softwar e maintenance revenues

Software maintenance revenues are recognized yatabl the contract period. Our contract periogsdsily range from one to five years
and include renewals of software maintenance dtdd e initial software maintenance period expiféendor-specific objective evidence
(“VSOE") of fair value for software maintenance\gees is established by the rates charged in stdortk sales of software maintenance
contracts. Customers receive various types of ieahsupport based on the level of support purathaSestomers who are party to software
maintenance agreements with us are entitled tovepeoduct updates and upgrades on a when-andaifadle basis.

Professional services revenues

Professional services include solution design, @nm@ntation and training. Professional servicesateonsidered essential to the
functionality of our products, as these servicesdbalter the product capabilities and may begeeréd by our customers or by other vendors.
Professional services engagements performed figed fee, for which we are able to make reasondbpjendable estimates of progress toward
completion, are recognized on a proportional perforce basis based on hours incurred and estimated of completion. Professional
services engagements that are on a time and niateaisis are recognized based on hours incurreceriRes on all other professional services
engagements are recognized upon completion. Ofegwional services may be sold with software prtglacon a stand-alone basis. VSOE of
fair value for professional services is based uperstandard rates we charge for such services sdidrseparately.

Operating Expenses
Cost of license revenues

Our cost of license revenues principally consighefamortization of capitalized software developtremsts and of intangibles, as well as
royalty costs in connection with technology liceshée®m third-party providers and the cost of fuiffient of our software. The cost of
fulfillment of our software includes product packag personnel costs and related overhead assdaidtie the physical and electronic delive
of our software products.

Cost of services revenues

Our cost of services revenues include the cospersfonnel and related overhead to deliver techsigaport for our products and to proy
our professional services.

Research and devel opment expenses

Our research and development (“R&D”) expenses teline personnel and related overhead associatedhei R&D of new product
offerings and the enhancement of our existing sai@vofferings, net of amounts capitalized.
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Sales and marketing expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses include personetd, sales commissions and related overheadiatgsbwith the sale and marketing
of our license and services offerings, as welhascost of product launches and certain marketiitigfives, including our annual VMworld
conferences in the U.S. and Europe. Sales commissiee generally earned and expensed when a fiter & received from the customer and
may be expensed in a period other than the pemi@hich the related revenue is recognized.

General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses includeopeel and related overhead costs to support thalbbusiness. These expenses
include the costs associated with our facilitiésaice, human resources, IT infrastructure and bggartments, as well as expenses related to
corporate costs and initiatives.

Results of Operations
Revenues

Our revenues in the years ended 2011 , 2010 ar@l\28fk as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31, % Change
2011 2010 2009 2011 vs. 2010 2010 vs. 2009
Revenues:
License $ 1,841.. $ 1,401.c $ 1,029.. 31% 36%
Services:
Software maintenance 1,640.¢ 1,217.( 823.¢ 35 48
Professional services 285.t 238.¢ 170.% 20 40
Total services 1,925.¢ 1,455.¢ 994.t 32 46
$ 3,767.. $ 2,857.0 % 2,023.¢ 32 41
Revenues:
United States $ 1,824 $ 1,452 $ 1,039.( 26% 40%
International 1,942.¢ 1,404.¢ 984.¢ 38 43
$ 3,767.. $ 2,857.0 $ 2,023.¢ 32 41

Total revenues were $3,767.1 in 2011 , $2,857210 and $2,023.9 in 2009 , representing year-ggar-increases of $909.8 or 32% in
2011 and $833.4 or 41% in 2010 .

In both 2011 and 2010, we saw growth in licensesardices revenues, and growth in the United Statdgnternationally, as compared
with their respective prior years.

License Revenues

Software license revenues were $1,841.2 in 2011408.4 in 2010 and $1,029.4 in 2009 , represeftipgar-over-year increase of $439.7
or 31% in 2011 and a year-over-year increase o2 $83r 36% in 2010 . License revenues benefit2Ditl primarily due to strong global
demand for vSphere and continued growing interestir end-user computing and management solutinrZ)10 as compared with 2009,
license revenues benefited from the improving me@paomic environment, resulting in strong custodenand for the vSphere platform and
growing interest in our end-user computing and rgangnt solutions.

We have promoted the adoption of virtualization aodt long-term relationships with our customersough the adoption of ELAs. ELAS
continue to be an important component of our reeegrowth and are offered both directly by us amdugh certain channel partners. ELAs
a core element to our strategy to build long-teefationships with customers as they commit to ddualization infrastructure software
solutions in their data centers. ELAs provide aelfasm which to sell additional products, such asapplication platform products, our end-
user computing products and our cloud infrastrecand management products. Under a typical ELAyragn of the revenues is attributed to
the license and recognized immediately and the iredeais deferred and primarily recognized as safenmaintenance revenues in future
periods. In addition, ELAs typically include antiai maintenance period that is longer than otiipes of license sales.

In 2011, we observed an increase in the volumaipEb As as compared with 2010 due to growing custoimterest, as well as strong
renewals from existing ELA customers. In 2010, Wwseyved an increase in the volume of our ELAs aspesed with 2009 due in part to
growing international customer interest as wellhesimproved economic environment. In addition2@11 and 2010, a large number of
customers included additional license purchasds théir ELA renewals, which
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had an average maintenance term of three yearewRehnELAS typically include additional products ammyrades, as well expanded use of
originally purchased products within the customen'gironment, as compared with the initial ELA.

Services Revenues

Services revenues were $1,925.9 in 2011, $1,46%2010 and $994.5 in 2009 , representing a year-gear increase of $470.0 or 3296
2011 and $461.4 or 46% in 2010 . The increaseririces revenues during 2011 and 2010 was primatiljbutable to growth in our software
maintenance revenues.

Software maintenance revenues were $1,640.4 in 2$1,217.0 in 2010 and $823.8 in 2009 , represgrdiyear-over-year increase of
$423.3 or 35% in 2011 and $393.3 or 48% in 20102011 and 2010, software maintenance revenuediteehgom strong renewals, multi-
year software maintenance contracts sold in previmsiods, and additional maintenance contractsisatonjunction with new softwai
license sales. In 2011, 2010, and 2009, custonwarght, on average, more than 24 months of suppdrtreaintenance with each new license
purchased, which we believe illustrates our custshemmmitment to VMware as a core element of theita center architecture and hybrid
cloud strategy.

Professional services revenues were $285.5 in 26238.9 in 2010 and $170.7 in 2009 , represergipgar-over-year increase of $46r7
20% in 2011 and $68.2 or 40% in 2010 . In 201120610, professional services revenues increaserbadlyin our license sales and installed-
base led to additional demand for our professisaalices. As we continue to invest in our part@erd expand our ecosystem of third-party
professionals with expertise in our solutions tdeipendently provide professional services to ostaruers, we do not expect our professional
services revenues to constitute an increasing coergaf our revenue mix. As a result of this sggfeur professional services revenue can
vary based on the delivery channels used in amngperiod as well as the timing of engagements.

Revenue Growth in Constant Currency

We have invoiced and collected in the Euro, théi®riPound, the Japanese Yen and the AustralialaDioltheir respective regions since
May 2009. As a result, our total revenues are tdtbby changes in the value of the U.S. Dollar @gtahese currencies. In order to provide a
comparable framework for assessing how our busipegsrmed excluding the effect of foreign curreffiegtuations, management analyzes
yea-over-year revenue growth on a constant currensisb&ince we operate with the U.S. Dollar as aacfional currency, unearned
revenues for orders booked in currencies other th&n Dollars are converted into U.S. Dollars & ¢ixchange rate in effect for the month in
which each order is booked. We calculate constaméency on license revenues recognized during theiat period that were originally
booked in currencies other than U.S. Dollars by garnmg the exchange rates used to recognize reveribe current period against the
exchange rates used to recognize revenue in thparaivie period. We do not calculate constant cagrem services revenues, which include
software maintenance revenues and professiondtesrmevenues.

In 2011, the year-over-year growth in license remesnmeasured on a constant currency basis was @@aced with 31% as reported.
The year-over-year growth in total revenues in 20iEhsured on a constant currency basis was 31%arethwith 32%as reported. Given th
we began to invoice and collect in currencies othan the U.S. Dollar during the second quarte2Qif9, we are not able to calculate a full
year-over-year impact of foreign currency fluctuatiarsour revenues for 2010 as compared with 2009.

Unearned Revenues

Our unearned revenues as of December 31, 2011CdridvZere as follows:

December 31,

2011 2010
Unearned license revenues $ 389.2 $ 267.1
Unearned software maintenance revenues 2,133.t 1,461.:
Unearned professional services revenues 185.7 131.5
Total unearned revenues $ 2,708..  § 1,860.:

The complexity of our unearned revenues has inetkager time as a result of acquisitions, an expdmutoduct portfolio and a broader
range of pricing and packaging alternatives. ABe€ember 31, 2011 , total unearned revenues irenldas$848.3 or 46% to $2,708.4 from
$1,860.1 at December 31, 2010 . This increase vamply due to growth in unearned software maiatee revenues, attributable to our
growing base of maintenance contracts.

Unearned license revenues are recognized eitradylyatr upon the delivery of existing products et products or services. Future
products include, in some cases, emerging prodiatsare offered as part of product promotions whke purchaser of an existing product is
entitled to receive a promotional product at noitaital charge. We regularly offer product promoticas a strategy to improve awareness of
our emerging products. To the extent promotionatipcts have not been
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delivered and VSOE of fair value cannot be esthblis the revenue for the entire order is deferred such time as all product delivery
obligations have been fulfilled. Unearned licersseenue may also be recognized ratably, which igigdly due to a right to receive unspeci
future products or a lack of VSOE of fair valuetbe software maintenance element of the arrangerbeetirned software maintenance
revenues are recognized ratably over terms fromofiee years with a weighted-average remainimmtat December 31, 2011 of
approximately 1.9 years. Unearned professionaisesvevenues result primarily from prepaid prafasal services, including training, and
generally recognized as the services are delivékedbelieve our overall unearned revenue balanpeawnes predictability of future revenues
and that it is a key indicator of the health anoMgh of our business.

Operating Expenses

Information about our operating expenses in thesyeaded 2011 , 2010 and 2009 is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

Capitalized
Core Software Other Total
Operating Stock-Based Development Operating Operating
Expenses? Compensation Costs, net Expenses Expenses
Cost of license revenue $ 74¢ % 1€ $ 84.7 $ 46.2 % 207.¢
Cost of services revenue 384.¢ 23.2 — 6.3 414.¢
Research and development 661.¢ 174.: (74.0 12.¢ 775.1
Sales and marketing 1,222.¢ 95.% — 15.¢ 1,334.
General and administrative 256.2 40.2 — 4.1 300.t
Total operating expenses $ 2,600.0 $ 3352 % 107 $ 85.5 % 3,031.¢
Operating income $ 735.2
Operating margin 19.5%
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010
Capitalized
Core Software Other Total
Operating Stock-Based Development Operating Operating
Expenses? Compensation Costs, net Expenses Expenses
Cost of license revenue $ 524 $ 1.7 % 99t $ 23¢ % 177.5
Cost of services revenue 292.: 18.F — 5.E 316.%
Research and development 537.¢ 164.< (60.7) 11t 653.(
Sales and marketing 931.7 73.1 — 8.t 1,013.C
General and administrative 230.1 34.C — 5.2 269.:
Total operating expenses $ 2,044 % 2917 % 38.6 $ 54¢ $ 2,429..
Operating income $ 428.(
Operating margin 15.(%
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009
Capitalized
Core Software Other Total
Operating Stock-Based Development Operating Operating
Expenseg? Compensation Costs, net Expenses Expenses
Cost of license revenue $ 30.6 $ 13 % 82¢ $ 119 % 126.7
Cost of services revenue 217.7 14.¢ — 0.4 233.(
Research and development 441.¢ 121.¢ (68.€) 1.8 496.¢
Sales and marketing 675.5 58.€ — 2.3 736.4
General and administrative 174.€ 34.€ — 2.4 211.¢
Total operating expenses $ 1,540.: $ 231t % 14: % 18 $ 1,804.¢
Operating income $ 219.:

Operating margin 10.8%
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(1) Core operating expenses is a non-GAAP finamegasure that excludes stock-based compensatiemet effect of the amortization and
capitalization of software development costs arthaeother expenses from our total operating espertalculated in accordance with
GAAP. The other expenses excluded are employeiopdgres on employee stock transactions, amoriaaif acquired intangible assets
and acquisition-related items. See “Non-GAAP Finalndeasures” below for further information.

Operating margins increased from 15.0% in 20100t6% in 2011 and increased from 10.8% in 2009 t60%5n 2010 . The increases in
our operating margins in 2011 and 2010 comparekl thiir respective prior years primarily relatedhe increases in our revenues, which
outpaced the increases in our expenses. In evaduatir results, we focus on core operating expengeselieve that our core operating
expenses reflect our business in a manner thataloeaningful period-to-period comparisons. Oueaperating expenses are reconciled to
the most comparable GAAP measure, “total operakmgenses,” in the table above.

Core Operating Expenses

The following discussion of our core operating enges and the components comprising our core opgrexipenses highlights the factors
that we focus on when evaluating our operating maxgd operating expenses. The increases or desr@asperating expenses discussed in
this section do not include changes relating tolsttased compensation, the net effect of the aradivin and capitalization of software
development costs and certain other expenses, wbitsist of employer payroll taxes on employeelstransactions, amortization of acquired
intangible assets and acquisition-related items.

Core operating expenses increased by $556.4 ori22%l1 compared with 2010 and by $504.1 or 3320ib0 compared with 2009 . As
guantified below, these increases were primarily tuincreases in employee-related expenses, wittdde salaries and benefits, bonuses,
commissions, and recruiting and training. The iases in employee-related expenses for both peneds largely a result of an increase in
headcount of over 2,000 employees during 2011edrby strategic hiring, business growth and busiaeguisitions. A portion of our core
operating expenses, primarily the cost of persotmdeliver technical support on our products aralgssional services, marketing, and
research and development, are denominated in foreigencies, and are thus exposed to foreign exgeheate fluctuations. Core operating
expenses were negatively impacted by $48.2 in 20itiby $4.1 in 2010 , as compared with their repeprior years, due to the effect of
fluctuations in the exchange rates between the DoBar and foreign currencies.

Cost of License Revenues

Core operating expenses in cost of license revengesased by $22.4 or 43% in 2011 compared witt02ihd by $21.6 or 70% in 2010
compared with 2009. The increases were primarily tduncreases of $11.3 and $19.2, respectivelygyalty and licensing costs for
technology licensed from third-party providers tisatised in our products. Additionally, cost oflirse revenues increased by $7.6 in 2011 for
IT development costs.

Cost of Services Revenues

Core operating expenses in cost of services rewengesased by $92.5 or 32% in 2011 compared viiffd2and by $74.6 or 34% in 2010
compared with 2009. The increase in 2011 was piiyndwe to growth in employee-related expensesd®&.$, which was largely driven by
incremental growth in headcount, as well as are@se in expenses of $16.2 for IT development cAsiditionally, our thirdparty profession:
services costs increased by $13.1 to provide teahsupport and professional services primarilgannection with increased services
revenues. Fluctuations in the exchange rate betttwed.S. Dollar and foreign currencies also couotied $9.4 to the overall increase in costs
of services revenues. The increase in 2010 wasapfindue to growth in employee-related expenseB4df. 1, which was largely driven by
incremental growth in headcount, as well as areim®e in third-party professional services cos®&l8f1 to provide professional services and
training, primarily associated with increased segsirevenues.

Research and Devel opment Expenses

Core operating expenses for R&D increased by $1@428% in 2011 compared with 2010 and by $96.2286 in 2010 compared with
2009. The increases in 2011 and 2010 were primdué/to growth in employee-related expenses oft88d $80.3, respectively, which were
primarily driven by incremental growth in headcaunt

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Core operating expenses for sales and marketimgased by $291.2 or 31% in 2011 compared with 20tDby $256.2 or 38% in 2010
compared with 2009. The increase in 2011 was piiyndwe to growth in employee-related expensesl@iB$s, driven by incremental growth
in headcount and by higher commission expensedlieteased sales volumes. Additionally, the coktearketing programs increased by
$33.3 and travel and entertainment expense inaldas818.0 in support of our expanding markets saids efforts. The negative impact of
$30.5 from fluctuations in the exchange rate betwtbe U.S. Dollar and foreign currencies furthemtabuted to the increase. The increase in
2010 was primarily due to
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growth in employee-related expenses of $159.3 drieincremental headcount from strategic hirind basiness acquisitions as well as by
higher commission expense due to increased salesies. In support of our expanding markets andssaferts, the costs of marketing
programs increased by $36.9, and travel and eirtarémt expense increased by $19.9. We also incaddiional expenses of $20.6 for IT
infrastructure development to support revenue dnpag well as consulting projects.

General and Administrative Expenses

Core operating expenses for general and administraicreased by $26.1 or 11% in 2011 compared 2000 and by $55.5 or 32% in
2010 compared with 2009. The increase in 2011 wiasapily due to an increase of $27.5 related to leyge-related expenses primarily due to
incremental growth in headcount. The increase tD20as primarily due to an increase of $21.2 relébecorporate expenses, including
contributions to our charitable foundation and Idgas. Also contributing to the increase in exmsnis 2010 was depreciation and equipment
expenses of $11.3 and employee-related expen$dHd due to the incremental growth in headcount.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Stock-based compensation, excluding amounts cexgital $ 3352 % 2917 % 231t
Stock-based compensation capitalized 12.4 10.€ 14.¢
Stock-based compensation, including amounts casthl $ 347.¢ $ 302.¢ $ 246.4

Stock-based compensation expense was $347.6 in,ZB0P.6 in 2010 and $246.4 in 2009 , represent@ay-over-year increases $45.C
and $56.2 , respectively. The increase in stockedasmpensation expense in 2011 over 2010 was pigrdae to an increase of $74.3 from
new awards issued to our existing employees bathersecond half of 2010 and the second quart2ddt, as well as an increase of $32.9 for
awards made to new employees. These increasepamially offset by a decrease of $71.7 primaréiated to fully vested grants. The
increase in stock-based compensation expense lM@&@&r 2009 was primarily due to an increase of $2& grants made to new employees in
2010, an increase of $28.2 from new awards madertexisting employees, and an increase of $20r8 fquity awards issued in connection
with the acquisition of SpringSource late in thedlguarter of 2009. These increases were offspaihby a decrease of $20.8 primarily related
to fully vested grants.

Stock-based compensation is recorded to each apgtpense category based upon the function ofitiig@loyee to whom the stock-
based compensation relates and fluctuates basedthpealue and number of awards granted. Compgengattilosophy varies by function,
resulting in different weightings of cash incentiweersus equity incentives. As a result, functiwitl larger cash-based components, such as
sales commissions, will have comparatively lowecktbased compensation expense than other functions

As of December 31, 2011, the total unamortizedvfaiue of our outstanding equity-based awards hgldur employees was
approximately $622.9 and is expected to be recegniwer a weighted-average period of approximdtedyyears.

Capitalized Software Development Costs, Net

Development costs of software to be sold, leasedtherwise marketed are subject to capitalizabieginning when the product's
technological feasibility has been establishedemding when the product is available for generalase. Judgment is required in determining
when technological feasibility is established asdar business, products and go-to-market strdiagg evolved, we have continued to
evaluate when technological feasibility is estdi#is. Following the release of vSphere 5 and thepcehensive suite of cloud infrastructure
technologies in the third quarter of 2011, we duateed that VMware's go-torarket strategy had changed from single solutiongaduct suitt
solutions. As a result of this change in stratemg the related increased importance of interoji@yalbbetween our products, the length of time
between achieving technological feasibility andegahrelease to customers significantly decreasedfuture releases, we expect our products
to be available for general release soon aftemi@oygical feasibility has been established. Giveat tve expect the majority of our product
offerings to be suites or to have key componerasititeroperate with our other product offerindpg tosts incurred subsequent to achievemen
of technological feasibility are expected to be iatenial in future periods. In the fourth quarte26fL1, all software development costs were
expensed as incurred.

Our R&D expenses and amounts that we have cagithfis software development costs may not be colvlpaour peer companies due
to differences in judgment as to when technolodieasibility has been reached or differences igioent regarding when the product is
available for general release. Additionally, futafenges in our judgment as to when technologéasibility is established, or additional
changes in our business, including our go-to-mastategy, could materially impact the amount aftsaapitalized. For example, if the length
of time between technological feasibility and gahawvailability was to increase again in the futuhe amount of capitalized costs would lik
increase.
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In 2011, 2010 and 2009, we capitalized $86.4 (idiclg $12.4 of stock-based compensation), $71.6u@meg $10.9 of stock-based
compensation) and $83.5 (including $14.9 of stoakeldl compensation), respectively, of costs incdoethe development of software
products. These amounts have been excluded from &§Ense on our accompanying consolidated statsméiricome. Capitalized software
development costs increased by $14.7 in 2011 apaad with 2010 primarily due to an increase of.83ar the development of VMware
vSphere 5 year-over-year, which was partially dffsea decrease of $39.7 due to the timing of wdertain products, including prior versions
of vSphere, reached technological feasibility. Thange in our go-to-market strategy and resultegyease in the length of time between
technological feasibility of our products and tleelthose products are available for general releasustomers did not materially impact the
amount of software development costs we capitalizeétD11. Capitalized software development costsetesed by $10.1 in 2010 as compared
with 2009 primarily due to the timing of when pratisireached technological feasibility. In futureipds, we expect our software development
costs to be recorded as R&D expense as incurretbdhe aforementioned change in our go-to-markatesyy.

In 2011, 2010 and 2009 , amortization expense frapitalized software development costs were $8890.5 and $82.9 , respectively.
These amounts are included in cost of license ®nn our accompanying consolidated statementeofe. The decrease in amortizatio
software development costs of $14.8 in 2011 as emetpwith 2010 was primarily due to a net decred$25.6 related to the amortization of
prior versions of vSphere, which was partially effby an increase of $16.0 related to the genelehse of VMware vSphere 5.0 in the second
half of 2011. The increase in the amortizationaffweare development costs of $16.6 in 2010 compweiidd 2009 was primarily due to the
general release of VMware vSphere 4.0 in the seqoiader of 2009 and the subsequent release dbmetsl in the third quarter of 2010. This
resulted in an increase in amortization of $36.2000 as compared with 2009 that was partiallyetffsy $22.8 of amortization for certain
capitalized projects that were fully amortized ptmthe end of 2009. In future periods, we exmectamortization expense from capitalized
software development costs to decline as softwaveldpment costs are expected to be recorded asdxfbnse as incurred given our current
go-to-market strategy.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses consist of employer plagrobn employee stock transactions and intangiblertization, which are recorded to
each individual line of operating expense on owoatpanying consolidated statements of income. Aaditly, other operating expenses
include acquisition-related items, which are reedrtb general and administrative expense on ooniecstatement.

Other operating expenses were $85.3 in 2011 , $642610 and $18.6 in 2009 , representing an irsgred $30.7 in 2011 and an increase
of $35.9 in 2010. The increase in 2011 was primatile to additional intangible amortization of $%rimarily resulting from new
acquisitions, of which $22.3 was recorded to costense revenues on our income statement. T¢rease in 2010 was primarily due to
additional intangible amortization of $20.6, prifharesulting from new acquisitions, of which $12vhs recorded to costs of license revenues
on our income statement. Additionally, in 2010 réhevas an increase of $13.4 in employer payrokseon employee stock transactions, which
was driven by the increase in the market valueuofstock and the number of awards exercised, solésted.

Investment Income

Investment income increased by $9.5 to $16.2 il Z6dm $6.6 in 2010 and decreased by $1.6 to $62010 from $8.2 in 2009 .
Investment income primarily consists of intereshed on cash, cash equivalents and short-termtimess balances partially offset by the
amortization of premiums paid on fixed income sé#igs. Investment income increased in 2011 as coatpaith 2010 primarily due to an
increase in the average rate of interest earnexipportfolio as a result of our shift from a castd cash equivalents portfolio primarily
invested in money market funds to a shertn investment portfolio of fixed income secusti&/e began investing in fixed income securitie
the second quarter of 2010 in order to achievesiment returns in line with our objectives of pipat preservation and risk management.
Additionally, investment income increased in 201k ¢o increased cash equivalent and short-ternsiment balances available for
investment. The decrease in investment income 19 20mpared with 2009 was not material.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income, net of $47.0 in 2011 changed by $6%.2ompared with other expense, net of $14.2 19 2@ther expense, net of $14.2 in
2010 changed by $17.1 from other income, net d $22009 . The change in 2011 compared with 2048 primarily due to a $56.0 gain
recognized on the sale of our investment in Terrerid¢orldwide, Inc. in 2011. The change in 2010 cangol with 2009 was primarily due to
$8.2 of foreign exchange loss from the net impé&cinalerlying foreign currency exposure and foreigirency forward contracts, as well as a
gain of $5.9ecognized in 2009 from the remeasurement to fdirevof a previously held equity interest in SpBogrce in connection with o
acquisition of SpringSource.
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Income Tax Provisior

Our effective tax rate for 2011 was 8.9% as congpai¢h 14.2% for 2010 and 11.8% for 2009. The loe#ective tax rate in 2011 as
compared to 2010 was primarily attributable taa(favorable impact of 3.1% resulting from a shiftlhie mix of income before tax from the
U.S. to international jurisdictions primarily reof from how certain expenses are allocated tonmrtd-wide subsidiaries, (ii) a favorable
impact of 2.6% resulting from a decrease in unracgl tax positions relative to income before inediax primarily due to audit settlements,
and (iii) a favorable impact of 1.7% resulting fraie finalization of the 2010 tax returns relatecthanges in estimates in how certain expe
are allocated to our world-wide subsidiaries amtt@nge in estimate in the U.S. federal researchrtdit calculation. These favorable changes
were partially offset by an unfavorable impact &6 from a decrease in the U.S. state deferred set@due to a decrease in our future effe
state tax rate. The increase in effective taxt@tet.2% in 2010 from 11.8% in 2009 was primarityibutable to a jurisdictional shift of
income from lower-tax jurisdictions to the U.S.,islhwas partially offset by a decrease in unrecoegghitax positions relative to income before
income tax.

Our rate of taxation in foreign jurisdictions isder than the U.S. tax rate. Our international ineamprimarily earned by our subsidiaries
in Ireland, where the statutory tax rate is 12.5%. do not believe that any recent or currently etgrdevelopments in non-U.S. tax
jurisdictions are reasonably likely to have a matempact on our effective tax rate. As of Decem®g, 2011, our total cash, cash equivale
and short-term investments were $4,512.3 of whiz0#2.0 were held outside the U.S. If these overfigads are needed for our operations in
the U.S., we would be required to accrue and p&y tdxes on related undistributed earnings to rgpathese funds. However, our intent is to
indefinitely reinvest our non-U.S. earnings in faneign operations and our current plans do notatesirate a need to repatriate them to fund
our U.S. operations. We will meet our U.S. liquditeeds through ongoing cash flows generated fromJoS. operations, external borrowin
or both. We utilize a variety of tax planning aimtahcing strategies in an effort to ensure thatvearldwide cash is available in the locations in
which it is needed. All income earned abroad, ekfmppreviously taxed income for U.S. tax purpgsssonsidered indefinitely reinvested in
our foreign operations and no provision for U.&etahas been provided with respect thereto.

Our future effective tax rate may be affected bghsiactors as changes in tax laws, changes inwaginéss, regulations, or rates, changing
interpretation of existing laws or regulations, iimpact of accounting for stock-based compensatf@jmpact of accounting for business
combinations, changes in our international orgaipashifts in the amount of income before taxnearin the U.S. as compared with other
regions in the world, and changes in overall lee¢limcome before tax. The 2012 tax rate is expktdebe higher than the fiscal year 2011 tax
rate primarily due to the expectation that the amiad benefit related to unrecognized tax positiceisased during 2012 will be lower than the
amount released during 2011, relative to incomereahcome tax, and due to the expiration of tliefal R&D credit on December 31, 2011.
The effective tax rate for fiscal year 2012 is lshgpon the income for the year, the compositiothefincome in different countries, and
adjustments, if any, for the potential tax conseges related to the resolution of audits or chamgescertain tax positions. Our aggregate
income tax rate in foreign jurisdictions is lowbah our income tax rate in the United States.

Although we file a federal consolidated tax retuith EMC, we calculate our income tax provisionasatand-alone basis. Our effective
tax rate in the periods presented is the resuti@mix of income earned in various tax jurisdindhat apply a broad range of income tax r
The rate at which the provision for income taxesalkeulated differs from the U.S. federal statutmgome tax rate primarily due to different
tax rates in foreign jurisdictions where incomedned and considered to be indefinitely reinvested

We have been included in the EMC consolidated gfoup).S. federal income tax purposes, and exmecbhtinue to be included in such
consolidated group for periods in which EMC owngeast 80% of the total voting power and value wf autstanding stock as calculated for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. The percentagetiify power and value calculated for U.S. fedarabme tax purposes may differ from
percentage of outstanding shares beneficially oviayeMC due to the greater voting power of our €IBcommon stock as compared to our
Class A common stock and other factors. Each mewfeiconsolidated group during any part of a cbdated return year is jointly and
severally liable for tax on the consolidated retofisuch year and for any subsequently determiedididncy thereon. Should EMC's owners
fall below 80% of the total voting power or valuleonr outstanding stock in any period, then we wow longer be included in the EMC
consolidated group for U.S. federal income tax pags, and thus we would no longer be liable iretfent that any income tax liability was
incurred, but not discharged, by any other membéte@EMC consolidated group. Additionally, our Uf8deral income tax would be reported
separately from that of the EMC consolidated group.

Our Relationship with EMC

As of December 31, 2011 , EMC owned 37,642,000ezhaf Class A common stock and all 300,000,000eshair Class B common stock,
representing 79.7% of our total outstanding shafe®mmon stock and 97.286 the combined voting power of our outstanding oo stock

In April 2011, we acquired certain assets relatmgMC’s Mozy cloud-based data storage and datacssy, including
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certain data center assets and a license to camtallectual property, for approximately $8.0 . \AWleo entered into an operational support
agreement with EMC pursuant to which we took oesponsibility to operate the Mozy service on bebBEMC. We hired more than 300
Mozy employees and, pursuant to the support agneemmeasts incurred by us to support EMC’s Mozy g&y, plus a mark-up intended to
approximate third-party costs, are reimbursed tbyyMC. On the consolidated statements of incagueh amounts were approximat&39.0
in 2011, including a markup of $2.8 , and were rded as a reduction to the costs we incurred. Edt@ired ownership of the Mozy business
and its remaining assets. EMC continues to be respie to Mozy customers for Mozy products and ises; and continues to recognize
revenue from such products and services. As shehadsets acquired from EMC did not constitutesiness and were accounted for as an
asset purchase between entities under common tpntsuant to generally accepted accounting prlasipAccordingly, we included the
carrying value of the transferred assets as oflétte of transfer in our consolidated financialestagnts.

In April 2010, we acquired certain software prodiecthnology and expertise from EMC’s lonix IT maeamgnt business for cash
consideration of $175.0EMC retained the lonix brand and will continueoféer customers the products acquired by us, @unisto the ongoir
reseller agreement between EMC and us. During éhesyended December 31, 2011 and 2010 , $14.414n@ $respectively, of contingent
amounts were paid to EMC. These amounts were redasd equity transactions and were offsets toritialicapital contribution from EMC.
As of December 31, 2011, all contingent paymentieathe agreement had been made.

Pursuant to the ongoing reseller arrangement WMIC Ehat commenced in 2009, EMC bundles our prodastsservices with EMC’s
hardware and sells them to end users. In the yeaisd December 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , we reammbrevenues of $72.0 , $48.5 and
$14.1 , respectively, from products and servicés gorsuant to our reseller arrangement with EME€.oADecember 31, 2011 and 2010 ,
$105.6 and $29.0respectively, of revenues from products and sesssold under the reseller arrangement were iadlidunearned revenus

In the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 ar@l ,208 recognized professional services revenu8s®® , $60.6 and $25.2 ,
respectively, for services provided to EMC'’s custosnpursuant to our contractual agreements with EMQof December 31, 2011 and 2010,
$5.1 and $5.9 , respectively, of revenues fromgwsibnal services to EMC customers were includesh@arned revenues.

In the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 ar@ 208 recognized revenues of $3.2 , $6.1 and $%=€pectively, from server and
desktop products and services purchased by EM@temal use pursuant to our contractual agreemeithisEMC. As of December 31, 2011
and 2010, $23.4 and $19.3, respectively, of regerirom server and desktop products and servioehpsed by EMC for internal use were
included in unearned revenues.

We purchased storage systems and software, agsvetinsulting services, from EMC for $24.3 , $1#hd $9.7 in the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 , respectively.

In certain geographic regions where we do not laavestablished legal entity, we contract with EMiBssdiaries for support services and
EMC employees who are managed by our personnelcdsts incurred by EMC on our behalf related taéhemployees are passed on to us
and we are charged a marg-intended to approximate costs that would haes lwharged had we contracted for such servicesanitimrelate
third party. These costs are included as expensesriconsolidated statements of income and priynaélude salaries, benefits, travel and
rent. Additionally, from time to time, EMC incurertain administrative costs on our behalf in th&.Urhe total cost of the services provided to
us by EMC as described above was $82.6 , $66.4958d® in the years ended December 31, 2011 , 204 @@09 , respectively.

Pursuant to the tax sharing agreement, we have pwdeents to EMC and EMC has made payments tohesfallowing table
summarizes these payments made between us and BNM1@ the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 @d@t 2

For the Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Payments from VMware to EMC $ 121 $ 51 $ 14.2
Payments from EMC to VMware 314.C 2.5 107.€

Payments between us and EMC under the tax shagimegment primarily relate to our portion of feddredome taxes on EMC's
consolidated tax return. Payments from us to EM@aily relate to periods for which we had standra federal taxable income, while
payments from EMC to us relate to periods for whighhad a stand-alone federal taxable loss. Thaiatadhat we either pay to or receive
from EMC for its portion of federal income taxesBMC'’s consolidated tax return differ from the amtsuwe would owe on a stand-alone
basis and the difference is presented as a compohstockholders’ equity. In 2011 and 2010 , tiféedence between the amount of tax
calculated on a stand-alone basis and the amouax @flculated per the tax sharing agreement a@sded as an increase in stockholders’
equity of $7.8 and $6.5 , respectively. In 2008, difference between the amount of tax calculated stand-alone basis and the amount of tax
calculated per the tax sharing agreement was redasd a decrease in stockholders’ equity of $8.0 .
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In the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 ar@l 288.9 , $4.1 and $6.5 , respectively, of inteespense was recorded related to the
note payable to EMC and included in interest expavith EMC, on our consolidated statements of ineo®ur interest income and expenses
as a separate, stand-alone company may be higtarerthan the amounts reflected in the consatiddinancial statements. In June 2011, we
and EMC amended the note to extend its maturity ftam April 16, 2012 to April 16, 2015 .

As of December 31, 2011 , we had $101.4 due fron€CEWhich was partially offset by $27.6 due to EMG. of December 31, 2010 , we
had $76.5 due from EMC, which was partially offsgt$21.0 due to EMC. The net amounts due from EllGfdDecember 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010 were $73.8 and $55.5 , respctared resulted from the related party transastidescribed above. Additionally, as of
December 31, 2011 we had $3.3 of net income taagalpe due to EMC, which was included in accrugueeses and other on the
consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 20&0had $144.3 , respectively, of income taxesiv@ble due from EMC, which was
included in other current assets on our consolitiatdance sheet. Balances due to or from EMC wéiiehunrelated to tax obligations are
settled in cash within 60 days of each quarter-&he.timing of the tax payments due to and from ElIGoverned by the tax sharing
agreement with EMC.

By nature of EMC's majority ownership of us, thecaimts we recorded for our intercompany transactiagitts EMC may not be
considered arm's length with an unrelated thirdypdiherefore the financial statements includedimremay not necessarily reflect our finan
condition, results of operations and cash flows\Wwadengaged in such transactions with an unretaiedi party during all periods presented.
Accordingly, our historical results should not leéied upon as an indicator of our future perforneaas a stand-alone company.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During 2010, we began investing in fixed incomeusities, which drove a shift from cash and cashieents to short-term investments.
Our fixed income investment portfolio is denomirthie U.S. Dollars and consists of various holdirtgpes and maturities. Our primary
objective for holding fixed income securities isatchieve an appropriate investment return congistegh preserving principal and managing
risk.

December 31,

2011 2010
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,955.¢ $ 1,629.(
Short-term investments 2,556.! 1,694.
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term invesisn $ 45120 % 3,323.°

Our operating activities in 2011 , 2010 and 20@8spectively, generated sufficient cash to maeebperating needs. Our cash flows for
years ende2011 , 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 2,025.¢ % 1,174 $ 985.¢
Investing activities (1,611.0 (2,261.9 (562.9)
Financing activities (87.9 230.1 222.¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent $ 326.7 $ (857.9) $ 645.¢

In evaluating our liquidity internally, we focus tomg-term, sustainable growth in free cash flowd en non-GAAP cash flows from
operating activities (“non-GAAP operating cash f&)v We define norGAAP operating cash flows as net cash providedg®rating activitie:
less capitalized software development costs pleeitess tax benefits from stock-based compensatierdefine free cash flows, also a non-
GAAP financial measure, as non-GAAP operating dhshs less capital expenditures. See “Non-GAAP Raial Measures” for additional
information.
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Our non-GAAP operating cash flows and free casidléor 2011 , 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 2,025t $ 1,174.. $ 985.¢
Capitalized software development costs (74.0 (64.1) (68.6)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 224t 223.¢ 26.2
Non-GAAP operating cash flows 2,176.: 1,333.° 943.%
Capital expenditures (230.7) (231.%) (203.9
Free cash flows $ 1,946.C $ 1,202.C $ 839.¢

Free cash flows increased by $744.0 or 62% to $10%br the year ended December 31, 2011 from £102f@r the year ended
December 31, 2010, and by $362.2 or 43% to $102f@2 the year ended December 31, 2010 from $8f8®.8e year ended December 31,
2009 . The increases in free cash flows in 2011291d were primarily due to increased sales aradaélcash collections.

Historically, we have invested excess cash predantiyin money market securities that are liquid afhigh quality investment grade.
The fair value for money market securities is daeiaed based on quoted market prices as of the tiatudate. We limit the amount of our
domestic and international investments with angleinssuer and any single financial institutiong @tso monitor the diversity of the portfolio,
thereby diversifying the credit risk. In the secaparter of 2010, we began investing in fixed inessacurities. As of December 31, 2011 , we
held a diversified portfolio of money market furatsd fixed income securities, which primarily coteisof highly liquid debt instruments of
the U.S. government and its agencies, U.S. muniolgligations, and U.S. and foreign corporate dsaurities. Within our portfolio, we held
$58.4 of foreign government and agencies securi$@8.0 of which was deemed sovereign debt, atDbee 31, 2011. These sovereign debt
securities had an average credit rating of AAA aede predominantly from Australia, Canada and GBe#ain. None of the securities deen
sovereign debt were from Greece, Ireland, ItalyfiRal or Spain.

As of December 31, 2011, our total cash, cashvatprits and short-term investments were $4,512véhath $2,072.0 was held outside
the U.S. If these overseas funds are needed fasprrations in the U.S., we would be required trae and pay U.S. taxes on related
undistributed earnings to repatriate these fundsvéver, our intent is to indefinitely reinvest guon-U.S. earnings in our foreign operations
and our current plans do not demonstrate a neegpairiate them to fund our U.S. operations.

We expect to continue to generate positive cashsflivom operations in 2012 and to use cash gertegt@perations as our primary
source of liquidity. We believe that existing castd cash equivalents, together with any cash gestefilom operations will be sufficient to
meet normal operating requirements including sgiatacquisitions and capital expenditures for astéhe next twelve months.

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities is driveroloy net income, adjusted for non-cash items andgdmin assets and liabilities. Non-
cash adjustments include depreciation, amortizaifdntangible assets, amortization of premiumsipgion purchase of investments in our
fixed income portfolio, stock-based compensatiopesse, excess tax benefits from stock-based comfi@msand other adjustments. Net
changes in assets and liabilities were impacteisidrngases in unearned revenues in the periodsmessend we expect this trend to continue
in the future.

Cash provided by operating activities increase®&fy1.2 to $2,025.6 in 2011 from $1,174.4 in 20T6e increase in operating cash flows
for 2011 was primarily the result of an increaseash collections from customers driven by stragssvolumes. In addition, we benefited
from the net receipt of $302.3 from EMC relatedntome taxes. During 2010, there were no signitieemounts collected from or paid to
EMC under the tax sharing agreement. Under thshaxing agreement, EMC is obligated to pay us amuatequal to the tax benefit
generated by us that EMC will recognize on its olidated tax return. The net receipt of $302.304 2 primarily related to refunds received
for both the 2011 and 2010 tax years. We expecatheunt of cash received related to tax refundkietdine in 2012 as compared to 2011. The
increase in cash collections and the benefit floencollection of the income tax receivable wasighytoffset by increases in our core
operating expenses, primarily related to incremdrgadcount from strategic hiring and business sgans.

Cash provided by operating activities increase$188.8 to $1,174.4 in 2010 from $985.6 in 2009e Tritrease in operating cash flows
for 2010 was the result of an increase in castectiins from customers driven by strong sales veluhime increase in cash collections was
partially offset by increases in our core operagmgenses, primarily related to incremental headtcfiom strategic hiring and business
acquisitions as well as an increase in the exeesBdnefit from stock-based compensation due tanttrease in market value of our stock.
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Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities is primarily ititable to the purchase of fixed income securitiesiness acquisitions, capital
expenditures and capitalized software developmestsc Cash provided by investing activities is ity attributable to the sales or maturities
of fixed income securities.

In 2011, we closed an agreement to purchase #ieofight, title and interest in a ground leaseeting the property and improvements
located adjacent to our existing Palo Alto, Cahfarcampus for $225.0 . Based upon the respedivedlues, $73.9 of the purchase price was
included within additions to property and equipmeamd the remaining $151.1 paid and attributethéottangible assets was separately
disclosed within net cash used in investing a¢éigibn the consolidated statement of cash flowferRe Note G to the consolidated financial
statements for further information. Our renovatidithe new property will be a multi-year projecthvcapital investment extending into future
periods. We expect our capital spending for thagmt will be approximately $150 in 2012, and atat capital spending will be approximat
$325 to $350.

We began investing in fixed income securities dyitime second quarter of 2010 to achieve our olbedi an appropriate investment
return consistent with the preservation of printgrad management of risk. Total fixed income seamsiof $2,667.9 and $2,101.9 were
purchased in 2011 and 2010 , respectively. All pases of fixed income securities were classifiedaas outflows from investing activities.
We classified these investments as short-term tmeassts on our consolidated balance sheets basedtnpmature of the security and their
availability for use in current operations or faher purposes, such as business acquisitions eatdgit investments. These cash outflows were
partially offset by cash inflows of $1,790.8 andL6%3 in 2011 and 2010 , respectively, as a re$ulteosales and maturities of fixed income
securities.

In 2011, we sold our investment in Terremark Worttly Inc., which was acquired by Verizon in a caahsaction, for $76.0.

In 2011 and 2010 , we paid $303.6 and $293.0 ectqely, for various business acquisitions as carag with $356.3 paid for
SpringSource in 2009. Business acquisitions aliengortant element in our industry and we expeddntinue to consider additional strategic
business acquisitions in the future. Refer to Note the consolidated financial statements forhkerinformation.

In 2010 , we paid $175.0 to EMC to acquire cersaiftware product technology and expertise fromrttegiix IT management business.
The net assets and expertise acquired from EMCiitatesl a business and were accounted for as adsscombination between entities ur
common control. During 2011 and 2010 , we paid $5hd $10.6 to EMC to satisfy contingent obligasiamder the asset purchase agreement
As of December 31, 2011, all contingent paymenteuthe agreement had been made. Refer to Notel® twonsolidated financial stateme
for further information.

Financing Activities

Proceeds from the issuance of our Class A comnumk $tom the exercise of stock options and the lpage of shares under the VMware
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), were $33%481.3 and $227.7 in 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , ctispéy.

In 2011 , the cash inflows were offset by cashlowt$ of $526.2 , including commissions, to repusghand retire 6.0 million shares of our
Class A common stock at a weighted-average prié88f37 per share as part of our stock repurchaggams. In February 2011, a committee
of our Board of Directors authorized the repurchafsep to $550.0 of our Class A common stock thiotige end of 2012. From time-to-time,
stock repurchases may be made pursuant to thedrgt2011 authorization in open market transactmnsrivately negotiated transactions as
permitted by securities laws and other legal regménts. In 2010 , we paid $338.5 , including corsioiss, to repurchase and retire 4.9 million
shares of our Class A common stock at a weightedaaye price of $68.96 per share under the stockecbhpse program approved in March
2010. Purchases under the March 2010 authorizattse completed in March 2011. We are not obligabgourchase any shares under our
stock repurchase programs. The timing of any rdmsges and the actual number of shares repurchaeépend on a variety of factors,
including our stock price, corporate and regulateguirements and other market and economic camgditiPurchases can be discontinued at
any time that we feel that additional purchasesatevarranted. As of December 31, 2011 , the ai#bd amount remaining for repurchase
was $85.3 .

There were additional cash outflows of $123.8 ,.$&khd $31.5 in 2011 , 2010 and 2Q08spectively, to cover tax withholding obligats
in conjunction with the net share settlement ugenvesting of restricted stock units and restristedk. Additionally, the excess tax benefit
from stock-based compensation was $224.5 , $22®14636.2 in 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , respectivelg,iashown as a reduction to cash flows
from operating activities and an increase to céshd from financing activities. The year-over-yeaanges in the repurchase of shares and the
excess tax benefit from stock-based compensati@did and 2010 were primarily due to the incre@séise market value of our stock and the
number of awards exercised, sold or vested.

Future cash proceeds from issuances of common atatkhe excess tax benefit from stock-based cosapien and
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future cash outflows to repurchase our sharesyerdax withholding obligations will depend upomgdacould fluctuate significantly from
period-to-period based on, the market value ofstack, the number of awards exercised, sold oedeshe tax benefit realized and the tax-
affected compensation recognized.

Note Payable to EM(

As of December 31, 2011 , $450.0 remained outstanoih a note payable to EMC, with interest payablrterly in arrears. In June 2011,
we and EMC amended and restated the note to ettendaturity date of the note to April 16, 2015 amanodify the principal amount of the
note to reflect the outstanding balance of $450Ke. interest rate continues to reset quarterlytaads an interest rate of the 90-day LIBOR
plus 55 basis points.

To date, inflation has not had a material impacbonfinancial results.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Regulation S-K Item 10(e), “Use of Non-GAAP Finaldileasures in Commission Filings,” defines andprides the conditions for use
of non-GAAP financial information. Our measuresofe operating expenses, non-GAAP operating cas¥sfand free cash flows each meet
the definition of a non-GAAP financial measure.

Core Operating Expenses

Management uses the non-GAAP measure of core apgptpenses to understand and compare operasog@cross accounting
periods, for internal budgeting and forecastingopses, for short- and long-term operating plansatoulate bonus payments and to evaluate
our financial performance, the performance ofritsividual functional groups and the ability of ogons to generate cash. Management
believes that core operating expenses reflect osinbss in a manner that allows for meaningfulqeeto-period comparisons and analysis of
trends in our business, as they exclude certaieresgs that are not reflective of our operatingltesu

We define core operating expenses as our totahtipgrexpenses excluding the following componentsch we believe are not reflective
of our operational expenses. In each case, forethgons set forth below, management believes tichiding the component provides useful
information to investors and others in understag@ind evaluating our operating results and futuosgects in the same manner as
management, in comparing financial results acroseunting periods and to those of peer companiddahbetter understand the long-term
performance of our core business.

» Stock-based compensation. Stock-based compensation expense is generally fikdtk time the stock-based instrument is graatetl
amortized over a period of several years. Althosigitk-based compensation is an important aspeheafompensation of our
employees and executives, determining the fairevaficertain of the stock-based instruments wézatihvolves a high degree of
judgment and estimation and the expense recordgdea little resemblance to the actual value zedliupon the vesting, futu
exercise or termination of the related stdesed awards. Furthermore, unlike cash compensé#tiewalue of stock options, which is
element of our ongoing stock-based compensatioaresq is determined using a complex formula thairporates factors, such as
market volatility, that are beyond our control.

< Amortization and capitalization of software development costs. Capitalized software development costs encompasgetalization of
development costs and the subsequent amortizattithre @apitalized costs over the useful life of gneduct. Amortization and
capitalization of software development costs cawy g@nificantly depending upon the timing of pretikireaching technological
feasibility and being made generally availablefuliure periods, we expect our amortization expdrsa capitalized software
development costs to decline as software developoosts are expected to be recorded as R&D exmenseurred given our current
go-to-market strategy, which changed from singlat&ms to product suite solutions. As a resulthi$ change in strategy, and the
related increased importance of interoperabilityMeen our products, the length of time betweeneathg technological feasibility and
general release to customers significantly decokdSiven that we expect the majority of our prodofterings to be suites or to have
key components that interoperate with our othedpet offerings, the costs incurred subsequent hiesement of technological
feasibility are expected to be immaterial in futpegiods. For additional information, séeesults of Operations - Capitalized Software
Development Costs, Net" above.

« Other expenses. Other expenses excluded are employer payroll taresmployee stock transactions, amortization @frigible assets
and acquisition-related items. The amount of emgnigayroll taxes on stock-based compensation isrdignt on our stock price and
other factors that are beyond our control and dacoorelate to the operation of the business. Riggrthe amortization of intangible
assets, a portion of the purchase price of ouriaitipms is generally allocated to intangible assstich as intellectual property, and is
subject to amortization. Additionally, the amouhta acquisition’s purchase price allocated torigthle assets and the term of its
related amortization can vary significantly and angque to each acquisition. Acquisition-relatemis include direct costs of
acquisitions, such as transaction fees, which samificantly and are unique to each acquisitionwedver, we do not acquire
businesses on
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a predictable cycle.
Non-GAAP operating cash flows and free cash flows

We define non-GAAP operating cash flows as net pastided by operating activities less capitaliseftware development costs plus the
excess tax benefits from stock-based compensatferdefine free cash flows as non-GAAP operatindp ¢lsvs less capital expenditures.
Management uses non-GAAP operating cash flows atheanmeasure of cash flows from operations becthiseneasure offers a perspective
of our operating cash flows that aligns with hownagement internally views our overall and indivildiusactional group operating results.
When viewing operating results for evaluating oastgperformance and for planning purposes, managesmeludes certain items, including
the effect of capitalizing and amortizing softwaevelopment costs and items related to stock-bem@gensation, which are also excluded in
the nonGAAP operating cash flows measure. Managementfosegash flows as a measure of financial progreesr business, as it balan
operating results, cash management and capitalesfiy. In addition to quarterly free cash flowsgmagement also focuses on trailing twelve
month free cash flows, as free cash flows can tegtil®in the short-term.

We believe that our measures of non-GAAP operatash flows and free cash flows provide useful imfation to investors and others, as
they allow for meaningful period-to-period comparis of our operating cash flows for analysis ofidiin our business. Additionally, we
believe that information regarding non-GAAP opergtcash flows and free cash flows provides invesaoid others with an important
perspective on cash that we may choose to makkableafor strategic acquisitions and investmerits,repurchase of shares, operations and
other capital expenditures.

We deduct capitalization of software developmestEfrom both measures because these costs aidereaisto be a necessary compo
of our operations and the amount capitalized u@#AP can vary significantly from period-to-periodgending upon the timing of products
reaching technological feasibility and being madeagally available. Consequently, software develemincosts paid out during a period that
are capitalized under GAAP and do not impact GAARrating cash flows for that period do result ilearease to our measures of non-GAAP
operating cash flows and non-GAAP free cash fldtwsreby providing management with useful measufreash flows generated from
operations during the period. We add back the exite®me tax benefits from stock-based compensationr measures of non-GAAP
operating cash flows and free cash flows as manageimternally views cash flows arising from incotages as similar to operating cash
flows rather than as financing cash flows as reglimder GAAP. Furthermore, we exclude capital pgjieres on property and equipment
from free cash flows because these expenditureaslsmeconsidered to be a necessary component afpauations.

Limitations on the use of Non-GAAP financial measures

A limitation of our non-GAAP financial measuresatfre operating expenses, hon-GAAP operating castsfand free cash flows is that
they do not have uniform definitions. Our definitsowill likely differ from the definitions used yther companies, including peer companies,
and therefore comparability may be limited. Thus, mon-GAAP measures of core operating expenses@fAP operating cash flows and
free cash flows should be considered in additigméd as a substitute for, or in isolation from,asgres prepared in accordance with GAAP.
Additionally, in the case of stock-based compepsaiif we did not pay out a portion of compensaiiothe form of stock-based compensation
and related employer payroll taxes, the cash salgpgnse included in costs of revenues and opgrexipenses would be higher which would
affect our cash position. Further, the non-GAAP soe@ of core operating expenses has certain limisbecause it does not reflect all items
of income and expense that affect our operatiodsaa@ reflected in the GAAP measure of total ofegagxpenses.

We compensate for these limitations by reconcitinge operating expenses to the most comparable Gilw&Rcial measure. Management
encourages investors and others to review our éimahinformation in its entirety, not to rely onyasingle financial measure and to view our
non-GAAP financial measures in conjunction with thest comparable GAAP financial measures.

See “Results of Operations—Operating Expensesa f@conciliation of the noBAAP financial measure of core operating expensele
most comparable GAAP measure, “total operating eses,” for the years ended December 31, 2011, 26d2009.

See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for a rectiation of non-GAAP operating cash flows and frestt flows to the most comparable
GAAP measure, “net cash provided by operating diets;” for the years ended December 31, 2011, 201D2009.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obligabns, Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

We enter into agreements in the ordinary courdmusiness with, among others, customers, distrisutesellers, system vendors and
systems integrators. Most of these agreementsreegsito indemnify the other party against thirdpalaims alleging that one of our products
infringes or misappropriates a patent, copyriglaglémark, trade secret or other intellectual
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property right. Certain of these agreements requsr® indemnify the other party against certa@inst relating to property damage, personal
injury, or the acts or omissions by us and our eygs, agents or representatives.

We have agreements with certain vendors, finamegitutions, lessors and service providers purst@awhich we have agreed to
indemnify the other party for specified mattersstsas acts and omissions by us and our employgestsa or representatives.

We have procurement or license agreements witrect$p technology that we have obtained the righise in our products and
agreements. Under some of these agreements, weageeed to indemnify the supplier for certain claittmat may be brought against such
with respect to our acts or omissions relatingh®dupplied products or technologies.

We have agreed to indemnify our directors and etkezofficers, to the extent legally permissiblgamst all liabilities reasonably incurr
in connection with any action in which such individ may be involved by reason of such individuahger having been a director or officer.
Our by-laws and charter also provide for indematfien of our directors and officers to the extagdlly permissible, against all liabilities
reasonably incurred in connection with any actiomhich such individual may be involved by reasbéswuxh individual being or having beel
director or executive officer. We also indemnifytaen employees who provide service with respe@nployee benefits plans, including the
members of the Administrative Committee of the VM&vd01(k) Plan, and employees who serve as dieoroofficers of our subsidiaries.

In connection with certain acquisitions, we haveead to indemnify the former directors and officefshe acquired company in
accordance with the acquired company’ddys and charter in effect immediately prior to #uguisition or in accordance with indemnificat
or similar agreements entered into by the acquicedpany and such persons. We typically purchasaila directors’ and officers’ insurance
policy, which should enable us to recover a portibany future indemnification obligations relatedthe former officers and directors of an
acquired company.

It is not possible to determine the maximum pot@raimount under these indemnification agreemerggawour limited history with prior
indemnification claims and the unique facts andwinstances involved in each particular agreemdastotically, payments made by us under
these agreements have not had a material effemtioconsolidated financial position, results of igens or cash flows.

Contractual Obligations

We have various contractual obligations impactinglmuidity. The following represents our contna&t obligations as of December 31,
2011:

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5years

Note payable to EM®& 450.( — — 450.( —
Operating leas€e? 734.7 56.2 85.¢ 477 545.(
Other agreement3 56.5 16.¢ 16.1 4.4 19.2
Sub-Total 1,241.; 73.C 101.¢ 502.1 564.2
Uncertain tax positiond 92.€

Total 1,333.¢

(1) The note is due and payable in full on Apfi| 2015; however, we can pay down the note at an eardigr th full or in part at our electic
(2) Our operating leases are primarily for office spacaind the worlc
(3) Consisting of various contractual agreements, whiclude commitments on the lease for our Washimgtata center facilit

(4) As of December 31, 2011, we had $92.6 of amment net unrecognized tax benefits under gelyeaatepted accounting guidance. We
not able to provide a reasonably reliable estimétbe timing of future payments relating to thesdigations.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are basdti@gelection and application of accounting pritlesmenerally accepted in the United
States of America that require us to make estimemtdsassumptions about future events that affecathounts reported in our financial
statements and the accompanying notes. Futureseaedttheir effects cannot be determined with c#wtaTherefore, the determination of
estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actsllts could differ from those estimates, and sush differences may be material to our
financial statements. We believe that the critazaounting
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policies set forth below may involve a higher degoé judgment and complexity in their applicatiblan our other significant accounting
policies and represent the critical accountinggiedi used in the preparation of our financial stetets. If different assumptions or conditions
were to prevail, the results could be materialfjedent from our reported results. Our significantounting policies are presented within Note
A, “Overview and Basis of Presentation,” to our solidated financial statements appearing in thiauwah Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognitio

We derive revenues from the licensing of software @elated services. We recognize revenues whesuagive evidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, thes salee is fixed or determinable, and collectigiig probable. Determining whether and when
some of these criteria have been satisfied oftenlwes assumptions and judgments that can havgnéisant impact on the timing and amount
of revenue we report.

We recognize license revenues from the sale ofvané licenses when risk of loss transfers, whialeiserally upon electronic shipment.
We primarily license our software under perpeticarises through our channel of distributors, resglisystem vendors, systems integrator:
our direct sales force. To the extent we offer pagpromotions and the promotional products areyabtwvailable and VSOE of fair value
cannot be established, the revenue for the entiter és deferred until such time as all producigdtions have been fulfilled. We defer
revenues relating to products that have shippeddat channel until our products are sold througthe next tier of the channel. We estimate
and record reserves for products that are nottsotdigh the channel based on historical trendsr@ledant current information. For software
sold by system vendors that is bundled with thamdivare, unless we have a separate license agreesnieh governs the transaction, revenue
is recognized in arrears upon the receipt of bigdoyalty reports. The accuracy of our reserveeddp on our ability to estimate the product
sold through the channels and could have a sigmifionpact on the timing and amount of revenue ep®rt.

We offer rebates to certain channel partners, waietrecognized as a reduction of revenue at e the related product sale is
recognized. When rebates are based on the senpageeof actual sales, we recognize the costsafedbates as a reduction of revenue when
the underlying revenue is recognized. In cases eviedates are earned if a cumulative level of daleshieved, we recognize the cost of the
rebates as a reduction of revenue proportionatlgéah sale that is required to achieve the taiiget.estimated reserves for channel rebates
and sales incentives are based on channel paraetusil performance against the terms and conditibtise programs, historical trends and
value of the rebates. The accuracy of these reséovehese rebates and sales incentives depenalsr@bility to estimate these items and
could have a significant impact on the timing antbant of revenue we report.

With limited exceptions, VMware’s return policy dorot allow product returns for a refund. Certastributors and resellers may rotate
stock when new versions of a product are reledsedestimate future product returns at the timeatd. Our estimate is based on historical
return rates, levels of inventory held by distriirstand resellers and other relevant factors. Tharacy of these reserves depends on our
ability to estimate sales returns and stock rotatimong other criteria. If we were to change anthese assumptions or judgments, it could
cause a material increase or decrease in the arobumtenue that we report in a particular peri®dturns have not been material to date and
have been in line with our expectations.

Our services revenues consist of software maintmand professional services. We recognize softmaiatenance revenues ratably over
the contract period. Typically, our software mairgece contract periods range from one to five ydanafessional services include design,
implementation and training. Professional servaresnot considered essential to the functionafityur products because services do not alter
the product capabilities and may be performed Isfaruers or other vendors. Professional serviceagargents performed for a fixed fee, for
which we are able to make reasonably dependabiaatss of progress toward completion are recognized proportional performance basis
based on hours and direct expenses incurred. Brofes services engagements that are on a timenatetials basis are recognized based
hours incurred. Revenues on all other professisemlices engagements are recognized upon compl#tiwa were to change any of these
assumptions or judgments regarding our servicesnigas, it could cause a material increase or deeliaghe amount of revenue that we re
in a particular period.

Our software products are typically sold with saftes maintenance services. VSOE of fair value fétmere maintenance services is
established by the rates charged in stand-aloes sékoftware maintenance contracts. Our softwarducts may also be sold with
professional services. VSOE of fair value for pssfenal services is based upon the standard rateharge for such services when sold
separately. The revenues allocated to the softliamese included in multiple-element contracts esent the residual amount of the contract
after the fair value of the other elements has laetarmined.

Our multiple element arrangements typically fatbione or more of the following categories:

* Arrangements including undelivered elementsifbich VSOE of fair value has been established. éRae for those undelivered items
is recognized ratably over the service period,satha services are delivered. Revenue allocatdtktdelivered elements is recognized
upfront;
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« Arrangements including specified product eleradat which VSOE of fair value cannot be establish&he entire arrangement fee is
deferred until either VSOE of fair value is estabéid or the specified products are delivered;

« Arrangements including undelivered elements etV SOE of fair value that are not essential ®ftmctionality of the delivered
products where all of the undelivered elementdativered ratably over time. Revenue for the erdirangement fee is recognized
ratably, once the services have commenced, ovdotigest delivery period;

« Arrangements including undelivered elements suithl/SOE of fair value that are not essential ®ftimctionality of the delivered
products where one or more of the elements ardeltered ratably over time. The entire arrangenfiemis deferred until VSOE of
fair value is established or only elements thatd&levered ratably over time remain. At such timeyro-rated share of revenue is
recognized immediately with any remaining fee retingd ratably over the longest remaining ratableveley period.

Customers under software maintenance agreemengmtitted to receive updates and upgrades on a-ahd+f-available basis, and
various types of technical support based on thel lefr'support purchased. In the event specificuiest or functionalities, entittements or the
release number of an upgrade have been annountedttdelivered, and customers will receive thajraple as part of a current software
maintenance contract, a specified upgrade is deeneated. As a result of the specified upgradeducbrevenues are deferred on purchases
made after the announcement date until deliveth®lupgrade for those purchases that include tirertwersion of the product subject to the
announcement. The amount and elements to be défreedependent on whether the company has estdNsSOE of fair value for the
upgrade. VSOE of fair value of these upgradestabiished based upon the price set by managemenhaie a history of selling such
upgrades on a stand-alone basis. We are requimkteise judgment in determining whether VSOEtsXizr each undelivered element based
on whether our pricing for these elements is sigffity consistent with the sale of these elementa stand-alone basis. This determination
could cause a material increase or decrease antioeint of revenue that we report in a particulaiope

To date, our multiple element arrangements haveded only software and software-related delivegalziccounted for using software
revenue recognition rules. However, we may in titare bundle our software and software-related efgmwith services or other nsoftware
elements that would require accounting under atblewant multiple-element revenue recognition rules

Capitalized Software Development Costs

Development costs of software to be sold, leasedtherwise marketed are subject to capitalizabieginning when the product's
technological feasibility has been establishedemding when the product is available for generalase. Judgment is required in determining
when technological feasibility is established asdar business, products and go-to-market strdiagg evolved, we have continued to
evaluate when technological feasibility is estdi#is. Following the release of vSphere 5 and thepcehensive suite of cloud infrastructure
technologies in the third quarter of 2011, we duateed that VMware's go-torarket strategy had changed from single solutiongaduct suitt
solutions. As a result of this, and the relatedéased importance of interoperability between oadpcts, the length of time between achie\
technological feasibility and general release tstamers significantly decreased. For future relgase expect our products to be available for
general release soon after technological feasiliiits been established. Given that we expect therityeof our product offerings to be suites
or to have key components that interoperate withothier product offerings, the costs incurred sgbeeat to achievement of technological
feasibility are expected to be immaterial in futpegiods. In the fourth quarter of 2011, all softevdevelopment costs were expensed as
incurred.

Our R&D expenses and amounts that we have cagithfiz software development costs may not be colvlpamour peer companies due
to differences in judgment as to when technolodieasibility has been reached or differences igjoent regarding when the product is
available for general release. Additionally, futafenges in our judgment as to when technologé&agibility is established, or additional
changes in our business, including our go-to-masteategy, could materially impact the amount oftsaapitalized. For example, if the length
of time between technological feasibility and gehewailability was to increase again in the fufuhe amount of capitalized costs would lik
increase.

Generally accepted accounting principles requireiahamortization expense of capitalized softwareetbpment costs to be the greater of
the amounts computed using the ratio of currerdgrevenue to a product’s total current and aratieiph revenues, or the straight-line method
over the product’s remaining estimated economé Iifo date, we have amortized these costs usingfrifightliine method as it is the greatel
the two amounts. The costs are amortized over geranging from 18 to 24 months, which represemfpttoduct’s estimated economic life.
The ongoing assessment of the recoverability (feto®sts requires considerable judgment by managemith respect to certain external
factors such as anticipated future revenue, estdnatonomic life, and changes in software and hareltechnologies. Material differences in
amortization amounts could occur as a result ohgba in the periods over which we actually genestenues or the amounts of revenues
generated.
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Asset Valuatior

Asset valuation includes assessing the recordett @l certain assets, including accounts receivaithesr intangible assets and goodwill.
We use a variety of factors to assess valuatiomeniding upon the asset. Accounts receivable aleatea based upon the creditworthiness of
our customers, historical experience, the ageefelceivable and current market and economic dongitShould current market and econo
conditions deteriorate, our actual bad debt expeoskl exceed our estimate. Other intangible asgetevaluated based upon the expected
period during which the asset will be utilized,doasted cash flows, changes in technology andmmestdemand. Changes in judgments on any
of these factors could materially impact the valfithe asset. As we operate our business in onatipg segment and one reporting unit, our
goodwill is assessed at the consolidated levehfipairment in the fourth quarter of each year orerfoequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might beineghal he assessment is performed by comparinghtiv&et value of our reporting unit to its
carrying value.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

In calculating our income tax expense, managenuelgment is necessary to make certain estimategidgchents for financial statement
purposes that affect the recognition of tax assetkliabilities.

In order for us to realize our deferred tax asse¢smust be able to generate sufficient taxablerime in those jurisdictions where the
deferred tax assets are located. We record a iatuaitowance to reduce our deferred tax assetset@mount that is more likely than not to be
realized. We consider future market growth, foremdearnings, future taxable income, and prudedif@asible tax planning strategies in
determining the need for a valuation allowancehinevent we were to determine that we would nalie to realize all or part of our net
deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustmethietaleferred tax assets would be charged to egrininthe period in which we make such
determination. Likewise, if we later determine thias more likely than not that the net deferrad assets would be realized, we would reverse
the applicable portion of the previously provideduation allowance.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provibiased on estimates and assumptions that couét éliffim the actual results reflected in
income tax returns filed during the subsequent.ygdjustments based on filed returns are generattprded in the period when the tax returns
are filed.

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to aumjtfederal, state and foreign tax authoritiesctvimay result in proposed assessm
Our estimate of the potential outcome for any utadeitax issue is highly judgmental. We believe tha have adequately provided for any
reasonably foreseeable outcome related to thegemnatiowever, our future results may include fabde or unfavorable adjustments to our
estimated tax liabilities in the period the asses#1are made or resolved, audits are closed on gtia¢utes of limitation on potential
assessments expire. Additionally, the jurisdictionahich our earnings or deductions are realizeg whiffer from our current estimates. As a
result, our effective tax rate may fluctuate sigraiftly on a quarterly basis.

We do not provide for a U.S. income tax liability ondistributed earnings of our foreign subsid®&riehe earnings of non-U.S.
subsidiaries, which reflect full provision for ndhS. income taxes, are indefinitely reinvestedon+.S. operations or will be remitted
substantially free of additional tax. If these meas funds are needed for our operations in the WeSwvould be required to accrue and pay
U.S. taxes on related undistributed earnings tatregte these funds. However, our intent is to fimitely reinvest our non-U.S. earnings in our
foreign operations and our current plans do notatestrate a need to repatriate them to fund our dp8rations. We will meet our U.S.
liquidity needs through ongoing cash flows genetdtem our U.S. operations, external borrowingshath. We utilize a variety of tax
planning and financing strategies in an effortiswee that our worldwide cash is available in las®t in which it is needed.

Income taxes are calculated on a separate taxrbasis, although we are included in the consaiigax return of EMC. The difference
between the income taxes payable that is calcutatealseparate return basis and the amount acpaithto EMC pursuant to our tax sharing
agreement with EMC is presented as a componerddifianal paid-in capital.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting StashsleBoard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Updéo. 2011-08, Testing
Goodwill for Impairment (the revised standard) (42011-08"). ASU 2011-08 is intended to reducedbst and complexity of the annual
goodwill impairment test by providing entities gption to perform a “qualitative” assessment to datee whether further impairment testing
is necessary. ASU 2011-08 is effective for annuadl iaterim goodwill impairment tests performed figcal years beginning after December
15, 2011. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 208 1o impact our consolidated financial statements

In June 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standdpttate No. 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensigenie (“ASU 2011-05"). ASU
2011-05 eliminates the option to report other caghpnsive income and its components in the stateai@htanges in equity. Comprehensive
income will either have to be presented in oneiocoous statement of comprehensive
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income or two separate consecutive statementseteimber 2011, an amendment was issued to the updatefers the requirement to pre:
reclassification adjustments out of accumulate@iotomprehensive income on the face of the cormeliistatement of income. We adopted
this accounting standard update, as amended, oradah, 2012, and will present comprehensive incomeecordance with the requirement
the standard.

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standardddtie No. 20104, Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measerg anc
Disclosure Requirements in United States Genefallyepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”) anddmational Financial Reporting
Standards (“ASU 2011-04"). ASU 2011-04 changesaieifair value measurement principles and enhatieedisclosure requirements
particularly for Level 3 fair value measurement§WA2011-04 is effective for each reporting entitfifst interim and annual reporting period
that begins after December 15, 2011 and shoulgpkea prospectively. Early application is not péted. We are not expecting a significant
impact from the adoption of ASU 2011-04 on our aditkted financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
Foreign Exchange Risk

We operate in foreign countries, which expose usaoket risk associated with foreign currency exgjearate fluctuations between the
U.S. Dollar and various foreign currencies, the nsggnificant of which is the Euro.

International revenues as a percentage of totahgas were 52% in 2011 , 49% in 2010 and 49% i® 2@0storically, our revenue
contracts were primarily denominated in U.S. Dalldn May 2009, we began to invoice and colle¢hEuro, the British Pound, the Japar
Yen and the Australian Dollar in their respectiegions. Additionally, a portion of our operatingoexses, primarily the cost of personnel to
deliver technical support on our products and msifenal services, sales and sales support andchssad development, are denominated in
foreign currencies, primarily those currencies hiah we also invoice and collect. Revenues regyiftiam selling in local currencies and costs
incurred in local currencies are exposed to foreigechange rate fluctuations which can affect owrafing income. As exchange rates vary,
operating margins may differ materially from exdicins.

Core operating expenses were negatively impactegiBy2 million in 2011 and $4.1 million in 2010ndbenefited by $28.0 million in
2009 , due to fluctuations in the exchange ratésden the U.S. Dollar and foreign currencies aspamed with the same period in the prior
year. We calculate the foreign currency impact onaperating expenses as the difference betweentipe expenses translated at curi
exchange rates and the same expenses translgtedrgieriod exchange rates.

To manage the risk associated with fluctuationf®igign currency exchange rates, we utilize derreafinancial instruments, principally
foreign currency forward contracts, as describédvbe

Cash Flow Hedging Activities. To mitigate our exposure to foreign currency flattons resulting from operating expenses denonthiate
certain foreign currencies, we entered into foraigrrency forward contracts starting in the fouqtharter of 2011. We expect to enter into cash
flow hedges semi-annually with maturities of sixmtits or less. As of December 31, 2011 , we haddgoreurrency forward contracts to
purchase approximately $47.1 million in foreignremcy. The fair value of these forward contracts wamaterial as of December 31, 2011 .

Balance Sheet Hedging Activities. We enter into foreign currency forward contracti¢olge a portion of our net outstanding monetary
assets and liabilities against movements in ceftagign exchange rates. Our foreign currency foda@ntracts are generally traded on a
monthly basis with a typical contractual term oéanonth. As of December 31, 2011 , we had outstgnfdirward contracts with a total
notional value of $324.1 million . The fair valuktbese forward contracts was immaterial as of Drdwr 31, 2011 .

Sensitivity Analysis. There can be no assurance that our hedging aesivitill adequately protect us against the riske@ated with foreigi
currency fluctuations. A hypothetical adverse fgneturrency exchange rate movement of 10% woulé hasulted in a potential loss in fair
value of our foreign currency forward contractsduseboth the cash flow hedging and balance shedgihg activities of $36.5 million as of
December 31, 2011 . This sensitivity analysis djards any potentially offsetting gain that may bsogiated with the underlying foreign-
currency denominated assets and liabilities thahedge.

This analysis also assumes a parallel adversedtaft foreign currency exchange rates againstit& Dollar; however, foreign currency
exchange rates do not always move in such a mamueactual results may differ materially. We do eater into speculative foreign exchange
contracts for trading purposes. See Note E to ¢tinsalidated financial statements for further infation.

Interest Rate Risk
Fixed Income Securities

During the second quarter of 2010, we began invgsti fixed income securities. Our fixed incomeegstment portfolio is
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denominated in U.S. Dollars and consists of varimalgings, types and maturities.

Our primary objective for holding fixed income sédtias is to achieve an appropriate investmentrretonsistent with preserving princiy
and managing risk. At any time, a sharp rise iariedt rates or credit spreads could have a maseharse impact on the fair value of our fixed
income investment portfolio. Hypothetical changesierest rates of 50 basis points and 100 baéigpwould have changed the fair value of
our fixed income investment portfolio as of Decem®g, 2011 by $12.0 million and $24.0 million , pestively. This sensitivity analysis
assumes a parallel shift of all interest rates, dw@w, interest rates do not always move in suclauaner and actual results may differ materit
We monitor our interest rate and credit risk, imldhg our credit exposures to specific rating catexgoand to individual issuers. There were no
impairment charges on our cash equivalents and fixeome securities during 2011 . These instrumargsiot leveraged and we do not enter
into speculative securities for trading purposee Hotes C and D to the consolidated financiaéstatts for further information.

Note Payable to EM(

As of December 31, 2011 , $450.0 million was oudiag on our consolidated balance sheet in relabdhe note payable to EMC. The
interest rate on the note payable was 0.92% asoémber 31, 2011 and 0.84% as of both Decemb&030, and 2009. In 2011 , 2010 and
2009, $3.9 million , $4.1 million and $6.5 milligmespectively, of interest expense was recordizdad to the note payable.

The note may be repaid, without penalty, at angtim June 2011, we and EMC amended and restatatbte to extend the maturity date
of the note to April 16, 2015 and to modify thengipal amount of the note to reflect the outstagdialance of $450.0 million . The amended
agreement continues to bear an interest rate ci@h®ay LIBOR plus 55 basis points, with inteneayable quarterly in arrears. The interest
rate on the note resets quarterly and is deternmonetie two business days prior to the first dagauth fiscal quarter. If the interest rate on the
note payable were to change 100 basis points fnenDecember 31, 2011 rate and assuming no additiepayments on the principal were
made, our annual interest expense would changd Byrfiillion.

Equity Price Risk

During 2011, we sold our investment in Terremarkriioide, Inc., which was acquired by Verizon inash transaction. As a result of the
sale of our investment, we no longer have investmienequity securities that expose us to marlstassociated with publicly traded equity
securities.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of VMe&ydnc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fairlyall material respects, the financial
position of VMware, Inc. and its subsidiaries atBmber 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of tipeirations and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, @0conformity with accounting principles genéralccepted in the United States of
America. In addition, in our opinion, the financ&htement schedule listed in the accompanyingkipdesents fairly, in all material respects,
the information set forth therein when read in aoction with the related consolidated financiatestaents. Also in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effectiveinal control over financial reporting as of Decem®1, 2011, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission (COSO). The
Company's management is responsible for thesedimlastatements and financial statement schedatenfintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessmeinhefeffectiveness of internal control over finahcggporting, included in Management's Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appegaunder Item 9A. Our responsibility is to expregsnions on these financial statements
the financial statement schedule, and on the Coyparternal control over financial reporting basedour integrated audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with the standards oPtdic Company Accounting Oversight Board (Unitedt&s). Those standards require tha
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonalslerasce about whether the financial statementBesef material misstatement and whether
effective internal control over financial reportingis maintained in all material respects. Our aunfithe financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportinguheunts and disclosures in the financial statesp@ssessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, aaidaging the overall financial statement presémtatOur audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an undergiag of internal control over financial reportiragsessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design gedating effectiveness of internal control basedhenassessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considezeessary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonableassssuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thakefifain to the maintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettilansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (i) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readdeaassurance regarding prevention or timely detecf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawvaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or démisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 24, 2012
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VMware, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)



Operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation, excluding amounts cexgital
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Gain on sale of Terremark investment
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqaissti
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Due to/from EMC, net
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Income taxes receivable from EMC
Income taxes payable
Deferred income taxes, net
Unearned revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment
Purchase of leasehold interest (see Note G)
Capitalized software development costs
Purchases of available-for-sale securities
Sales of available-for-sale securities
Maturities of available-for-sale securities
Sale of strategic investments
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Transfer of net assets under common control
Other investing
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Repurchase of common stock
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Shares repurchased for tax withholdings on vesifrrgstricted stock
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the gherio
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest

Cash paid (refunded) for taxes

Non-cash items:

Changes in capital additions, accrued but not paid

Changes in tax withholdings on vesting of restdatock, accrued but not paid
Fair value of stock options assumed in acquisition

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
$ 723,93 $ 357,43¢ $ 197,09¢
315,87 260,55 198,48(
335,15: 291,69: 231,45
(224,50 (223,45) (26,219
(56,000 — —
21,42 13,08: 2,81¢
(263,36() (77,127 (193,61()
(75,879 (79,437) (14,187
(18,370 (28,50%) (64,76%)
(16,519 8,881 (17,886
115,02 120,88 124,68
269,25¢ 2,50¢ 107,92
79,18: 89,43¢ 32,77¢
(19,669 (56,94%) (40,476
840,08 495,38: 447,49
2,025,63: 1,174,38, 985,61
(230,09:) (131,69} (103,37}
(151,08 — —
(73,999 (64,149 (68,617)
(2,667,88) (2,101,90) —
816,35 389,25 —
974,41 127,05« —
78,51 2,64¢ —
(303,610 (292,97 (356,279)
(22,399 (185,58() —
(31,187 (4,599 (34,116
(1,610,97) (2,261,94) (562,38()
337,61t 431,30 227,66
(526,20%) (338,52) —
224,50 223,45 26,21+
(123,78) (86,179 (31,467
(87,869 230,05 222,41
326,79 (857,49) 645,64¢
1,628,96! 2,486,46. 1,840,81;
$ 195575 $ 162896 $ 2,486,46
$ 5806 $ 6,19/ $ 10,96
(268,95 23,42¢ (74,36%)
$ 11,73¢  $ (1,339 $ (11,309
(1,870) — —
— — 16,18"

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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Revenues:
License
Services

Operating expenséy:

Cost of license revenues
Cost of services revenues
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Operating income
Investment income
Interest expense with EMC
Other income (expense), net
Income before income taxes
Income tax provision
Net income

VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net income per weighted-average share, basic fmsCA and Class B
Net income per weighted-average share, dilute€fass A and Class B
Weighted-average shares, basic for Class A and@as
Weighted-average shares, diluted for Class A aad<CB

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

Cost of license revenues
Cost of services revenues

Research and development

Sales and marketing
General and administrative

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
$ 184116 $ 140142 $  1,029,44
1,925,92 1,455,91" 994,49
3,767,09 2,857,34: 2,023,93
207,39 177,45¢ 126,68(

414,58 316,25 233,04

775,05 652,96t 496,55:
1,334,34 1,013,28, 736,38
300,54: 269,38 211,97

735,17 427,99 219,20

16,15’ 6,631 8,23:

(3,906) (4,06¢) (6,95¢)

46,99 (14,18:) 2,87¢

794,41 416,37 223,44¢

70,47 58,93¢ 26,35

$ 723,93 $ 357,43¢ $ 197,09¢
$ 1.7z $ 087 $ 0.5(
$ 1.6¢ $ 0.8/ $ 0.4¢
421,188 409,80 394,26

431,75 423,44¢ 399,77

$ 1,606 $ 1,65: $ 1,29:
23,38¢ 18,47¢ 14,87«

174,26« 164,43! 121,77(

95,68¢ 73,14¢ 58,61

40,20 33,97¢ 34,90¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,

2011 2010
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,955,751 $ 1,628,96!
Short-term investments 2,556,45! 1,694,67
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtittounts of $3,794 and $4,519 882,85 614,72t
Due from EMC, net 73,79¢ 55,48
Deferred tax asset 128,47: 100,68t
Other current assets 80,43¢ 203,11¢
Total current assets 5,677,77. 4,297,65!
Property and equipment, net 525,49( 419,06!
Capitalized software development costs, net aneroth 154,23t 151,94!
Deferred tax asset 156,85! 149,12¢
Intangible assets, net 407,37" 210,92¢
Goodwill 1,759,08 1,568,601
Total assets $ 8,680,80! $ 6,797,31!
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 49,747 $ 58,91
Accrued expenses and other 587,65( 459,81:
Unearned revenues 1,764,10! 1,270,42
Total current liabilities 2,401,501 1,789,15:
Note payable to EMC 450,00( 450,00(
Unearned revenues 944,30¢ 589,66¢
Other liabilities 114,71: 160,05¢
Total liabilities 3,910,52 2,988,871
Commitments and contingencies (see Note L)
Stockholders’ equity:
Class A common stock, par value $.01; authoriz86®000 shares; issued and outstanding
123,610 and 116,701 shares 1,23¢ 1,167
Class B convertible common stock, par value $.0thaized 1,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 300,000 shares 3,00 3,00¢
Additional paid-in capital 3,212,26. 2,955,97.
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,17¢ 19,63
Retained earnings 1,552,601 828,67(
Total stockholders’ equity 4,770,28. 3,808,44.
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 8,680,80: $ 6,797,31!

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)

Class B
Class A Convertible » Accumulated
Common Stock Common Stock Additional Other
Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’
Shares Par Value Shares Par Value Capital Earnings Income Equity

Balance, January 1, 2009 90,44¢ $ 904 300,000 $ 3,000 $1,792,03 $ 27413 $ — $ 2,070,06

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 10,42: 104 _ _ 228,46: _ _ 228,56¢

Issuance of stock options in acquisition _ _ _ _ 16,18; _ _ 16,18;

Issuance of restricted stock, net of

cancellations 2,94¢ 30 — — (30) — — —

Shares repurchased or withheld and retired

tax withholdings on vesting of restricted stoc (2,030 (10) — — (31,45 — — (31,467

Stock-based compensation _ _ _ _ 246,03¢ _ _ 246,03t

Excess tax benefits from stock-based

compensation — — — — 19,88’ — — 19,88’

Amounts due from tax sharing arrangement

(see Note K) — — — — (7,997) — — (7,997)

Total other comprehensive income (see Not

N) — — — = — — 4,56: 4,56:

Net income — — — — — 197,09t — 197,09t
Balance, December 31, 2009 102,78! 1,02¢ 300,00 3,00( 2,263,12! 471,23 4,56° 2,742,95

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 17,08¢ 171 _ _ 432,07 _ _ 432,241

Repurchase and retirement of common stoc (4 90¢) (49 _ _ (338,47¢) _ _ (338,52)

Issuance of restricted stock, net of

cancellations 2,99¢ 30 — — (30) — — —

Shares repurchased or withheld and retired

tax withholdings on vesting of restricted stoc  (1,25¢) (13) — — (87,04 — — (87,06()

Stock-based compensation _ _ _ _ 302,92: _ _ 302,92:

Excess tax benefits from stock-based

compensation — — — — 218,88: — — 218,88:

Credit from tax sharing arrangement (see Note

K) — — — — 7,231 — — 7,231

Total other comprehensive income (see Not

N) — — — — — — 15,07: 15,07:

Capital contribution from EMC, net (see Note

F) — — — — 157,28t — — 157,28t

Net income — — — — — 357,43 — 357,43
Balance, December 31, 2010 116,70( 1,167 300,00 3,00( 2,955,97. 828,67 19,63t 3,808,44

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 10,61+ 10€ _ _ 337,51; _ _ 337,61¢

Repurchase and retirement of common stock (5 957) (59) _ _ (526,14 — — (526,20)

Issuance of restricted stock, net of

cancellations 3,56( 85 — — (35) — — —

Shares repurchased or withheld and retired for

tax withholdings on vesting of restricted stock (1,311) (23) — — (121,90 — — (121,91)

Stock-based compensation _ _ _ _ 344,28 — — 344,28

Excess tax benefits from stock-based

compensation — — — — 222,80t — — 222,80t

Credit from tax sharing arrangement (see N

K) — — — — 7,798 — — 7,798

Total other comprehensive loss (see Note N) _ _ _ _ _ (18,459 (18,459

Capital distribution to EMC, net (see Note F _ _ _ _ (8,019 _ _ (8,019

Net income — — — — — 723,93t — 723,93t
Balance, December 31, 2011 123,61 $ 1,23¢ 300,00 $ 3,000 $3,212,260 $ 1,552,600 $ 1,17¢ $ 4,770,28:

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements
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VMware, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. Overview and Basis of Presentation

Company and Background

VMware, Inc. (“VMware” or the “Company”) is the Ildar in virtualization and virtualization-based aoafrastructure solutions utilized
by businesses to help them transform the way thég,ldeliver and consume information technologyf() resources in a manner that is
evolutionary and based on their specific needs. \dk&e virtualization infrastructure software sobus run on industry-standard desktop
computers and servers and support a wide rangpeshting system and application environments, dsasenetworking and storage
infrastructures.

Accounting Principles

The financial statements and accompanying notepragared in accordance with accounting princigkserally accepted in the United
States of America.

Basis of Presentatiol

VMware was incorporated as a Delaware corporatiadt®98, was acquired by EMC Corporation (‘EM@1)2004 and conducted its init
public offering of VMware’s Class A common stockAngust 2007. As of December 31, 2011 , EMC hofgsraximately 79.7% of VMwarg’
outstanding common stock, including 37.6 milliomsds of VMware’s Class A common stock and all of Wade's Class B common stock.
VMware is considered a “controlled company” under tules of the New York Stock Exchange. VMwarédrisally has received, and
continues to receive, certain administrative s@&vitom EMC, and VMware and EMC engage in certaiercompany transactions. Costs
incurred by EMC for the direct benefit of VMwareich as salaries, benefits, travel and rent, plusuk-up intended to approximate third-party
costs, are included in VMware’s consolidated finahstatements. In addition, beginning in the selcguarter of 2011 VMware incurs costs
operate the Mozy service on behalf of EMC. Thests;@lus a mark-up intended to approximate thaxypcosts, are reimbursed to VMware
by EMC and recorded as an offset to the costs Vidvirazurred on the consolidated statements of income

Management believes the assumptions underlyingdhsolidated financial statements are reasonaloieeMer, the amounts recorded for
VMware’s intercompany transactions with EMC may hetconsidered arm’s length with an unrelated thady by nature of EMC’s majority
ownership of VMware. Therefore, the financial stagats included herein may not necessarily refleetcash flows, results of operations and
financial condition had VMware engaged in suchdeaions with an unrelated third party during a&ltipds presented. Accordingly, VMwase’
historical financial information is not necessaiitgicative of what the Company’s cash flows, resof operations and financial condition will
be in the future if and when VMware contracts at’arlength with unrelated third parties for pastl @urrent services the Company receives
from and provides to EMC.

Prior period financial statements have been reified$o conform to current period presentation.

Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of VMware and its subsidiaries. All intargqmany transactions and balances
between VMware and its subsidiaries have been méitad. All intercompany transactions with EMC ie ttonsolidated statements of cash
flows will be settled in cash, and changes in titercompany balances are presented as a compdreagtoflows from operating activities.

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make estim
and assumptions that affect the reported amourdss#ts and liabilities, the reported amountswe#maes and expenses during the reporting
periods, and the disclosure of contingent lialeiitat the date of the financial statements. Es¢isnate used for, but not limited to, capitalized
software development costs, trade receivable vialuatertain accrued liabilities, useful lives ofefd assets and intangible assets, valuation of
acquired intangibles, revenue reserves, incomestateck-based compensation and contingenciesalasults could differ from those
estimates.

Revenue Recognitio

VMware derives revenues from the licensing of safevand related services. VMware recognizes reewhen persuasive evidence o
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, thes galee is fixed or determinable, and collectilgiig probable.

The following summarizes the major terms of VMwarebdntractual relationships with customers andribaner in which
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VMware, Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)

VMware accounts for sales transactions.
License revenues
VMware recognizes revenues from the sale of softMiaenses when risk of loss transfers, which rsegally upon electronic shipment.

VMware licenses most of its software under pergdicanses through its channel of distributorsetiess, system vendors, systems
integrators and through its direct sales force. \@mnalso licenses certain software products orbscsiption basis. To the extent VMware
offers product promotions and the promotional patglare not yet available and VSOE of fair valuencd be established, the revenue for the
entire order is deferred until such time as alldoict obligations have been fulfilled. Revenuestiedpto products that have shipped into a
channel are deferred until the products are satultih to the next tier of the channel. For softwsolel by system vendors that is bundled with
their hardware, unless the Company has a sep#&atsé agreement which governs the transactioenteyvis recognized in arrears upon the
receipt of binding royalty reports.

For all sales, VMware uses one of the followingomstitute evidence of an arrangement:

e apurchase order or equivale

« alicense agreement and a purchase order or egnf!

« alicense agreement which includes language tleagheement also serves as the purchase or
« amaster agreement and a binding royalty re

Sales through distributors and resellers are eciglgiby a master distribution agreement, togethtr puirchase orders or equivalent, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

VMware’s return policy only allows product returfos a refund in very limited circumstances. In diohi, certain distributors and resellers
may rotate stock when new versions of a productedeased. VMware estimates future product retatriBe time of sale based on historical
return rates. Returns have not been material &® dat

VMware offers rebates to certain channel partriéfisen rebates are based on a set percentage of sales VMware recognizes the
amount of the rebates as a reduction of revenues Wie underlying revenue is recognized. When esbete earned only if a cumulative level
of sales is achieved, VMware recognizes the amolihte rebates as a reduction of revenues propattiofor each sale that is required to
achieve the target.

VMware also offers marketing development fundsddain channel partners. VMware records the amofitite marketing development
funds, based on the maximum potential liabilityaagduction of revenues at the time the underly@vgnue is recognized. The difference
between the maximum potential liability recorded #me actual amount paid out has not been materite.

Services revenues

Services revenues consist of software maintenamtg@fessional services. VMware recognizes sofvmaaintenance revenues ratably
over the contract period, which typically rangesiirone to five years. Professional services inclleign, implementation and training.
Professional services are not considered essémtiaé functionality of VMwares products as these services do not alter the pradpabilitie:
and may be performed by customers or other ven&oodessional services engagements performedfired fee, for which VMware is able
make reasonably dependable estimates of progressd@ompletion, are recognized on a proportioealggmance basis based on hours and
direct expenses incurred. Professional serviceagergents that are on a time and materials basre@rgnized based upon hours incurred.
Revenues on all other professional services engagisnare recognized upon completion.

Multiple-element arrangements

VMware software products are typically sold witlita@re maintenance services. Vendor-specific objeavidence (“VSOE”) of fair
value for software maintenance services is estadlidby the rates charged in stand-alone saledtofase maintenance contracts. VMware
software products may also be sold with profesdiservices. VSOE of fair value for professionahvéegs is based upon the standard rates
VMware charges for such services when sold sepgrat®lware perpetual software products may be satth products licensed on a
subscription basis. VSOE of fair value for substmip license products is established by the ratesged in stand-alone sales of subscription
license products. The revenues allocated to thevacé license included in multiple-element consaefpresent the residual amount of the
contract after the fair value of the other elemérats been determined.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)

VMware's multiple element arrangements typicallyifeo one or more of the following categories:

« Arrangements including undelivered servicesigbich VSOE of fair value has been established. Regdor those services is
recognized ratably over the service period, ohasservices are delivered. Revenue allocated tddlieered software license elements
is recognized upfront;

» Arrangements including specified software licensenents for which VSOE of fair value cannot be klished. The entire arrangem
fee is deferred until either VSOE of fair valueeigablished or the specified software license ettsnare delivered,;

« Arrangements including undelivered elements et/ SOE of fair value that are not essential ®ftimctionality of the delivered
products where all of the undelivered elementdatiwered ratably over time. Revenue for the erdirangement fee is recognized
ratably, once delivery has commenced, over thedshdelivery period,;

« Arrangements including undelivered elements etV SOE of fair value that are not essential ®ftmctionality of the delivered
products where one or more of the undelivered eftsnere not delivered ratably over time. The ergirangement fee is deferred until
VSOE of fair value is established or only elemeht are delivered ratably over time remain. Attstime, a prorated share of reven
is recognized immediately with any remaining feeognized ratably over the longest remaining ratdblesery period.

Customers under software maintenance agreemengntitied to receive updates and upgrades on a-ahdsf-available basis, and
various types of technical support based on thel lef/support purchased. In the event specificufiest or functionality, entittements, or the
release number of an upgrade have been annountedttielivered, and customers will receive thajraple as part of a current software
maintenance contract, a specified upgrade is deeneatied. As a result of the specified upgradejyrbrevenues are deferred on purchases
made after the announcement date until deliveth@lpgrade for those purchases that include tirerduversion of the product subject to the
announcement. The amount and elements to be défereedependent on whether the company has esdNsSOE of fair value for the
upgrade. On occasion, VSOE of fair value of thgsgrades is established based upon the price sabhggement. VMware has a history of
selling such upgrades on a stand-alone basis.

Unearned revenues include unearned software maimterfees, professional services fees and liceese $ee Note | for further
information.

Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. Dollar is the functional currency of VMwear foreign subsidiaries. Gains and losses froreifior currency transactions are
included in other income (expense), net and wetenaterial on a net basis in any period presented.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investngent

VMware invests a portion of its excess cash prilmami money market funds, highly liquid debt instrants of the U.S. government and its
agencies, U.S. municipal obligations, and U.S.faneign corporate debt securities. VMware classi&i# highly liquid investments with
maturities of 90 days or less from date of purcleseash equivalents and all highly liquid investtaavith maturities of greater than 90 days
from date of purchase as short-term investmentswsid classifies its investments as available-fée:9aMware may sell these securities at
any time for use in current operations or for ofh@mposes, such as consideration for acquisitiodssérategic investments. Consequently,
VMware may or may not hold securities with statemtumities greater than twelve months until maturtg a result, VMware classifies its
investments, which include securities with matasdtbeyond twelve months, as current assets inctt@rganying consolidated balance sheets.

VMware carries its fixed income investments, aslaglits equity investments in public companies tzave readily determinable fair
values, at fair value and reports unrealized gaitslosses on these investments, net of estimategatovisions or benefits, in accumulated
other comprehensive income, a component of stodiensl equity. VMware periodically evaluates whettleclines in fair values of its
investments below their cost basis are other-tbampbrary. This evaluation consists of several tptale and quantitative factors, including
VMware’s ability and intent to hold the investmemtil a forecasted recovery occurs, as well asdagjine in the investment quality of the
security and the severity and duration of the uired loss. Unrealized losses which are determtodzk other than temporary, as well as
realized gains and losses, are recorded to VMwammisolidated statements of income. Realized gaiddosses on the sale of fixed income
securities issued by the same issuer and of the sgre are determined using the first-in first-¢&FO”) method.

In addition, VMware has restrictions on certaintcamounts pursuant to the terms of various agreemeMware includes this restricted
cash in other current and other lotegm assets in the accompanying consolidated balsimeets. The amount of restricted cash was netrial
in any period presented.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

VMware maintains an allowance for doubtful accodotsestimated probable losses on uncollectibl®ats receivable. The allowance
is based upon the creditworthiness of VMware’s @mgrs, historical experience, the age of the red#évand current market and economic
conditions. Uncollectible amounts are charged agjaire allowance account.

Property and Equipment, Ne

Property and equipment, net are recorded at cegirdgiation commences upon placing the assetwicsesnd is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful livethe assets, as follows:

Buildings Term of underlying land lease

Land improvements 15 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Equipment and software 2 years or useful life, not to exceed 20 years
Leasehold improvements Lease term, not to exceed 20 years

Upon retirement or disposition, the asset costrataded accumulated depreciation are removed wighgain or loss recognized as
operating expenses in the consolidated stateméirisame. Repair and maintenance costs that dextend the economic life of the
underlying assets are expensed as incurred.

Internal-Use Software Development Costs

VMware capitalizes costs associated with interrsa-software systems during the application devedopirstage. Capitalization of costs
begins when the preliminary project stage is coteplemanagement has committed to funding the prraged it is probable that project will be
completed and the software will be used to perftvenfunction intended. Management applies judgriredetermining if such criteria have
been met. Capitalization ceases at the point iiclwtihe project is substantially complete and &dsefor its intended purpose. The capitalized
amounts are included in property and equipmentpnehe consolidated balance sheets and amortizadioe useful life of the software. Costs
related to preliminary project activities and posplementation activities are expensed as incurred.

Research and Development and Capitalized Softwaey&opment Cosi

Development costs of software to be sold, leased{rerwise marketed are subject to capitalizaltieginning when the product's
technological feasibility has been establishedemding when the product is available for generalase. Judgment is required in determining
when technological feasibility is established asdree Company's business, products and go-to-msiriet¢gy have evolved, management has
continued to evaluate when technological feasjbifitestablished. Following the release of vSpleaad the comprehensive suite of cloud
infrastructure technologies in the third quarte011, management determined that VMware's go-tdkebatrategy had changed from single
solutions to product suite solutions. As a resfith change in strategy, and the related incidasportance of interoperability between
VMware's products, the length of time between aghgetechnological feasibility and general releiseustomers significantly decreased. For
future releases, management expects VMware's piotlube available for general release soon atdmtological feasibility has been
established. In the fourth quarter of 2011, altwafe development costs were expensed as incurred.

VMware's research and development (“R&D”) experesas amounts that the Company has capitalized asaref development costs may
not be comparable to VMware's peer companies ddéfeyences in judgment as to when technologieakibility has been reached or
differences in judgment regarding when the prodietailable for general release. Additionally uiet changes in management's judgment
when technological feasibility is established, dditional changes in VMware's business, includisgyb-to-market strategy, could materially
impact the amount of costs capitalized. For exanipthe length of time between technological fediy and general availability was to
increase again in the future, the amount of capédlcosts would likely increase.

Generally accepted accounting principles requireiahamortization expense of capitalized softwarestbpment costs to be the greater of
the amounts computed using the ratio of currenégrevenue to a product’s total current and argtteighrevenues, or the straight-line method
over the product’s remaining estimated economé Iifo date, VMware has amortized these costs tagtraight-line method as it is the
greater of the two amounts. The costs are amortized periods ranging from 18 to 24 months, whighresent the product’s estimated
economic life. The ongoing assessment of the reatildy of these costs requires considerable juelginby management with respect to
certain external factors such as anticipated futewenue, estimated economic life, and changesftware and hardware technologies. Mate
differences in amortization amounts could occua assult of changes in the periods over which VMaeattually generates revenues or the
amounts of
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revenues generated.

Unamortized software development costs were $1@dI®n and $103.3 million as of December 31, 2@tH 2010 , respectively, and are
included in capitalized software development cast$,and other on the consolidated balance sheets.

For the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 && , 20Mware capitalized $86.4 million (including &2 million of stock-based
compensation), $71.6 million (including $10.9 naitli of stock-based compensation) and $83.5 millieciding $14.9 million of stock-based
compensation), respectively, of costs incurredtierdevelopment of software products. These amdwavs been excluded from R&D
expenses on the accompanying consolidated staterokimcome. Amortization expense from capitaliaegounts was $84.7 million , $99.5
million and $82.9 million for the years ended Debem31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , respectively. Arpatittn expense is included in cost of
license revenues on the consolidated statemermsae.

Intangible Assets and Goodwi

Intangible assets from business combination anet @sschases, other than goodwill, are amortizest their estimated useful lives, which
range up to 13 years , during which the assetexgrected to contribute directly or indirectly tdudte cash flows. In the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 , VMware amarth6y.1 million , $34.8 million and $14.1 milliomespectively, for intangible assets.

VMware reviews intangible assets for impairmenthia fourth quarter of each year or more frequeifittyents or changes in business
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounth@fissets may not be fully recoverable or thauseful lives of these assets are no longer
appropriate.

Goodwill is initially carried at its historical cbs/Mware tests goodwill for impairment in the feluiquarter of each year or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstancdgate that the asset might be impaired.

To date, there have been no impairments of goodwibther intangible assets.

Derivative Instruments

Derivative instruments and hedging activities aeasured at fair value and reported as currentsagadtcurrent liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets, as applicable.

In order to manage VMware’s exposure to foreigmengy fluctuations, VMware enters into foreign ety contracts to hedge a portion
of VMware’s net outstanding monetary asset andliiglpositions. These foreign currency forward traicts are generally traded on a monthly
basis, with a typical contractual term of one mofithese forward contracts are not designated agifigechstruments under applicable
accounting guidance, and therefore are adjustértealue through other income (expense), nehédonsolidated statements of income.

Starting in the fourth quarter of 2011, VMware eatkinto forward contracts which it designated ashcflow hedges to manage the
volatility of cash flows primarily related to opé¢ireg expenses denominated in certain foreign ceiesn The cash flow hedges are generally
traded semi-annually, have maturities of six mowthkess and are adjusted to fair value througlimecdated other comprehensive income, net
of tax, on the consolidated balance sheets. Wheennierlying expense transaction occurs, the gaitssses on the forward contract are
subsequently reclassified from accumulated othemprehensive income to the related operating exp@mséem in the consolidated
statements of income.

The Company does not enter into speculative foreiginange contracts for trading purposes. See Blatethe consolidated financial
statements for further information.

Business Combination

For business combinations, VMware recognizes thatiflable assets acquired, the liabilities assymaed any non-controlling interests in
an acquiree, which are measured based on the #@mquiate fair value. Businesses acquired from EMEaccounted for as a business
combination between entities under common contodyant to generally accepted accounting princip/éware includes the results of
operations of the acquired businesses under conaranol, if material, in the period of acquisitias if it had occurred at the beginning of the
period and retrospectively adjusts financial infation presented for prior years. VMware recognthesnet assets under common control at
their carrying values as of the date of the tranafel records the excess, or shortfall, of they@agrvalues over, or under, the cash
consideration as an equity transaction. Goodwilibother business combinations is measuredeassthess of consideration transferred, the
fair value of any non-controlling interest, and fai& value of previously held equity interest otlee net amounts of the identifiable tangible
and intangible assets acquired and the liabilaEsimed at the acquisition date.

VMware uses significant estimates and assumptionhkiding fair value estimates, to determine thevalue of assets
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acquired and liabilities assumed and when appkcti# related useful lives of the acquired assstsf the business combination date. When
those estimates are provisional, VMware refinesthe necessary during the measurement period. €asurement period is the period after
the acquisition date, not to exceed one year, ictwkiMware may gather new information about fagtd aircumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date to adjust the provisional amouet®gnized. Measurement period adjustments aréegptrospectively, if material. All other
adjustments are recorded to the consolidated statsnof income.

Costs to effect an acquisition are recorded in ggrad administrative expenses on the consolidstitdments of income as the expenses
are incurred.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiegiexpense was $19.6 million , $13.7 million &3d0 million in the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 , respectively.

Income Taxes

Income taxes as presented herein are calculatadseparate tax return basis, although VMware isidted in the consolidated tax returr
EMC. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recghfor the expected future tax consequencesaitevthat have been included in the
financial statements or tax returns. Deferred &sets and liabilities are determined based onitferehce between the tax basis of assets and
liabilities and their reported amounts using endte rates in effect for the year in which thdetiénces are expected to reverse. Tax credits
are generally recognized as reductions of incom@itavisions in the year in which the credits ariBee measurement of deferred tax assets is
reduced by a valuation allowance if, based upoiilabhle evidence, it is more likely than not thatreoor all of the deferred tax assets will not
be realized.

VMware does not provide for a U.S. income tax ligpon undistributed earnings of VMware’s foreigabsidiaries. The earnings of non-
U.S. subsidiaries, which reflect full provision foon-U.S. income taxes, are currently indefinitelynvested in non-U.S. operations or will be
remitted substantially free of additional tax.H&te overseas funds are needed for its operatighs U.S., VMware would be required to
accrue and pay U.S. taxes on related undistribegeaings to repatriate these funds. However, VMiganeent is to indefinitely reinvest its
non-U.S. earnings in its foreign operations and \dis current plans do not demonstrate a needhtiniate them to fund its U.S. operations.

The difference between the income taxes payalleaaivable that is calculated on a separate rétasis and the amount actually paid to
or received from EMC pursuant to VMware’s tax shgragreement is presented as a component of atlifiaid-in capital. See Note K for
further information.

Earnings Per Share

Basic net income per share is calculated usingvifighted-average number of shares of VMware’s comatock outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share are calculagiaguhe weighted-average number of common shaobsding the dilutive effect of equity
awards as determined under the treasury stock mhethdware has two classes of common stock, Claasd\Class B common stock. For
purposes of calculating earnings per share, VMwaes the two-class method. As both classes shasathe rights in dividends, basic and
diluted earnings per share are the same for baises.

Concentrations of Risks

Financial instruments, which potentially subject Wiste to concentrations of credit risk, consist gipally of cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments and accounts receivableéh Gasleposit with banks exceeds the amount of &msie provided on such deposits. These
deposits may be redeemed upon demand. VMware ptasés cash equivalents and short-term investnpeimbgrily in money market funds
and fixed income securities and limits the amodrnhwestment with any single issuer and any siffigiancial institution. VMware holds a
diversified portfolio of money market funds andeikincome securities, which primarily consist ofieas highly liquid debt instruments of the
U.S. government and its agencies, U.S. municipkdations, and U.S. and foreign corporate debt sées. VMware’s fixed income
investment portfolio is denominated in U.S. dollansl consists of securities with various maturities

VMware monitors the counterparty risk for adequditeersification amongst the financial institutiamslding the funds. VMware also
monitors counterparty risk to financial instituteowith which VMware enters into derivatives to emstihat these financial institutions are of
high credit quality.

VMware held $58.4 million of foreign government aagkencies securities, $38.0 million of which isrded sovereign debt, at December
31, 2011. These sovereign debt securities haveenage credit rating of AAA and are predominanthynfi Australia, Canada and Great Briti
None of the securities deemed sovereign debt ane Greece, Ireland, Italy, Portugal or Spi
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VMware provides credit to distributors, reselleand certain end-user customers in the normal cairtasiness. Credit is generally
extended to new customers based upon a creditagiaiu Credit is extended to existing customergtam ongoing credit evaluations, prior
payment history and demonstrated financial stgbilit

As of December 31, 2011 , three distributors actedifor 20% , 16% and 11% of VMware’s accounts ikedse balance. As of
December 31, 2010 , three distributors accountedd®o , 13% and 12% of VMware’s accounts receivhblance.

One distributor accounted for 15% , 13% and 16%gwénues in 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , respectively aanther distributor accounted for
11% , 10% , and less than 10% of revenues in 2@010 and 2009 , respectively. A third distribuaccounted for 10% , 11% and 15% of
revenues in 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , respectively.

Accounting for StockBased Compensation

VMware utilizes the Black-Scholes option-pricing debto determine the fair value of VMware’s stogkion awards. The Black-Scholes
model includes assumptions regarding dividend giedokpected volatility, expected term and risk-freerest rates. These assumptions reflect
the Company'’s best estimates, but these itemsvauahcertainties based on market and other conditiaitside of the Company’s control.
VMware restricted stock unit awards are valued tasethe Companyg’stock price on the date of grant. VMware recogmizompensation cc
on a straight-line basis for the awards expectae b over the awards’ vesting periods for thosarde/which contain only a service vesting
feature.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting StashsleBoard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Updéo. 2011-08, Testing
Goodwill for Impairment (the revised standard) (42011-08"). ASU 2011-08 is intended to reducedbst and complexity of the annual
goodwill impairment test by providing entities gption to perform a “qualitative” assessment to datee whether further impairment testing
is necessary. ASU 2011-08 is effective for annuadl iaterim goodwill impairment tests performed figcal years beginning after December
15, 2011. VMware does not expect the adoption d&2811-08 to impact its consolidated financial etagnts.

In June 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standdpate No. 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensieenie (“ASU 2011-05"). ASU
2011-05 eliminates the option to report other cahpnsive income and its components in the stateai@manges in equity. Comprehensive
income will either have to be presented in oneioowus statement of comprehensive income or twarsép consecutive statements. In
December 2011, an amendment was issued to theeutidaitdefers the requirement to present reclaasifin adjustments out of accumulated
other comprehensive income on the face of the dinlaged statement of income. VMware adopted thi»anting standard update, as
amended, on January 1, 2012, and will present cgingmisive income in accordance with the requiremaritse standard.

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standardddtie No. 20104, Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measerg anc
Disclosure Requirements in United States Genefallyepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”) anddmational Financial Reporting
Standards (“ASU 2011-04"). ASU 2011-04 changesaieifair value measurement principles and enhatieedisclosure requirements
particularly for Level 3 fair value measurement§WA2011-04 is effective for each reporting entififst interim and annual reporting period
that begins after December 15, 2011 and shoulgpkea prospectively. Early application is not péted. VMware does not expect a
significant impact from the adoption of ASU 2011-@4its consolidated financial statements.

B. Earnings per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigincome by the weighted-average number of comshanes outstanding during the
period. Diluted net income per share is computedibiging net income by the weighted-average nunadf@ommon shares outstanding and
potentially dilutive securities outstanding durithg period, as calculated using the treasury stoethod. Potentially dilutive securities include
stock options, unvested restricted stock unitsested restricted stock awards, other unvestedatestrstock, and purchase options under
VMware’s employee stock purchase plan. Securitieeacluded from the computations of diluted nebme per share if their effect would be
anti-dilutive. As of December 31, 2011 , VMware H#&8.6 million shares of Class A common stock a@@.@ million shares of Class B
common stock outstanding that were included inctileulation of basic earnings per share. VMwares tise two-class method to calculate
earnings per share as both classes share the gntseim dividends, therefore basic and dilutechigrys per share are the same for both classes
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The following table sets forth the computationdasic and diluted net income per share (tableanghnds, except per share data):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net income $ 723,93t $ 357,43¢ $ 197,09¢
Weighted-average shares, basic for Class A and@as 421,18¢ 409,80! 394,26¢
Effect of dilutive securities 10,56: 13,64: 5,507
Weighted-average shares, diluted for Class A aagd<CB 431,75( 423,44¢ 399,77t
Net income per weighted-average share, basic fas<CA and Class B $ 172 % 087 $ 0.5C
Net income per weighted-average share, dilute€fass A and Class B $ 168 $ 0.8/ % 0.4¢

For the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 &0fi,200ck options to purchase 0.8 million , 2.4iar and 20.6 million shares,
respectively, of VMware Class A common stock wetele@ded from the diluted earnings per share calimria because their effect would have
been anti-dilutive. For the year ended DecembeRB11 , no shares of restricted stock were excldided the diluted earnings per share
calculation. For the years ended December 31, 208009 , 0.1 million and 2.9 million shares ditrieted stock were excluded from the
diluted earnings per share calculations becausedfiect would have been anti-dilutive.

C. Investments

Investments as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 ¢edsi$ the following (table in thousands):

December 31, 2011

Cost or

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Aggregate

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 516,79 $ 1,84: $ (23) % 518,61
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities 1,134,00! 1,40¢ (2,03¢) 1,133,37
Foreign governments and multi-national agency albiions 58,45t 30 (87) 58,39¢
Municipal obligations 768,28: 1,39¢ (437) 769,24
Asset-backed securities 27,107 2 (23) 27,08¢
Mortgage-backed securities 49,77¢ 12¢ 172 49,73¢
Total investments $ 2,554,421 $ 480z $ (2,77¢) $ 2,556,45!

December 31, 2010
Cost or

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Aggregate

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 379,28t $ 326 $ (310 ¢ 379,30«
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities 522,67 724 (28€) 523,11!
Foreign governments and multi-national agency alilims 63,10: 72 (23) 63,16(
Municipal obligations 660,13t 111 (762) 659,48’
Asset-backed securities 17,80( 9 — 17,80¢
Total fixed income securities 1,643,00. 1,24z (1,377 1,642,87
Equity securities 20,00( 31,80( — 51,80(
Total investments $ 1,663,00. $ 33,04: % (1,37) $ 1,694,67!

During the year ended December 31, 2011 , a rehfire-tax gain of $56.0 million was recorded inesttncome (expense), net on the
consolidated income statement for the sale of VMygacommon stock investment in Terremark Worldwide,, which was acquired by
Verizon in a cash transaction. All other realizeihg and realized losses on investments were nigtri@isfor the years presented.
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As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 , VMware did rasehinvestments in a material continuous unrealiassl position for twelve months
or greater. Unrealized losses on investments &eoémber 31, 2011 and 2010 that have been inlasgeposition for less than twelve months
were classified by investment category as follotablé in thousands):

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses
U.S. government and agency obligations $ 50,60« $ 23 $ 109,93. $ (310
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities 539,22¢ (2,03¢6) 149,83: (28€)
Foreign governments and multi-national agency alilims 43,02¢ (87) 26,41¢ (23
Municipal obligations 298,18 (40€) 412,88 (762)
Asset-backed securities 20,02t (23 — —
Mortgage-backed securities 32,811 (172) — —
Total investments $ 983,88° $ 2,747 $ 699,06( $ (1,377

VMware evaluated its investments as of DecembePB11 and 2010 and determined that there were realimed losses that indicated an
other-than-temporary impairment.

Contractual Maturities

The contractual maturities of investments held etd@nber 31, 2011 consisted of the following (tablhousands):

Amortized Aggregate

Cost Basis Fair Value
Due within one year $ 1,262,141 $ 1,262,37!
Due after 1 year through 5 years 1,249,18 1,250,98
Due after 5 years 43,09" 43,09
Total $ 2,654,421 % 2,556,45!

D. Fair Value Measurements

Generally accepted accounting principles provige thir value is an exit price, representing theoant that would be received upon the
sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liabilitamnorderly transaction between market participakéssuch, fair value is a market-based
measurement that is determined based on assumgh@insarket participants would use in pricing aged or liability. As a basis for
considering such assumptions, generally acceptasliating principles established a thte=-value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputsed
in measuring fair value as follows: (Level 1) inpatre quoted prices in active markets for identisakts or liabilities; (Level 2) inputs other
than the quoted prices included within Level 1 duat observable for the assets or liabilities,egitlirectly or indirectly; and (Level 3)
unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilittree/hich there is little or no market data, whichuees VMware to develop its own assumptic

VMware’s Level 1 classification of the fair valueharchy includes money market funds, availablesfle equity securities and certain
available-for-sale fixed income securities becabtsse securities are valued using quoted pricastime markets for identical assets.

VMware’s Level 2 classification includes the rermd®n of the available-for-sale fixed income secesitbecause these securities are priced
using quoted market prices for similar instrumeartd non-binding market prices that are corroborhjedbservable market data. VMware
obtains the fair values of its Level 2 financiagtiuments based upon fair values obtained froruissody bank. In addition, VMware obtains
fair values of its Level 2 financial instrumenterr the asset manager of each of its portfolios. \Aweavalidates the fair value provided by its
custody bank by comparing it against the indepenpliecing information obtained from the asset maragindependently, the custody bank
and the asset managers use professional pricingagto gather pricing data which may include gdanarket prices for identical or
comparable instruments, or inputs other than quptees that are observable either directly orrimctly. VMware is ultimately responsible for
the financial statements and underlying estimates.

Additionally, VMware's Level 2 classification indes foreign currency forward contracts as the wmloanputs for these are based upon
quoted prices and quoted pricing intervals fromligulata sources. These contracts were not maferiainy period presented. VMware does
not have any material assets or liabilities thitfiéo Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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The following table sets forth the fair value hietsy of VMware’s money market funds and availaliegale securities, including those
securities classified within cash and cash equntalen the consolidated balance sheets, that wegrered to be measured at fair value as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010 (table in thousands):

December 31, 2011

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Money-market funds 1,345,90. $ — ¢ 1,345,90.
U.S. government and agency obligations 170,74« 347,87( 518,61«
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities — 1,143,37 1,143,37
Foreign governments and multi-national agency albiigns — 58,39’ 58,397
Municipal obligations — 769,24 769,24
Asset-backed securities — 27,08¢ 27,08¢
Mortgage-backed securities — 49,73¢ 49,73¢
Total cash equivalents and investments 1,516,64: $ 2,395,700 % 3,912,35.

December 31, 2010

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Money-market funds 1,436,31' $ — $ 1,436,31!
U.S. government and agency obligations 66,76 312,54: 379,30!
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities — 537,54« 537,54«
Foreign governments and multi-national agency @aibilims — 63,16 63,16
Municipal obligations — 659,48 659,48
Asset-backed securities — 55,74¢ 55,74¢
Equity securities 51,80( — 51,80(
Total cash equivalents and investments 1,554,88.  $ 1,628,48. $ 3,183,36!

E. Derivative Instruments

VMware conducts business in several foreign cuiesnand has international sales and expenses deatadiin foreign currencies,
subjecting the Company to foreign currency risk.niitigate this risk, VMware enters into hedgingiaties as described below. The
counterparties to VMware's foreign currency forweoditracts are multi-national commercial banks mered to be credit-worthy. VMware
does not enter into speculative foreign exchangeraots for trading purposes.

Cash Flow Hedging Activities

To mitigate its exposure to foreign currency flatians resulting from operating expenses denominiateertain foreign currencies,
VMware entered into foreign currency forward cootsastarting in the fourth quarter of 2011. The @any designates these forward contracts
as cash flow hedging instruments as the accountiteyia for such designation has been met. Thegethe effective portion of gains or losses
resulting from changes in the fair value of thesddes is initially reported in accumulated othenpeehensive income on the consolidated
balance sheet, and is subsequently reclassifitftbtrelated operating expense line item in the clideted statements of income in the same
period that the underlying expenses are incurrgérést charges or "forward points" on VMware's\anrd contracts are excluded from the
assessment of hedge effectiveness and are redorddter income (expense), net in the consolidatattments of income as incurred. For the
year ended December 31, 2011, all amounts recagjoiz¢he consolidated statements of income relat&Mware's cash flow hedgir
program were immaterial.

VMware generally enters into cash flow hedges sammually with maturities of six months or less.#&®ecember 31, 2011 , VMware
had forward contracts to purchase currency desgras cash flow hedges with a total notional valu®7.1 million . The fair value of these
forward contracts was immaterial as of Decembe2811 , and therefore excluded from the fair vahides above. For the year ended
December 31, 2011, all cash flow hedges were cersideffective.

Balance Sheet Hedging Activities

In order to manage exposure to foreign currencstdlations, VMware enters into foreign currenc yfard contracts to hedge a portion of
its net outstanding monetary assets and liabilagsnst movements in certain foreign exchange rateese forward contracts are not
designated as hedging instruments under applieatgieunting guidance, and therefore all
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changes in the fair value of the forward contracéesreported in other income (expense), net ictimsolidated statements of income. The g
and losses on VMware’s foreign currency forwardtcaets generally offset the majority of the gains éosses associated with the underlying
foreign-currency denominated assets and liabilities VMware hedges.

VMware’s foreign currency forward contracts are gratly traded on a monthly basis with a typicaltcactual term of one month. As of
December 31, 2011 and 2010 , VMware had outstarfdimgard contracts with a total notional value 828.1 million and $238.9 million ,

respectively. The fair value of these forward caats was immaterial as of December 31, 2011 an@ aad therefore excluded from the fair
value tables above.

F. Business Combinations, Goodwill and Intangible Asets, Net
Business Combination

The results of operations of all acquired businessel transferred net assets mentioned below heareibcluded in VMware’s
consolidated financial statements from the respeatates of purchase or transfer, as applicabtefdPma results of operations have not been
presented as the results of the acquired businassesansferred net assets, prior to being aad|liyevMware, were not material, individually
or in aggregate, to the consolidated results ofaifmms in the years ended December 31, 2011 , @02009 .

The excess of the consideration for acquisitiortsteamsferred net assets over the fair values ragitp the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, which represents the goodwill resultinmfacquisitions, was allocated to VMware's one ripg unit in the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 , respectiveindgement believes that the goodwill mainly repressthe synergies expected from
combining the technologies of VMware with thoseaofjuired businesses and transferred net assete.didmne goodwill was deductible for
income tax purposes in the years ended Decemb@031,, 2010 or 2009 .

Fiscal Year 2011

In the year ended December 31, 2011 , VMware cotexblsix business combinations, which were not radter VMware's consolidated
financial statements, either individually or in thggregate. The aggregate consideration for thespasitions was $304.2 million , net of cash
acquired, and includes cash of $303.6 million dredfair value of equity awards assumed attribudgoré-combination services of $0.6
million . The following table summarizes the alltioa of the consideration to the fair value of thagible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in the year ended DecembeR@B11 (table in thousands):

Other current assets $ 4,85¢
Intangible assets 104,50(
Goodwill 188,39!
Deferred tax assets 48,85
Other assets 10C
Total tangible and intangible assets acquired 346,70:
Unearned revenues (8,247)
Deferred tax liabilities (25,499
Accrued liabilities and other (8,71%)
Total liabilities assumed (42,459
Fair value of tangible and intangible assets aeguand liabilities assumed $ 304,24

Fiscal Year 2010

Business Acquisitions

In the year ended December 31, 2010 , VMware aedusix companies, which were not material to VMvsoensolidated financial
statements, either individually or in the aggregatee aggregate consideration for these acquisitices $293.0 million , net of cash acquired.
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The following table summarizes the allocation af tonsideration paid to the fair value of the thfggand intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in the year ended DecembeRB310 (table in thousands):

Other current assets $ 6,32¢
Intangible assets 114,10(
Goodwill 178,16(
Deferred tax assets 48,32¢
Total tangible and intangible assets acquired 346,91:
Unearned revenue (21,42
Deferred tax liabilities (30,109
Accrued liabilities and other (2,419
Total liabilities assumed (53,94))
Fair value of tangible and intangible assets aegluénd liabilities assumed $ 292,97(

Transfer of Net Assets Under Common Control

In April 2010, VMware acquired certain software guat technology and expertise from EMC's lonix imf@tion technology (“IT")
management business for cash consideration of $h7flion . The acquired software product technglagd expertise complemented
VMware’'s existing development efforts and expanitiedCenter product family. EMC retained the lobhand and continues to offer
customers the products acquired by VMware, pursigatfite ongoing reseller agreement between EMCvahdare. Additionally, contingent
amounts totaling up to $25.0 million were payabl&MC by the end of the second anniversary ofriduesfer. These amounts were contingent
on EMC achieving certain revenue milestones. Duttregyears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 ngeniti consideration of $14.4 million
and $10.6 million , respectively, was paid to EM®ese amounts were recorded as equity transaciwhsvere offsets to the initial capital
contribution from EMC.

The net assets and expertise acquired from EMClibaties! a business and were accounted for as adssicombination between entities
under common control pursuant to generally acceptedunting principles. Accordingly, VMware inclutithe carrying values of the
transferred assets and liabilities as of the dateansfer in its consolidated financial statemeatswell as recorded the excess of the carrying
values over the cash consideration as an equitgdction. VMware did not revise its historical colidated financial statements as the
historical impact of the acquired net assets wasnaterial to the previously reported financial iioss, results of operations, or cash flows.

The following table summarizes the net carryingreal of the tangible and intangible assets anditiabitransferred to VMware and the
capital contribution from EMC, as of the transfatel and exclude the subsequent contingent coasioleipaid referenced above (table in
thousands):

Property and equipment $ 3,09z
Other assets 1,38:
Deferred tax asset 48,61¢
Intangible assets 37,02¢
Goodwill 275,26(
Total tangible and intangible assets acquired 365,38
Unearned revenue (17,990
Deferred tax liabilities (2,88¢)
Other liabilities (1,639
Capital contribution from EMC (167,86¢)
Total liabilities assumed and capital received (190,38
Tangible and intangible assets acquired and lisslassumed, and capital received $ 175,00(

Fiscal Year 2009

On September 15, 2009, VMware acquired all of #maining outstanding capital stock of SpringSo@tebal, Inc. (“SpringSource”),
under the terms of an Agreement and Plan of Mezgtared into in August 2009. The SpringSource a&itipm was accounted for as a business
combination.

The aggregate consideration transferred to ac@grangSource was $389.2 million , which includedrcaf $373.0 million and the fair
value of stock options assumed attributed to prelipnation services of $16.2 million . In additighe
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Company assumed stock options attributed to pastatation services and issued restricted commarkstith a total fair value of $44.6
million .

In accordance with the merger agreement, the nupfbékware stock options into which assumed Sprimg$e stock options were
converted and the number of shares of restrictethoon stock that were issued were determined basedatio. The ratio was derived from
the per share merger consideration payable to rofeSpringSource capital stock and the ten-dagitig average of VMware’s Class A
common stock two trading days immediately prioSgptember 15, 2009. The assumed vested and unestidptions converted into 652.3
million and 476.1 million , respectively, of VMwastock options to purchase Class A common stodk aviveighted-average exercise price of
$4.87 per share. In addition, 572.5 million sharfegMware Class A restricted common stock wereéskto certain employees of
SpringSource who agreed to accept shares of VM®k®s A common stock subject to vesting restrictionlieu of a portion of their cash
merger proceeds.

The Company included the fair value of the stockonms assumed by VMware attributed to pre-combamaservices of $16.2 million in
the consideration transferred for the acquisititime fair value of the stock options attributed ¢stscombination services and the fair value of
the restricted common stock of $44.6 million weoé included in the consideration transferred amdteing recognized as stock-based
compensation expense over their remaining requssiteice periods. The fair value of the stock amiovas estimated using a Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted-@erage assumptions: i) market price of $40.00 paresiwhich was the closing price of
VMware's Class A common stock on the acquisitioted®) expected term of 1.6 years; iii) risk-friegerest rate of 0.7% ; iv) annualized
volatility of 38.1% ; and v) no dividend yield. Theeighted-average acquisition-date fair value efaesumed stock options attributed to post-
combination services was $35.02 . The fair valuthefrestricted common stock was based on the sitiquidate closing price of $40.00 per
share for VMware’s Class A common stock.

In connection with the acquisition, VMware alsoeapt to offer additional equity incentives to SpBogrce employees. Accordingly,
VMware granted an aggregate of approximately 2IBanistock options and 0.8 million restricted stamits under its 2007 Equity and
Incentive Plan shortly after the close of the asitjoin. Stock-based compensation expense of appedgiy $58 million is being recognized
over the four -year vesting term of the awards.

The following table summarizes the allocation af tonsideration paid to the fair value of the thfggand intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in the year ended DecembeR3Q9 (table in thousands):

Cash $ 16,70:¢
Other current assets 8,147
Property and equipment 1,071
Intangible assets 46,00(
Goodwill 340,09:
Deferred tax asset and other assets 16,40¢
Total assets acquired 428,41¢
Deferred tax liability (16,76))
Unearned revenue (7,817
Other current liabilities (3,067%)
Income taxes payable (9,925
Total liabilities assumed (37,560
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired andilitéds assumed $ 390,85¢

As required by generally accepted accounting pplesi VMware remeasured a previously held equitgrest in SpringSource to a fair
value of $10.9 million immediately before the aditibn date and recorded a gain of $5.9 milliowtiner income (expense), net on the
consolidated statements of income for the yearemirEember 31, 2009 . The $10.9 million was reabtdegoodwill, bringing the total
amount of goodwill related to SpringSource to $850illion for the year ended December 31, 2009e $h0.9 million in goodwill is not
included in the table above as it is not considgant of the purchase price.
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Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for ylears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 consisthd @illowing (table in
thousands):

December 31,

2011 2010
Balance, beginning of the year $ 1,568,600 $ 1,115,76!
Increase in goodwill related to business combimetio 188,39! 453,42(
Deferred tax adjustments to purchase price allonaton previous acquisitions 94t 2,06z
Other adjustments to purchase price allocationgremious acquisitions 1,14C (2,657
Balance, end of the year $ 1,759,081 $ 1,568,60!

Intangible Assets, Ne

Changes in the carrying amount of intangible assets excluding goodwill as of December 31, 20d4d 2010 consisted of the following
(table in thousands):

December 31,

2011 2010
Balance, beginning of the year $ 210,92¢ $ 94,557
Additions to intangible assets related to busimessbinations and asset purchases 116,80( 151,12¢
Purchase of leasehold interest (see Note G) 146,75 —
Change in accumulated amortization (67,110 (34,759
Balance, end of the year $ 40737t $ 210,92

Intangible assets, net, excluding goodwill, as eE&mber 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the follg\table in thousands):

Weighted-
Average
Useful Lives Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Book
2011 (in years) Amount Amortization Value
Purchased technology 51 $ 374,25; $ (203,25) $ 170,99!
Customer relationships and customer lists 7.3 125,96 (45,979 79,98¢
Trademarks and tradenames 6.3 24,95( (13,650 11,30(
Leasehold interest 34.¢ 146,75 (2,529 144,23:
Other 3.C 3,05¢ (2,197 85¢
Total intangible assets, net, excluding goodwill $ 674,97t $ (267,609 $ 407,37!
Weighted-
Average
Useful Lives Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Book
2010 (in years) Amount Amortization Value
Purchased technology 4.8 279,05 $ (157,409 $ 121,64:
Customer relationships and customer lists 7.6 88,99/ (23,85¢) 65,13¢
Trademarks and tradenames 6.2 24, 78( (11,116 13,66¢
Other 4.3 18,42¢ (7,942) 10,48:
Total intangible assets, net, excluding goodwiill 411,25. $ (200,32) $ 210,92¢
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Based on intangible assets recorded as of Dece®ih@011 and assuming no subsequent additionspaiiment of underlying assets, the
remaining estimated annual amortization expensgpected to be as follows (table in thousands):

2012 $ 75,25
2013 58,19«
2014 50,69(
2015 41,12¢
2016 26,35(
Thereafter 155,76(
Total $ 407,37"

G. Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net, as of December 311, 288l 2010 consisted of the following (table inusands):

December 31,

2011 2010

Equipment and software $ 512,75 $ 438,38
Buildings and improvements 340,59¢ 270,78t
Furniture and fixtures 61,02: 52,61:
Construction in progress 68,701 3,08
Total property and equipment 983,08 764,86
Accumulated depreciation (457,59() (345,80()
Total property and equipment, net $ 525,49( $ 419,06!

Depreciation expense was $126.3 million , $114 [Haniand $102.3 million in the years ended Decengie 2011 , 2010 and 2009 ,
respectively.

In the year ended December 31, 2011 , VMware pueghall of the right, title and interest in a grduease covering the property and
improvements located adjacent to VMware's existadp Alto, California campus for $225.0 million agd upon the respective fair values,
$73.9 millionof the purchase price was recorded to propertyegiuibment, net on the consolidated balance shpetgenting the estimated {
value of the buildings and site improvements. Tédraaining $151.1 million of the $225.0 million puaste price was for the fair value of the
ground lease and the right to develop additionahsg footage on the parcel. The long-term portio$le6.8 millionwas recorded to intangik
assets, net with the remainder recorded to otheeguassets, on the consolidated balance sheeff Becember 31, 2011 , construction in
progress was primarily buildings and site improvataeelated to VMware's campus expansion that lbatheen placed into service.

Concurrent with the closing of the transaction, Ve entered into an amended and restated grousel fieathe new property with the
Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Juniongrsity (“Stanford”), the lessor of both the nevoperty and VMware’s existing campus.
VMware will possess the title to the interest anddings during the duration of the lease. Upomieation of the lease, all title will revert to
Stanford. The $73.9 millioof buildings and site improvements will be depresisfrom the date they are placed into serviceuthinahe term ¢
the amended and restated ground lease. The $18lidhrof intangible assets will amortize through4b . At the closing, VMware also
entered into an amendment to the ground leasésfexisting campus so that the terms of both leadlebe 34 years and 11 months from the
closing of the purchase agreement.

Annual rent payments to Stanford for the new priypeill initially be approximately $6.8 million ,rad will increase by 3% annually.
VMware is also responsible for paying all taxesuirance and other expenses necessary to opergiarta. Additional rent of approximately
$1.1 million per year will become payable in cortrmtwith the effectiveness of a right to constriwcther improvements on the parcel, which
is currently expected to begin no earlier thanfitts¢ quarter of 2014 . Such additional rent wosidbsequently increase by 2% annually.
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H. Accrued Expenses and Other

Accrued expenses as of December 31, 2011 and 20Kisted of the following (table in thousands):

December 31,

2011 2010
Salaries, commissions, bonuses and benefits $ 287,24¢ $ 242,18(
Accrued partner liabilities 124,35¢ 94,67¢
Other 176,04 122,95
Total $ 587,65( $ 459,81

Accrued partner liabilities relate to rebates aratkating development fund accruals for channelngast system vendors and systems
integrators, as well as accrued royalties.

I. Unearned Revenues

Unearned revenues as of December 31, 2011 andcdikisted of the following (table in thousands):

December 31,

2011 2010
Unearned license revenues $ 389,22! $ 267,05t
Unearned software maintenance revenues 2,133,51 1,461,32.
Unearned professional services revenues 185,68: 131,71¢
Total unearned revenues $ 2,708,4L $ 1,860,09

Unearned license revenues are recognized eitradylyadr upon the delivery of existing products et products or services. Future
products include, in some cases, emerging prodiatsare offered as part of product promotions whke purchaser of an existing product is
entitled to receive a promotional product at noitaital charge. VMware regularly offers product prations as a strategy to improve
awareness of its emerging products. To the extemhptional products have not been delivered and & &0fair value cannot be established,
the revenue for the entire order is deferred wuiih time as all product delivery obligations hbeen fulfilled. Unearned license revenue may
also be recognized ratably, which is generally u right to receive unspecified future producta tack of VSOE of fair value on the
software maintenance element of the arrangemergatded software maintenance revenues are attributaMware's growing base of
maintenance contracts and are recognized ratalelytevms of one to five years with a weighted-ageneemaining term at December 31, 2011
of approximately 1.9 years. Unearned professioaaldises revenues result primarily from prepaid pssfonal services, including training, and
are recognized as the services are delivered.

J. Note Payable to EMC

In April 2007, VMware declared an $800.0 milliorvidiend to EMC paid in the form of a note payablé@hvinterest payable quarterly in
arrears and an original maturity date of April 201 of December 31, 2011 , $450.0 million remdinatstanding. In June 2011, VMware
and EMC amended and restated the note to extenddheity date of the note to April 16, 2015 andrtodify the principal amount of the note
to reflect the outstanding balance of $450.0 nmllidrhe interest rate continues to reset quartartybears an interest rate of the 90 -Day
LIBOR plus 55 basis points. In the years ended Bsez 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , $3.9 million , $dillion and $6.5 million , respectively,
of interest expense were recorded related to theprayable. The note may be repaid prior to thauritgtdate without penalty. No repayments
of principal were made during 2011 and 2010 .

K. Income Taxes

The domestic and foreign components of income kgfoovisions for income taxes were as follows @ablthousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Domestic $ 112,42 % 127,29: % 31,69(
International 681,99( 289,08: 191,75¢
Total $ 794,41° $ 416,37 $ 223,44
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VMware’s provision for income taxes consisted @ tbllowing (table in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Federal:
Current $ 42,77 $ 65,79t $ 41,11«
Deferred (23,56¢) (42,15%) (35,909
19,20¢ 23,63¢ 5,20¢
State:
Current 721 15,49¢ 6,07(
Deferred 11,35 (9,05%) (3,630)
12,07+ 6,441 2,44(
Foreign:
Current 41,35 34,59: 19,64
Deferred (2,159 (5,735 (93¢)
39,197 28,857 18,70:
Total provision for income taxes $ 70,477 % 58,93t $ 26,35:

A reconciliation of VMware's income tax rate to thatutory federal tax rate is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Statutory federal tax rate 35.C% 35.C% 35.C%
State taxes, net of federal benefit 1kt 15 11
Tax rate differential for international jurisdictis (25.1) (27.9) (21.5)
U.S. tax credits (6.2) (8.6) (8.5
Permanent items and other 3.7 3.6 5.7
Effective tax rate 8.2 % 14.2% 11.€%

The increase in the impact of the tax rate difféadiior international jurisdictions from 2010 t@21 is primarily attributable to a shift in
the mix of income before tax from the U.S. to inegional jurisdictions, which largely resulted frdrow certain expenses were allocated to
VMware's world-wide subsidiaries.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognieeéuture tax consequences of differences betweertarrying amounts of assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases usingcted tax rates in effect for the year in whichdifferences are expected to be reversed.
Significant deferred tax assets and liabilitiessisiof the following (table in thousands):

December 31,

2011 2010
Deferred tax assets:
Unearned revenue $ 126,27( % 107,31:
Accruals and other 54,15( 30,67:
Stock-based compensation 56,07 52,09t
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwards 133,08( 95,60¢
Net deferred tax assets 369,57 285,68t
Valuation allowance (56,579 (35,879
Total deferred tax assets 313,00: 249,81!
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment, net
(21,169) (20,229
Intangibles and other assets, net (7,360 (1,557
Other non-current liabilities — (8,319
Total deferred tax liabilities (28,527) (30,09¢)
Total deferred tax assets, net $ 284,47¢ $ 219,71¢

VMware has U.S. federal net operating loss carwéods of $153.7 million from acquisitions made 2007 . These carryforwards
expire at different periods through 2030 . Portiohthese carryforwards are subject to annual éitiihs. VMware expects to be able to fully
use these net operating losses against future icAteo resulting from acquisitions since 2007 , Wate has state net operating loss
carryforwards of $247.6 million expiring at differteperiods through 2031 . A valuation allowance weorded to reduce gross deferred tax
assets to an amount VMware believes is more litedy not to be realized. The valuation allowancattisbutable to the uncertainty regarding
the realization of state tax credit carryforwaraéfs. VMware has non-U.S. net operating losse®ldf 7 million resulting from a non-U.S.
acquisition in 2009 . These net operating losses ha unlimited carryforward period. VMware expdctbe able to fully use these net
operating losses against future non-U.S. incomso AVMware has non-U.S. net operating losses of4$illlion that are subject to a full
valuation allowance as VMware believes it is mdkely than not that ntax benefit will be realized from these losses.skhare primarily fror
a 2009 acquisition.

U.S. income taxes have not been provided on ceutadistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiarieapgdroximately $1,560.9 million and
$900.3 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010 ,a@etyely, because such earnings are considered teitivested indefinitely outside of the
U.S., or will be remitted substantially free of &dwhal tax. VMware's rate of taxation in foreigurigdictions is lower than the U.S. tax rate.
VMware's international income is primarily earngd\tMware's subsidiaries in Ireland, where the $tatutax rate is 12.5% . Management
does not believe that any recent or currently etgaedevelopments in non-U.S. tax jurisdictionsraasonably likely to have a material impact
on VMware's effective tax rate. As of December&111 , VMware's total cash, cash equivalents, aodderm investments were $4,512.3
million , of which $2,072.0 milliorwas held outside the U.S. If these overseas furelaeeded for its operations in the U.S., VMwarelldde
required to accrue and pay U.S. taxes on relatddstiibbuted earnings to repatriate these funds. él@y VMware's intent is to indefinitely
reinvest its non-U.S. earnings in its foreign ogierss and VMware's current plans do not demonsaateed to repatriate them to fund its U.S.
operations. VMware will meet its U.S. liquidity risethrough cash flows from operations, externatdwings, or both. VMware utilizes a
variety of tax planning and financing strategieaimeffort to ensure that its worldwide cash isilaiée in the locations in which it is needed.
All income earned abroad, except for previouslethincome for U.S. tax purposes, is consideredfiinitidy reinvested in VMware's foreign
operations and no provision for U.S. taxes has lpeevided with respect thereto.

VMware is included in the EMC consolidated group{S. federal income tax purposes. As of Decer8tie2011 , VMware had a net
income tax payable of $3.3 million , which was urded in accrued expenses and other on its contetidialance sheet. This net amount is
primarily comprised of amounts due to and due fEEMiC under the tax sharing agreement. VMware hdaralsalone taxable loss for the year
ended December 31, 2011 , which was primarilylaiteble to tax deductions arising from both nonli§jed stock option exercises and from
restricted stock when the restrictions lapsed. Uitttetax sharing agreement with EMC, EMC is olikgieto pay VMware an amount equal to
the tax benefit generated by
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VMware that EMC will recognize on its consolidatad return. EMC refunded income taxes for the 2@&klyear of $138.8 millioto VMware
on a quarterly basis. This represents a signifipaniion of the 2011 federal income tax refund ftoen EMC. VMware will finalize the feder:
income tax return with EMC in 2012. At December 3210 , VMware had an income tax receivable dumfEtMC for $144.3 million , which
was primarily comprised of amounts due from EMCVYdiware’s stand-alone federal taxable loss forfibeal year ending December 31,
2010 .

The amounts that VMware either pays to or recefr@a EMC for its portion of federal income taxes BMC’s consolidated tax return
differ from the amounts VMware would owe on a stahahe basis and the difference is presented ampanent of stockholders’ equity. In
2011 and 2010, the difference between the amduakaalculated on a stand-alone basis and theiatas tax calculated per the tax sharing
agreement was recorded as an increase in stocktoddpiity of $7.8 million and $6.5 million , resgively. In 2009 , the difference between
the amount of tax calculated on a stand-alone laasighe amount of tax calculated per the tax sBjagreement was recorded as a decrease il
stockholders’ equity of $8.0 million .

As of December 31, 2011 , VMware had gross unreizedrtax benefits totaling $85.4 million , whichckxdes $9.3 million of offsetting
tax benefits. As of December 31, 2010 , VMware gas unrecognized tax benefits totaling $103.%anil, which excludes $5.4 million of
offsetting tax benefits. Approximately $80.6 miliof VMware’s net unrecognized tax benefits, natuding interest, if recognized, would
reduce income tax expense and lower VMware’s éffet¢ax rate in the period or periods recognizetk Met unrecognized tax benefits,
including interest, of $86.6 million as of DecemB&r 2011 would, if recognized, benefit VMware’feetive income tax rate. The $86.6
million of net unrecognized tax benefits were dféesd as a non-current liability on the consolidhtelance sheet. It is reasonably possible that
within the next 12 months audit resolutions couddeptially reduce total unrecognized tax benefitapproximately $7.8 million . Audit
outcomes and the timing of audit settlements alpgestito significant uncertainty.

VMware recognizes interest expense and penaltiaterktto income tax matters in the income tax miovi. VMware had accrued $4.1
million of interest as of January 1, 2011 and $6illion of interest as of December 31, 2011 asdediavith unrecognized tax benefits. These
amounts are included as components of the $86l®milet unrecognized tax benefits at Decembef81;1 and $104.4 million net
unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 201€onhe tax expense for the year ended December 31,i86luded interest of $1.9 million
associated with uncertain tax positions.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoofigross unrecognized tax benefits, excludingregeassociated with unrecognized
benefits, is as follows (table in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Balance, beginning of the year $ 109,29: $ 84,97( $ 48,40
Tax positions related to current year:

Additions 19,32¢ 28,17: 38,15:

Reductions (1,78¢) — —
Tax positions related to prior years:

Additions 6,37 6,85( —

Reductions (35,090 (20,37¢) (3,169

Settlements (2,965 — —
Foreign currency effects (455) (325) 1,57¢

Balance, end of the year $ 94,69: $ 109,29: % 84,97(

Due to the increased complexity in internationargpions, including judgments in determining thprapriate tax jurisdictions for reven
and expense items, the Company’s unrecognizedaiagfits will likely increase in 2012 . However, tBempany cannot reasonably estimate
the increase.

VMware is subject to U.S. federal income tax andotes state, local and international income taxesumerous jurisdictions. VMware's
domestic and international tax liabilities are saibjto the allocation of revenues and expenses#fereht jurisdictions and the timing of
recognizing revenues and expenses. Additionall/athount of income taxes paid is subject to VMveargerpretation of applicable tax laws
in the jurisdictions in which it files.

The U.S. federal income tax audit of the EMC coigsdéd group for 2009 and 2010 will commence in20¥Mware has income tax
audits in progress in numerous state, local aratriational jurisdictions in which it operates. he tVMware international jurisdictions, which
comprise a significant portion of its operatior® years that may be examined vary, with the eajiear being 2005Based on the outcome
examinations of VMware, the result of the expirata¥ statutes of limitations for specific jurisdans or the result of ruling requests from
taxing authorities, it is reasonably possible that
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related unrecognized tax benefits could change ttage recorded in the statement of financial positt is possible that one or more of these
audits may be finalized within the next twelve nfetHowever, based on the status of examinatiorstree protocol of finalizing audits, it is
not possible to estimate the impact of such charifjasy, to the previously recorded uncertain pasitions.

L. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation

From time to time, VMware is subject to legal, adisirative and regulatory proceedings, claims, detsand investigations in the
ordinary course of business, including claims wéspect to intellectual property, contracts, empiegt and other matters. VMware accrue
a liability when it is both probable that a liabilhas been incurred and the amount of the losdeaprasonably estimated. Significant judgn
is required in both the determination of probapitind the determination as to whether a loss sorebly estimable. These accruals are
reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to refleeimpacts of negotiations, settlements, rulirglsice of legal counsel and other information
and events pertaining to a particular matter. ABe€ember 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , the amountsett were not material. To the extent

there is a reasonable possibility that the loseefdcexceed the amounts already accrued, managdrakares that the amount of any such
additional loss would also be immaterial to VMwarebnsolidated financial position and results afragions.

Operating Lease Commitments

VMware leases office facilities and equipment ungiious operating leases. Facility leases geneiradlude renewal options. Rent
expense for the years ended December 31, 20110,&@1 2009 was $56.4 million , $46.4 million and $4million , respectively. VMware’s
future lease commitments at December 31, 2011 aefellows (table in thousands):

2012 $ 56,23¢
2013 49,87
2014 35,94
2015 25,50(
2016 22,20¢
Thereafter 544,96
Total minimum lease payments $ 734,72(

The amount of the future lease commitments afté626 primarily for the ground lease on VMware’ddPAlto, California headquarter
facilities, which expire in 2046 . As several of Mire’s operating leases are payable in foreigreoaies, the operating lease payments may
fluctuate in response to changes in the exchartgebeaween the U.S. Dollar and the foreign curremai which the commitments are payable

Outstanding Obligations

At December 31, 2011, VMware had various contr@atommitments aggregating $56.5 million , primarglating to VMware's
Washington data center facility.

Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

VMware enters into agreements in the ordinary e@ofdusiness with, among others, customers, bligois, resellers, system vendors
systems integrators. Most of these agreementsreeyfilware to indemnify the other party againstdhparty claims alleging that a VMware
product infringes or misappropriates a patent, dgpy, trademark, trade secret, and/or other ietéllal property right. Certain of these
agreements require VMware to indemnify the othetypagainst certain claims relating to property dae personal injury, or the acts or
omissions of VMware, its employees, agents, oresgmtatives.

VMware has agreements with certain vendors, fir@nestitutions, lessors and service providers ans to which VMware has agreed to
indemnify the other party for specified mattersstsas acts and omissions of VMware, its employagsnts, or representatives.

VMware has procurement or license agreements w#peact to technology that it has obtained the tighise in VMware’s products and
agreements. Under some of these agreements, VMhaaragreed to indemnify the supplier for certa@ines that may be brought against such
party with respect to VMware’s acts or omissiorlatieg to the supplied products or technologies.
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VMware has agreed to indemnify the directors aretasive officers of VMware, to the extent legallgrmissible, against all liabilities
reasonably incurred in connection with any actiowhich such individual may be involved by reaséswxh individual being or having beel
director or executive officer. VMware’s by-laws aclgarter also provide for indemnification of direct and officers of VMware and VMware
subsidiaries to the extent legally permissiblejraggaall liabilities reasonably incurred in conrientwith any action in which such individual
may be involved by reason of such individual beindpaving been a director or executive officer. V& also indemnifies certain employees
who provide service with respect to employee bésiplans, including the members of the AdministatCommittee of the VMware 401(k)
Plan, and employees who serve as directors oreoffiof VMware's subsidiaries.

In connection with certain acquisitions, VMware laggeed to indemnify the former directors and effécof the acquired company in
accordance with the acquired company’ddys and charter in effect immediately prior to #uguisition or in accordance with indemnificat
or similar agreements entered into by the acquicedpany and such persons. VMware typically purchastail” directors’ and officers’
insurance policy, which should enable VMware tookexr a portion of any future indemnification obligas related to the former officers and
directors of an acquired company.

It is not possible to determine the maximum pogdraimount under these indemnification agreemerggathe Company’s limited history
with prior indemnification claims and the uniquetiand circumstances involved in each particldegeement. Historically, payments made by
the Company under these agreements have not hateaiaheffect on the Company’s consolidated resafltoperations, financial position, or
cash flows.

M. Stockholders’ Equity

VMware Class B Common Stock Conversion Rights

Each share of Class B common stock is convertithligeviheld by EMC or its successor-in-interest at diption of EMC or its successor-in-
interest into one share of Class A common stockKMfvare’s Class B common stock is distributed towsgy holders of EMC in a transaction
(including any distribution in exchange for shané&MC'’s or its successor-in-interest’'s common ktocother securities) intended to qualify
as a distribution under Section 355 of the InteReenue Code, or any corresponding provision pfsaiccessor statute, shares of VMware’s
Class B common stock will no longer be convertibte shares of Class A common stock. Prior to amghglistribution, all shares of Class B
common stock will automatically be converted inbaies of Class A common stock upon the transfeucli shares of Class B common stock
by EMC other than to any of EME€'successors or any of its subsidiaries (excludidgvare). If such a distribution has not occurreagle shar
of Class B common stock will also automatically eert at such time as the number of shares of constamk owned by EMC or its successor-
in-interest falls below 20% of the outstanding sisaof VMware’s common stock. Following any suchritisition, VMware may submit to its
stockholders a proposal to convert all outstangimgres of Class B common stock into shares of @Glassnmon stock, provided that VMware
has received a favorable private letter ruling fit Internal Revenue Service satisfactory to Ell@e effect that the conversion will not
affect the intended tax treatment of the distrimtiin a meeting of VMware stockholders calledtfos purpose, the holders of VMware
Class A common stock and VMware Class B commorksiolt be entitled to one vote per share and, sttifie applicable law, will vote
together as a single class, and neither classmfran stock will be entitled to a separate class.vall conversions will be effected on a share-
for-share basis.

VMware Equity Plan

In June 2007, VMware adopted its 2007 Equity arehtive Plan (the “2007 Plan”). In May 2009, VMwamended its 2007 Plan to
increase the number of shares available for issubyp@0.0 million shares for total shares availdbtessuance of 100.0 millionAwards unde
the 2007 Plan may be in the form of stock optionstber stock-based awards, including awards dficésd stock units. The exercise price for
a stock option awarded under the 2007 Plan shabb@dess than 100% of the fair market value of ViMevClass A common stock on the date
of grant. Most options granted under the 2007 Ré&at 25% after the first year and then monthlyehéer over the following three years. All
options granted pursuant to the 2007 Plan expitwd®n six and seven years from the date of graastivestricted stock unit awards granted
under the 2007 Plan have a three -year to four {yedod over which they vest. VMware’s Compengsatind Corporate Governance
Committee determines the vesting schedule forcalitg awards. VMware utilizes both authorized amésaued shares to satisfy all shares
issued under the 2007 Plan.

VMware Stock Repurchase Program

In March 2010, VMware’s Board of Directors approwedtock repurchase program, authorizing the psecbaup to $400.0 million of its
Class A common stock through the end of 2011 .lRases under the March 2010 authorization were cetegbin March 2011. In February
2011, a committee of VMware’s Board of Directorshamized the repurchase of up to an additional $b&tllion of VMware’s Class A
common stock through the end of 2012 .
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From time to time, subject to market conditionscktwas purchased pursuant to these programs ipéye market or through private
transactions as permitted by securities laws ahdrdégal requirements. In the year ended DeceBibe2011 , VMware repurchased and
retired 6.0 million shares of its Class A commarcktat a weighted-average price of $88.37 per dioaran aggregate purchase price of $526.2
million , including commissions. In the year endaecember 31, 2010 , VMware repurchased and redir@dillion shares of its Class A
common stock at a weighted-average price of $6@e9&hare for an aggregate purchase price of $388i6n , including commissions. The
amounts of repurchased shares were classifiedextuation to additional paid-in capital. VMwarenigt obligated to purchase any shares under
its stock repurchase programs. The timing of apymehases and the actual number of shares repertihal depend on a variety of factors,
including VMware’s stock price, corporate and regaty requirements and other market and econonmidittions. Purchases can be
discontinued at any time that VMware feels add#iquurchases are not warranted. As of Decembe2(@®ll1, the authorized amount remaini
for repurchase was $85.3 million .

VMware Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In June 2007, VMware adopted its 2007 EmployeelSkagchase Plan (the “ESPP”), which is intendeblet@ualified under Section 423
of the Internal Revenue Code. A total of 6.4 millghares of VMware Class A common stock were reskefor future issuance. Under the
ESPP, eligible VMware employees are granted optioqmirchase shares at the lower of 85% of thenfiairket value of the stock at the time of
grant or 85% of the fair market value at the tilhexercise. Options to purchase shares are geypgralhted twice yearly on February 1 and
August 1 and exercisable on the succeeding Jugn8lJanuary 31lrespectively, of each year. The following tahlensnarizes ESPP activity
the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 28018 (n thousands, except per share amounts):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Cash proceeds $ 56,96¢ $ 45,16: $ 18,267
Class A common shares purchased 81¢€ 1,51C 907
Weighted-average price per share $ 69.81 $ 29.9C $ 20.1¢

As of December 31, 2011 , $31.5 million of ESPFhivitidings were recorded as a liability on the ctidated balance sheet for the next
purchase in January 2012 . As of December 31, 262@.8 million of ESPP withholdings were recora@eda liability on the consolidated
balance sheet for the purchase in January 2011 .

VMware and EMC Stock Options

Prior to the adoption of VMware’s 2007 Plan in J2087, eligible VMware employees patrticipated in EMlequity plans. In August
2007, VMware and EMC completed an exchange offabkmg eligible VMware employees to exchange toptions to acquire EMC commu
stock for options to acquire VMware Class A commstotk. VMware employees who did not elect to exdesatimeir EMC options for options
to purchase VMware Class A common stock continugaie their existing grants governed under EMG3slsplans. Additionally, if an
employee transferred from EMC to VMware had outditaqn EMC options at the date of transfer, the erygédoretained their EMC grant which
also continues to be governed under the EMC sttaok p
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The following table summarizes option activity ®ntanuary 1, 2009 for VMware and EMC stock opti@hsres in thousands):

VMware Stock Options EMC Stock Options
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Number of Exercise Price Number of Exercise Price
Shares (per share) Shares (per share)

Outstanding, January 1, 2009 42,43t $ 26.5¢ 573t % 14.3¢
Options relating to employees transferred from EMC — — 96 16.01
Granted 12,50( 29.8¢ — —
Forfeited (3,73¢6) 28.11 (2,65¢€) 14.9¢
Expired a779) 45.2¢ (739 15.4¢
Exercised (9,51¢) 22.01 (43¢) 10.71
Outstanding, December 31, 2009 41,50 28.3¢ 1,99¢ 14.0¢
Options relating to employees transferred from EMC — — 2,19¢ 15.5:
Granted 3,362 57.6( — —
Forfeited (2,220 30.7¢ (164) 11.4¢
Expired (157) 83.8¢ (299) 55.81
Exercised (15,579 24.7¢ (1,175 10.5:
Outstanding, December 31, 2010 26,92« 33.5¢ 2,664 13.9¢
Options relating to employees transferred from EMC — — 2,25¢ 13.5:
Granted 171 5.6¢ — —
Forfeited (1,011 40.9¢ (230) 14.4;
Expired (112) 101.6¢ (139 31.5¢
Exercised (9,799 28.6¢ (923) 13.5¢
Outstanding, December 31, 2011 16,17+ 35.27 3,62¢ 13.1¢
Exercisable, December 31, 2011 9,86 32.7¢ 2,00 12.3¢
Vested and expected to vest, December 31, 2011 15,80¢ 35.0¢ 3,54( 13.1¢

As of December 31, 2011 , for the VMware stock apsi the weighted-average remaining contractual teas 2.5/ears and the aggreg:
intrinsic value was $508.5 million for the 9.9 righ exercisable shares. For the 15.8 million ofstieested and expected to vest at
December 31, 2011 , the weighted-average remagungactual term was 3.0 years and the aggregaiasic value was $772.3 million .
These aggregate intrinsic values represent thepgmaax intrinsic values based on VMware’s clgsétock price of $83.19 as of December 31,
2011 , which would have been received by the ogtimiders had all in-the-money options been exedciseof that date.

As of December 31, 2011 , for the EMC stock optjdhe weighted-average remaining contractual tees W5 years and the aggregate
intrinsic value was $18.4 million for the 2.0 nilti exercisable shares. For the 3.5 million shaested and expected to vest at December 31,
2011 , the weighted-average remaining contractrat ivas 6.0 years and the aggregate intrinsiewahs $29.8 million . These aggregate
intrinsic values represent the total pre-tax irgiénvalues based on EMC's closing stock price df.$2 as of December 31, 20,1Which woulc
have been received by the option holders had @HéAmoney options been exercised as of that date.

Cash proceeds from the exercise of VMware stociongftfor the years ended December 31, 2011 , 26d@2@09 were $280.6 million ,
$386.1 million and $209.4 million , respectivelyheloptions exercised in 2011 , 2010 and 2009 had-#ax intrinsic value of $647.8 million ,
$678.8 million and $132.6 million , respectively.

Cash proceeds from the exercise of EMC stock optimid to EMC were $12.2 million , $12.4 millionda$4.7 millionfor the years ende
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 , respectivélg.pFe-tax intrinsic value of these options held/ware employees that were exercised
during the years ended December 31, 2011 , 201@@08 were $12.0 million , $10.8 million and $2.8lion , respectively.
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VMware Restricted Stock

VMware restricted stock primarily consists of reted stock units granted to employees and aldades restricted stock awards and o
restricted stock. Other restricted stock primainigludes shares issued in 2009 to certain emplogeBpringSource who agreed to accept
shares of VMware Class A common stock subject stiwe restrictions in lieu of a portion of theirstamerger proceeds.

The following table summarizes VMware’s restricidck activity since January 1, 2009 (shares inshads):

Weighted-
Average Grant

Date Fair

Number of Value

Shares (per share)
Outstanding, January 1, 2009 7,62¢ $ 32.3¢
Granted 5,20(C 33.6¢
Vested (2,88)) 31.31
Forfeited (739 34.81
Outstanding, December 31, 2009 9,211 33.21
Granted 4,93: 74.81
Vested (3,68¢) 32.3¢
Forfeited (704) 39.0¢
Outstanding, December 31, 2010 9,752 54.17
Granted 4,54¢ 91.51
Vested (3,859 48.47
Forfeited (907) 64.7(
Outstanding, December 31, 2011 9,54( 72.7¢

The total fair value of VMware restricted stock-bdswards that vested in the years ended Decentb2031 , 2010 and 2009 w&356.1
million , $258.0 million and $88.8 million , respeely. As of December 31, 2011 , restricted stank awards and other restricted stock
representing 9.5 million shares of VMware were tantding, with an aggregate intrinsic value of $898illion based on VMware's closing
share price as of December 31, 2011 . These shsesheduled to vest through 2015 .

The VMware restricted stock unit awards are valbasked on the VMware stock price on the date oftg&rares underlying restricted
stock unit awards are not issued until the regtiictock units vest. The majority of VMware’s regrd stock unit awards have pro rata vesting
over three or four years.

VMware Shares Repurchased for Tax Withholdings

During the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2012@08 , VMware repurchased or withheld and retiremillion shares, 1.3 million
shares and 1.0 million shares of Class A commorkstr $121.9 million , $87.1 million and $31.5 toh , respectively, to cover tax
withholding obligations. These amounts differ fréime amounts of cash remitted for tax withholdingigdtions on the consolidated statement
of cash flows, due to timing of payments. Pursdarihe respective award agreements, these shareseyirchased or withheld in conjunct
with the net share settlement upon the vestingsificted stock and restricted stock units durivggeriod. The value of repurchased or
withheld shares, including restricted stock unitas classified as a reduction to additional paidapital as of December 31, 2011 , 2010 and
2009 .
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes the components & tstock-based compensation expense included iw&id's consolidated statements
of income for the years ended December 31, 20010 and 2009 (table in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Cost of license revenues $ 1,60¢ $ 1,65¢ $ 1,29:
Cost of services revenues 23,38¢ 18,47¢ 14,87
Research and development 174,26: 164,43! 121,77(
Sales and marketing 95,68¢ 73,14¢ 58,61(
General and administrative 40,20¢ 33,97¢ 34,90¢
Stock-based compensation expense 335,15! 291,69: 231,45t
Income tax benefit 98,18( 94,11( 43,17(
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 236,970 $ 197,58. $ 188,28t

For the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 &&i,20Mware capitalized $12.4 million , $10.9 nulti and $14.9 million ,
respectively, of stock-based compensation expesssceted with capitalized software development.

As of December 31, 2011, the total unrecognizedpensation cost for stock options and restrictedkstvas $622.9 million . This non-
cash expense will be recognized through 2015 witkeighted-average remaining period of 1.6 yeamscliSbased compensation expense
includes expense from both VMware and EMC equitgr@s held by VMware employees.

Fair Value of VMware Options

The fair value of each option to acquire VMwaresSl& common stock granted during the years endeedreer 31, 2011 , 2010 and
2009 was estimated on the date of grant using thekBScholes option-pricing model with the follogiweighted-average assumptions:

For the Year Ended December 31,

VMware Stock Options 2011 2010 2009
Dividend yield None None None
Expected volatility 37. % 38.(% 36.1%
Risk-free interest rate 1.C% 1.5% 1.9%
Expected term (in years) 3.C 3.5 3.7
Weighted-average fair value at grant date $ 88.4C $ 18.08 % 12.1¢

For the Year Ended December 31,

VMware Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2011 2010 2009
Dividend yield None None None
Expected volatility 34.9% 33.1% 50.%
Risk-free interest rate 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%
Expected term (in years) 0.5 0.5 0.5
Weighted-average fair value at grant date $ 236¢ $ 15.1¢ % 7.7¢

The weightedaverage grant date fair value of VMware stock apim 2011 was higher than in prior periods pritgatue to higher value
options assumed through business combinationsextcise prices lower than the fair market valu¥Mfvare's stock on the date of grant.

For all equity awards granted in 2011 , 2010 ar@B20volatility was based on an analysis of his@rstock prices and implied volatilities
of publicly-traded companies with similar charaistées, including industry, stage of life cyclezaj financial leverage, as well as the implied
volatilities of VMware’s Class A common stock. The expected term was leédctlibased upon an analysis of the expected tesimdar grant:
of comparable publicly-traded companies, the tefithe
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purchase period for grants made under the ESRReaveighted-average remaining term for optionsimgsl in acquisitions. VMware’s
expected dividend yield input was zero as it hashigiorically paid, nor expects in the future sypcash dividends on its common stock. The
risk-free interest rate was based on a U.S. Trgamsstrument whose term is consistent with the etgubterm of the stock options.

N. Comprehensive Income

The following table sets forth the components ahpeehensive income for the years ended Decembe&(d1, , 2010 and 2009 ,
respectively (table in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Net income $ 723,93t $ 357,43¢ $ 197,09¢
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities,of taxes of $944, $9,239 and
$2,797 1,54( 15,34: 4,56:
Unrealized losses on effective foreign currencyviind exchange contracts, net of
tax benefits of $(17), $0, and $0 (62) — —
Reclassification of gains on available-for-salewsities recognized during the
period, net of taxes of $(12,220), $(102) and $0 (29,939 (269) —

Total other comprehensive income (loss) (18,459 15,07: 4,56:

Total comprehensive income, net of taxes $ 70547 $ 372,51 $ 201,66:

In the year ended December 31, 2011 , VMware redl&pre-tax gain of $56.0 million from the salet®investment in Terremark
Worldwide, Inc., which was acquired by Verizon igash transaction. The gain was recorded to otleenie (expense), net on the consolid
statements of income.

In each period presented on VMware’s consolidatddrte sheets, accumulated other comprehensivenenconsisted of unrealized gains
and losses on available-for-sale securities, n&bads. Additionally, beginning with the implemetita of VMware's cash flow hedging
program in the fourth quarter of 2011, accumulatéer comprehensive income also consisted of umeghfains and losses on effective
foreign currency forward exchange contracts, néaxés.

O. Related Party Transactions

In April 2011, VMware acquired certain assets ietato EMC’s Mozy cloud-based data storage and sataices, including certain data
center assets and a license to certain intellepnagerty, for approximately $8.0 million . VMwaadso entered into an operational support
agreement with EMC pursuant to which VMware tookmoresponsibility to operate the Mozy service ohafeof EMC. VMware hired more
than 300 Mozy employees and, pursuant to the stipgoeement, costs incurred by VMware to supporCEwWozy services, plus a mark-up
intended to approximate third-party costs, are beirsed to VMware by EMC. On the consolidated statesof income, such amounts were
approximately $39.0 million in 2011, including arkap of $2.8 million , and were recorded as a rédando the costs VMware incurred. EMC
retained ownership of the Mozy business and itsairimg assets. EMC continues to be responsiblednyMustomers for Mozy products and
services, and continues to recognize revenue frarh products and services. As such, the assetsreddrom EMC did not constitute a
business and were accounted for as an asset parsbtygeen entities under common control pursuagéeterally accepted accounting
principles. Accordingly, VMware included the camrgivalue of the transferred assets as of the ddtarsfer in its consolidated financial
statements.

In April 2010, VMware acquired certain software guat technology and expertise from EMC’s lonix I'Tamagement business for cash
consideration of $175.0 million . EMC retained thaix brand and will continue to offer customers firoducts acquired by VMware, pursuant
to the ongoing reseller agreement between EMC avididte. During the years ended December 31, 20126aa6 , $14.4 million and $10.6
million , respectively, of contingent amounts wpedd to EMC. These amounts were recorded as etjaitgactions and were offsets to the
initial capital contribution from EMC. As of Decemb31, 2011, all contingent payments under theeageat had been made.

Pursuant to the ongoing reseller arrangement wMIC Ehat commenced in 2009, EMC bundles VMware'dpicis and services with
EMC'’s hardware and sells them to end users. liy#faes ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 ,ar&recognized revenues of $72.0
million , $48.5 million and $14.1 million , respeatly, from products and services sold pursuantiware’s reseller arrangement with EMC.
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, $105.6 milliod $29.0 million , respectively, of revenues froroqucts and services sold under the
reseller arrangement were included in unearnechtease
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In the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 ar@  200ware recognized professional services revemfi€66.2 million $60.6 millior
and $25.2 million , respectively, for services pded to EMC's customers pursuant to VMware’s carttral agreements with EMC. As of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, $5.1 million and $&lon , respectively, of revenues from professibservices to EMC customers were
included in unearned revenues.

In the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 ar@l ,2@®lware recognized revenues of $3.2 million ,1$@illion and $5.6 million ,
respectively, from server and desktop productssemdices purchased by EMC for internal use pursteaxMware’s contractual agreements
with EMC. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 , $28ifon and $19.3 million , respectively, of revexaifrom server and desktop products
and services purchased by EMC for internal use wetaded in unearned revenues.

VMware purchased storage systems and softwareghssvconsulting services, from EMC for $24.3 maiil, $18.4 million and $9.7
million in the years ended December 31, 2011 , 28402009 , respectively.

In certain geographic regions where VMware doeshaot an established legal entity, VMware contraatis EMC subsidiaries for
support services and EMC employees who are martag®¥diware’s personnel. The costs incurred by EMCv/dmware’s behalf related to
these employees are passed on to VMware and VMwalerged a mark-up intended to approximate ¢hatsvould have been charged had
VMware contracted for such services with an unegldhird party. These costs are included as exganséMware’s consolidated statements
of income and primarily include salaries, benefitayel and rent. Additionally, from time to timeMC incurs certain administrative costs on
VMware's behalf in the U.S. The total cost of tleevices provided to VMware by EMC as described abeas $82.6 million , $66.4 million
and $95.6 million in the years ended December 8112 2010 and 2009 , respectively.

Pursuant to the tax sharing agreement, VMware leferpayments to EMC and EMC has made payments war&! The following table
summarizes these payments made between VMware@ddaring the years ended December 31, 2011, 26d®809 (table in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Payments from VMware to EMC $ 12,14¢ 3 510C $ 14,20t
Payments from EMC to VMware 314,45( 2,471 107,57¢

Payments between VMware and EMC under the taxrsfagreement primarily relate to VMware's portidrienleral income taxes on
EMC's consolidated tax return. Payments from VMwarEMC primarily relate to periods for which VMweahad stand-alone federal taxable
income, while payments from EMC to VMware relateogsiods for which VMware had a stand-alone federedble loss. The amounts that
VMware either pays to or receives from EMC forgtetion of federal income taxes on EMC’s consokdiatax return differ from the amounts
VMware would owe on a stand-alone basis and ttereéifice is presented as a component of stockhoktgugty. In 2011 and 2010 , the
difference between the amount of tax calculated stand-alone basis and the amount of tax calcufsethe tax sharing agreement was
recorded as an increase in stockholders’ equiy7d8 million and $6.5 million , respectively. InG®, the difference between the amount of
calculated on a stand-alone basis and the amouax @flculated per the tax sharing agreement a@xded as a decrease in stockholders’
equity of $8.0 million .

In the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 ar@l 268.9 million , $4.1 million and $6.5 milliorrespectively, of interest expense was
recorded related to the note payable to EMC anddted in interest expense with EMC, on VMware'ssmidated statements of income.
VMware’s interest income and expenses as a sepatatel-alone company may be higher or lower tharamounts reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. In June 2011wk and EMC amended the note to extend its matdaite from April 16, 2012 to
April 16, 2015 .

As of December 31, 2011 , VMware had $101.4 millile from EMC, which was partially offset by $27n@lion due to EMC. As of
December 31, 2010, VMware had $76.5 million dwerflEMC, which was partially offset by $21.0 millide to EMC. The net amounts due
from EMC as of December 31, 2011 and December @10 2vere $73.8 million and $55.5 million , respeely, and resulted from the related
party transactions described above. AdditionakypDecember 31, 2011 , VMware had $3.3 milliomefincome taxes payable due to EMC,
which was included in accrued expenses and oth#érenonsolidated balance sheet. As of Decembe2@®1), VMware had $144.3 million of
income taxes receivable due from EMC, which wasubhed in other current assets on VMwarebnsolidated balance sheet. Balances due
from EMC which are unrelated to tax obligations geeerally settled in cash within 60 days of eagairtgr-end. The timing of the tax
payments due to and from EMC is governed by theslaxing agreement with EMC.

Transactions with Other Related Parties
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Cisco Systems holds 6.5 million shares of VMwarasSIA common stock representing greater than 5%/fare’s outstanding Class A
common stock. VMware has in the past done busimegsexpects to continue to do business, with Gisca regular arm’s-length basis, on the
same or similar terms as would be negotiated witielated third parties. Transactions with Ciscthimyears ended December 31, 2011 , 2010
and 2009 had no material impact on VMware’s codlstdid financial statements.

P. Segment Information

VMware operates in one operating segment. Operagggents are defined as components of an enteglyaut which separate financial
information is evaluated regularly by the chief igtisng decision maker in deciding how to allocasaurces and assessing performance.
VMware's chief operating decision maker allocagsources and assesses performance based upotedisenecial information at the
consolidated level. Since VMware operates in oreraing segment, all required financial segmerdrmftion can be found in the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenues by geographic area for the years endeehfiter 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009 were as followsg(ialthousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
United States $ 1,824,24¢ $ 1,452,731 $ 1,039,03:
International 1,942,84 1,404,60! 984,90«
Total $ 3,767,090 $ 2,857,34. $ 2,023,93

No country other than the United States had mdten@nues for the years ended December 31, 2201Q or 2009 .

In the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 or 2006e , three and two customers, respectiveounted for more than 10% of
revenues.

Long-lived assets by geographic area, which prigparclude property and equipment, net, at Decendie2011 , 2010 or 2009 were as
follows (table in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
United States $ 429,67¢ $ 306,18: $ 297,23.
International 46,47 43,36: 42,75¢
Total $ 476,15' $ 349,54 $ 339,99(

No country other than the United States accourdedd% or more of these assets at December 31,,22010 or 2009 , respectively.
VMware groups its products into portfolios that astegorized into the following classes:

Cloud Infrastructure & Management products. Cloud Infrastructure & Management products incltitee Company’s infrastructure
virtualization and management products. The Comganfrastructure virtualization products includéypervisor for decoupling the entire
software environment from its underlying hardwarksastructure and products that enable the aggoegat multiple servers, storage
infrastructure, and networks into shared poolssburces that can be delivered dynamically, secara reliably to applications as needed.
The Companys virtualization management products help streamiinprocesses and reduce operating costs by atitgnaitical workflows ir
the data center, while infrastructure managemesdymts help companies automate business contiptotesses, manage capacity more
efficiently and provide financial cost informatiéor internal chargeback. The Cloud Infrastructund Management products include
infrastructure features such as vSphere vMotion@todage vMotion, vSphere High Availability, vSpae&torage DRS, vSphere vNetwork
Distributed Switch and VMware Cloud Infrastructi@eite (CIS), which includes products such as VMweBenter Server, VMware vCloud
Director, VMware vCenter Site Recovery Manager, VM&vCenter Operations, and VMware vShield.

Other Products. The other product category includes Cloud ApplmatPlatform and End-User Computing products, inclgalesktop
virtualization products. The Company’s Cloud Apption Platform solutions help organizations build) and manage enterprise applications
in public, private or hybrid clouds optimized fdphere and include products such as the VMwarend-gmily of products. The Company’s
End-User Computing solutions enable a user-ceapiroach to personal computing that ensures sacaess to applications and data from a
variety of devices and locations, while also adsiresthe needs of corporate IT departments, arlddadhe products VMware View, VMware
ThinApp, VMware Zimbra, VMware Workstation and VMveaFusion.

Revenues by class of products or services for élaesyended December 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009 wéodaws (table in

91




Table of Contents

VMware, Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)

thousands):

Cloud Infrastructure and Management
Other products
License revenues
Services revenues
Total

Q. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

For the Year Ended December 31,

Quarterly financial data for 2011 and 2010 weréo#isws (tables in millions, except per share amtsyn

2011

Revenues

Net income

Net income per share, basic
Net income per share, diluted

2010

Revenues

Net income

Net income per share, basic
Net income per share, diluted

2011 2010 2009

$ 166559 $ 126323 $ 945,01¢
175,57( 138,19: 84,42
1,841,16! 1,401,42. 1,029,44:
1,925,92 1,455,91! 994,49!
$ 3767090 $ 285734 $  2,02393

Q12011 Q2 2011 Q32011 Q4 2011
$ 8437 $ 921.: $ 241.¢ $ 1,060
$ 1256 $ 2202 $ 1775 $ 200.2
$ 03¢ $ 05: $ 04z $ 0.47
$ 0.2¢ $ 051 $ 041 $ 0.4¢

Q12010 Q2 2010 Q32010 Q4 2010
$ 6335 $ 6738 $ 714.: $ 835.7
$ 784 $ 745 $ 84.6 $ 119.¢
$ 01¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 021 $ 0.2¢
$ 0.1¢ $ 0.1 $ 02 $ 0.2¢
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

We carried out an evaluation required by the Exglkahct, under the supervision and with the parétign of our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, of the efftiveness of the design and operation of ourasce controls and procedures, as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of the drnileoperiod covered by this report. Based oneliduation, our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer concluded that alisclosure controls and procedures were effectiyerovide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by us in tgorts that we file or submit under the Exchangeid\cecorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in tlee&ities and Exchange Commission’s rules and f@mnasto provide reasonable assurance
that such information is accumulated and commuadtéd our management, including our principal ekigewfficer and principal financial
officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisioegarding required disclosures.

Managemen’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrtg

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaiimg adequate internal control over financiglaing, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
of the Exchange Act. Management has assessedftutiwfness of our internal control over finaneiporting as of December 31, 2011 based
on criteria established in Internal Control—IntedgchFramework issued by the Committee of Sponsdirganizations of the Treadway
Commission. As a result of this assessment, managieconcluded that, as of December 31, 2011 ,rderrial control over financial reporting
was effective in providing reasonable assurancard#gg the reliability of financial reporting anldet preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principles. The effectiveness afioternal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2011 has been audited by PriegveaiseCoopers, LLP, an independent registerelitpadrounting firm, as stated in their
report which appears in Iltem 8 of this Annual Répor Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Report

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during the most recent fiscaher ended December 31, 2011 that
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenglly affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Limitations on Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures and intexorarol over financial reporting are designed tovide reasonable assurance of
achieving their objectives as specified above. Manzent does not expect, however, that our disatosotrols and procedures or our internal
control over financial reporting will prevent ortdet all errors and fraud. Any control system, retter how well designed and operated, is
based upon certain assumptions and can providereagpnable, not absolute, assurance that itstolgsavill be met. Further, no evaluation
controls can provide absolute assurance that nesséeats due to error or fraud will not occur ortthldcontrol issues and instances of fraud, if
any, within the Company have been detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

We will furnish to the Securities and Exchange Cassion a definitive Proxy Statement no later thaf dlays after the close of the fis
year ended December 31, 2011. The information reduy this item is incorporated herein by refeeestucthe Proxy Statement. Also ¢
“Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part |this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We have a code of ethics that applies to all ofesnployees, including our executive officers. OusBess Conduct Guidelines
(available on our website) satisfy the requiremsetdorth in Item 406 of Regulation S-K and apjolyall relevant persons set forth therein. We
intend to disclose on our website at www.vmware.@mendments to, and, if applicable, waivers of,ange of ethics.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorp@eherein by reference to the section of the coipd®roxy Statement entitled
“Compensation of Executive Officers.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT, AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorp@eherein by reference to the section of the coipd®roxy Statement entitled
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownersldanagement.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorp@eherein by reference to the section of the coipd?roxy Statement entitled “Our
Board of Directors and Nominees” and “Transactinith Related Persons.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorp@e@herein by reference to the section of the coripdfroxy Statement entitled
“Ratification of Selection of Independent Auditdrs.
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
(a) Documents filed as a part of this rep

1. Financial statemer

The financial statements listed in the Index to €&idated Financial Statements are filed as pattisfreport (refer to Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data).

2. Financial statement sched

Schedule Il—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted becausestingred information is included in the consolidafiedncial statements or the notes
thereto, or is not applicable or required.

3. Index to exhibits

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed Form/File
Number Exhibit Description Herewith No. Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation S-1/A-2 719/2007
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws 8-K 3/8/2011
4.1 Form of specimen common stock certificate S-1/A-4 7127/2007
10.1 Form of Master Transaction Agreement between VMwiare and EMC

Corporation S-1/A-2 7/9/2007
10.2 Form of Administrative Services Agreement betwedm¥are, Inc. and EMC

Corporation S-1/A-2 7/9/2007
10.3 Form of Tax Sharing Agreement between VMware, &mxd EMC Corporation S-1/A-2 7/9/2007
10.4 Form of Intellectual Property Agreement between Vafley Inc. and EMC

Corporation S-1/A-1 6/11/2007
10.5 Form of Employee Benefits Agreement between VMwhre, and EMC

Corporation S-1/A-2 7/9/2007
10.6 Form of Real Estate License Agreement between Vidwac. and EMC

Corporation S-1/A-2 7/9/2007
10.7+ Letter Agreement between VMware, Inc. and Mark Radstied March 16, 2007 S-1/A-1 6/11/2007
10.8+ Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors andkcutive officers S-1/A-1 6/11/2007
10.9+ 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan, as amended andtezsMarch 15, 2011 10-Q 11/2/2011
10.10 Amended and Restated Promissory Note between VMwareand EMC

Corporation dated June 11, 2011 10-Q 8/3/2011
10.11 Form of Insurance Matters Agreement between VMwaie,and EMC

Corporation S-1/A-2 7/9/2007
10.12+ Form of Option Agreement, as amended October 18) 20 10-K 2/28/2011

10.13+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Aareement. as amer@etber 15. 201 1C-K 2/28/2011



10.14 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amendecstaded February 24, 2010 10-Q 5/5/2010

10.15 Form of Early Exercise Option Agreement S-1/A-2 7/27/2007
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed Form/File

Number Exhibit Description Herewith No. Date
Letter Agreement between VMware, Inc. and Paul Matated September 11,

10.16+ 2008 8-K 9/12/2008

10.17+ Letter Agreement between VMware, Inc. and Tod Nieldated January 5, 2009 10-K 2/26/2009

Letter Agreement between VMware, Inc. and Richachniff dated March 19,
10.18+ 2009 10-Q 5/7/2009

Letter Agreement between VMware, Inc. and Dawn Bra#tted September 16,
10.19+ 2009 10-K 3/1/2010

First Amendment to Tax Sharing Agreement betweenaké, Inc. and EMC
10.20 Corporation effective as of January 1, 2011 10-Q 5/4/2011

10.21+ Executive Bonus Program, adopted February 14, 2011 10-Q 5/4/2011

Agreement of Purchase and Sale Agreement betweemeRalo Alto LLC and
10.22 VMware, Inc. dated March 16, 2011 10-Q 8/3/2011

Amended and Restated Ground Lease between VMwareahd the Board of
Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior Universdyed June 13, 2011 (3431
10.23 Hillview Campus) 10-Q 8/3/2011

Ground Lease between 3401 Hillview LLC. And the Bbaf Trustees of the
Leland Stanford Junior University dated as of Faby2, 2006, as amended
10.24 October 1, 2007 and June 13, 2011 10-Q 8/3/2011

Amendment to Letter Agreement between VMware, &mad Richard McAniff

10.25+ dated July 19, 2011 10-Q 11/2/2011
211 List of subsidiaries X
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP X

Certification of Principal Executive Officer reqgait by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule
15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adopted pursuant to Section
31.1 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X

Certification of Principal Financial Officer reqent by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule
15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adopted pursuant to Section
31.2 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
32.1 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002. X

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

32.2 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002. X
101.INS XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema X

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase X



101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrapgt
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

VMWARE, INC.
Dated:February 24, 2012 By: /s/ PauL A.M ARITZ
Paul A. Maritz
Chief Executive Officer
Dated:February 24, 2012 By: /s/ ROBYNNE D. Sisco

Robynne D. Sisco
Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer and Controller)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and orddtes indicated.

Date Signature Title
February 24, 2012 /sl _PAuL A. M ARITZ Chief Executive Officer and Director
Paul A. Maritz (Principal Executive Officer)
February 24, 2012 /sI MARK S. PEEK Chief Financial Officer and
: Co-President, Business Operations
Mark S. Peek (Principal Financial Officer)
February 24, 2012 /sl JosSePH M. T uccl Chairman

Joseph M. Tucci

February 24, 2012 /s/ MicHAEL W. B ROWN Director

Michael W. Brown

February 24, 2012 Director
John R. Egan

February 24, 2012 /sl DAVID |. G OULDEN Director
David I. Goulden

February 24, 2012 /s RENEE J. JAMES Director

Renee J. James

February 24, 2012 /s/  DENNIS D. POWELL Director

Dennis D. Powell

February 24, 2012 /s/ DAvVID N.STROHM Director
David N. Strohm
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Allowance for Bad Debts

VMWARE, INC.

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in thousands)

Allowance for Bad
Debts Charged to

Year ended December 31, 2011 allowa

for doubtful accounts

Year ended December 31, 2010 allowance

for doubtful accounts

Year ended December 31, 2009 allowa

for doubtful accounts

Tax Valuation Allowance
Year ended December 31, 2011
income tax valuation allowance

Year ended December 31, 2010
income tax valuation allowance

Year ended December 31, 2009
income tax valuation allowance

Balance at Selling, General, Balance at
Beginning and Administrative Charged to Bad Debts End of
of Period Expenses Other Accounts Write-Offs Period
$ 451¢ $ (643 $ —  $ (82 $ 3,79¢
2,52¢ 2,57¢ — (580) 4,51¢
1,69(C 1,10% — (272) 2,52¢
Tax
Valuation
Tax Valuation Allowance
Balance at Allowance Credited to Balance
Beginning Charged to Income Charged to Income Tax at End of
of Period Tax Provision Other Accounts 'V Provision Period
$ 35,87: $ 22,75. $ — % (2,052 $ 56,57
28,85 20,87¢ (13,759 (98) 35,87:
15,39¢ 10,64 4,35( (1,53¢) 28,85:

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2010, VMwedeced the valuation allowance in connection witiestax credits assigned to other
corporations within the combined reporting groupware did not credit the income tax provision bessathe credits assigned were

subject to a full valuation allowance. For the yeaded December 31, 2009, VMware increased thatiatuallowance in connection with

acquired deferred tax assets and non-U.S. nettiqgptasses, which resulted in a correspondingaase to goodwill related to the

acquisition.
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SUBSIDIARIES OF VMWARE, INC.

SUBSIDIARIES

Exhibit 21.1

STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF
INCORPORATION OR ORGANIZATION

3401 Hillview LLC

SlideRocket, Inc.

SpringSource Ltd

VMware Australia Pty Ltd

VMware Bermuda Limited

VMware Bulgaria EOOD

VMware Canada Inc.

VMware Denmark ApS

VMware Eastern Europe

VMware France SAS

VMware Global, Inc.

VMware Hong Kong Limited

VMware Information Technology (China) Co. Ltd
VMware International Limited

VMware International Marketing Limited
VMware Israel Ltd.

VMware ltaly S.r.l.

VMware Marketing Austria GmbH
VMware Netherlands B.V.

VMware Singapore Pte Ltd.

VMware Software India Private Limited
VMware Spain S.L.

VMware Sweden AB

VMware Switzerland S.a.r.l.

VMware UK Limited

VMware, K.K.

Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Australia
Ireland
Bulgaria
Canada
Denmark
Armenia
France
Delaware
Hong Kong
China
Ireland
Ireland
Israel
Italy
Austria
Netherlands
Singapore
India
Spain
Sweden
Switzerland
United Kingdom
Japan



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referém¢le Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B85402, 333-152582, 333-
159747, 333-162079 and 333-169537) of VMware, dfi@ur report dated February 24, 2012 relatindhtoftnancial statements, financial
statement schedule and the effectiveness of ifteamdrol over financial reporting, which appearghis Form 16K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
February 24, 2012



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Paul A. Maritz, certify that:
I have reviewed this annual report on FornK1®FVMware, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomany untrue statement of a material fact ortdmstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts.under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operetand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danare responsible for establishing and maintgjmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules13a-15(e) and 15¢k)) and internal control over financial repogti@as defined in Exchange Act Ru
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andénav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procsdarecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhbsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting principles

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period covgrehis report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegnt’s internal control over financial reportithgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant’s internal control over finaiceporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahhave disclosed, based on our most recent et@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitae@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectribgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaad report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date:February 24, 2012 By: /s/ PAULA. MARITZ
Paul A. Maritz
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark S. Peek, certify that:
I have reviewed this annual report on FornK1®FVMware, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomany untrue statement of a material fact ortdmstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts.under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operetand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danare responsible for establishing and maintgjmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules13a-15(e) and 15¢k)) and internal control over financial repogti@as defined in Exchange Act Ru
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andénav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procsdarecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhbsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting principles

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period covgrehis report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegnt’s internal control over financial reportithgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant’s internal control over finaiceporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahhave disclosed, based on our most recent et@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitae@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectribgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaad report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date:February 24, 2012 By: [/s/ MARKS. PEEK

Mark S. Peek

Chief Financial Officer and Co-President, Busin@g®rations
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Paul A. Maritz, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.Cc8en 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 90BeoSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Annual Report of VMware, Inc. on Form 10-K fhe fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 fully ciespkith the requirements of

Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and the information contained in suchnf@&0-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results arafions of VMware, Inc.

Date:February 24, 2012 By: /s/ PAULA. MARITZ
Paul A. Maritz
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark S. Peek, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. B&c1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 ob#rbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Annual Report of VMware, Inc. on Form 10-K fhe fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 fully caespkith the requirements of

Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and the information contained in suclhnf@0-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results arafions of VMware, Inc.

Date:February 24, 2012 By: [/s/ MARKS. PEEK

Mark S. Peek

Chief Financial Officer and Co-President, Busin@perations
(Principal Financial Officer)




